# **CORVINUS UNIVERSITY OF BUDAPEST**

# **TOWARDS SUSTAINABLE FOOD CONSUMPTION?**

# The Ecological Footprint of Food Consumption in Hungary

PH.D. THESIS

Zsófia Vetőné Mózner

Budapest, 2013

# ZSÓFIA VETŐNÉ MÓZNER

# TOWARDS SUSTAINABLE FOOD CONSUMPTION?

The Ecological Footprint of Food Consumption in Hungary

# DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL ECONOMICS AND TECHNOLOGY

**SUPERVISOR:** 

# DR. MÁRIA CSUTORA

Associate professor

© Vetőné Mózner Zsófia

# **CORVINUS UNIVERSITY OF BUDAPEST**

# **Doctoral School of Management and Business Administration**

# TOWARDS SUSTAINABLE FOOD CONSUMPTION?

The Ecological Footprint of Food Consumption in Hungary

Ph.D. thesis

Zsófia Vetőné Mózner

Budapest, 2013

## **Table of Contents**

List of Tables	7
List of Figures	8
Introduction	10
I. Development, definition and types of sustainable consumption	17
1.1. Development of the scientific literature on sustainable consumption	17
1.2. Defining sustainable consumption	21
1.3. A critical assessment of the definition of sustainable consumption	25
1.4. Interpretations of consumption in the definition of sustainable consumption	26
1.5. Strong and weak sustainability	27
1.6. The responsibility of households regarding consumption	29
II. The environmental impacts of food consumption and its sustainability	31
2.1. The environmental impacts of food consumption	31
2.2. Definitions of sustainable food consumption	34
2.3. The synthesized interpretation of sustainable food consumption	37
2.4. Overconsumption and misconsumption	40
2.5. Socio-economic factors which influence the consumption of food	42
III. Methodologies for examining the environmental impacts of food consumption	and
the ecological footprint	45
3.1. Methodologies for examining the environmental impacts of food consumpt	ion 46
3.2. A critical appraisal of the methodologies available for measuring the	
environmental impact of food consumption	52
3.3. Defining the ecological footprint and its antecedents	53
3.4. The methodology behind ecological footprint calculations	55
3.5. Critical issues about the ecological footprint of food consumption	63
3.6. General methodological questions	64
3.7. The significance of using the ecological footprint indicator	65
1. Literature review - the environmental impacts of food consumption	68
4.1. Literature review - the land use demands, $CO_2$ emissions and ecological for	otprint
4.2. The environmental and health equate of food consumption	08
4.2. The environmental and health aspects of food consumption	12
4.5. Summary of the interature review	// Q/
4.4. Food consumption in Europe and in Hungary	04
5.1 Empirical research aims	92 02
5.2. Pasaarch hypotheses	92 0/
VI Research results	
6.1 Survey and database used in the research	96
6.2 Quantifying the ecological footprint of food consumption of Hungarian	
consumers using a bottom-up approach	98
6.2.1. Results from analysis of secondary databases: quantifying the ecologic	al
footprint intensities	
6.2.2. The average ecological footprint of food consumption of Hungarian	
consumers	102
6.2.3. Limitations of the research into quantifying the ecological footprint of	food
consumption	105
6.3. The impact of level of education on the ecological footprint of food consum	nption
· · · ·	106

6.4. The ecological footprint of food consumption according to gender, age and	
nature of occupation	108
6.4.1. The ecological footprint of food consumption according to gender	108
6.4.2. The impact of age on the ecological footprint of food consumption	110
6.4.3. The ecological footprint based on occupational activity	112
6.5. The ecological footprint of non-meat eating respondents	121
6.6. The ecological footprint of food consumption according to income	122
6.7. Consumer groups according to the structure of food consumption	127
6.8. Scenario analysis about the possibilities for decreasing ecological footprints	138
VII. Summary	145
7.1. Conclusions and review of the significance of results	146
7.2. Directions for future research	149
Appendix	151
References	188
The author's relevant publications	217

## List of Tables

Table 1: Different consumption types and its interpretations	. 22
Table 2: Definitions of sustainable consumption in environmental policy documents	. 24
Table 3: Correlating resources resource use to environmental problems	. 33
Table 4: The goals of sustainable food consumption	. 35
Table 5: Categorisation of definitions of food consumption	. 38
Table 6: Possible combinations of sustainable and healthy food consumption	. 39
Table 7: Possible combinations of overconsumption and misconsumption	. 41
Table 8: Research methodologies that are appropriate for examining the environmenta	al
impacts of food consumption	. 46
Table 9: Input data to the ecological footprint and biocapacity calculations	. 56
Table 10: Sample yield factors for selected countries	. 60
Table 11: Examples for equivalence factors	. 61
Table 12: A summary of studies that analyse methodological questions regarding the	
ecological footprint of food consumption	. 64
Table 13: A summary of studies on the environmental impact of food consumption	. 79
Table 14: A summary of studies on environmental and health aspects of food	
consumption	. 82
Table 15: Nutritional intake per person	. 88
Table 16: Comparison of European and Hungarian food consumption trends (1990-	
2007)	. 90
Table 17: The ecological footprint of the highest and lowest income groups for the ma	ain
food categories1	125
Table 18: Cluster membership based on the structure of food consumption1	129
Table 19: Summary of cluster characteristics    1	136
Table 20: Scenarios for changing the structure of food consumption (A) 1	139
Table 21: Scenarios for changing the structure of food consumption (B) 1	140

# List of Figures

Figure 1: Schematic of Direct and Indirect Demand for Domestic and Global	
Biocapacity	57
Figure 2: Food consumption in Europe (1990-2007)	35
Figure 3: Food consumption in Hungary (2002-2009)	38
Figure 4: Ecological Footprint intensities of food categories in Hungary 10	)0
Figure 5: Ecological footprint values per 10,000 kcal in Hungary10	)2
Figure 6: The structure of the average ecological footprint per person 10	)3
Figure 7: The relative contributions of categories of food (compared to the quantity and	ł
ecological footprint of the food consumed)10	)4
Figure 8: The ecological footprint according to educational level 10	)7
Figure 9: The ecological footprint of men and women10	)9
Figure 10: The ecological footprint of men in the three age groups11	. <b>1</b>
Figure 11: The ecological footprint of women in the three age groups11	12
Figure 12: The ecological footprint of food consumption according to different	
occupational activity11	3
Figure 13: The ecological footprint of food consumption for active men (30-60 years)	
	6
Figure 14: The ecological footprint of food consumption for active women (30-60	
years) 11	.7
Figure 15: The structure of the ecological footprint for inactive groups 12	20
Figure 16: The ecological footprint of food consumption according to income decile 12	23
Figure 17: The structure of the ecological footprint for food consumption according to	
income deciles	26
Figure 18: Clusters according to the structure of food consumption13	30
Figure 19: The structure of the ecological footprint for typical food consumption	
clusters13	31

## Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor, Mária Csutora, who guided me during my doctoral studies. I would like to thank for her guidance, continuous professional and personal support, many pieces of good advice and encouragement.

I owe thanks to Sándor Kerekes and Zsuzsanna Marjainé Szerényi that I could take part in the research projects and I could join in the life of the department.

I would like to thank Andrea Lugasi and Tamás Kocsis for their valuable review of my draft thesis.

Many thanks for the pieces of advice of all the department colleagues: Ágnes Zsóka, György Pataki, furthermore Gyula Zilahy, Gábor Harangozó, Károly Kiss, Szilvia Luda, József Biszticzky, Anna Széchy and Zsófia Benedek. I owe thanks to my fellow Ph.D. candidates Andrea Tabi and Nikolett Eszlári for their friendship and support during my doctoral studies.

I would like to thank Dagmar Weiler for hosting me as a visiting doctoral student at the Cologne Graduate School, Universität zu Köln.

I am grateful to my parents, my husband and all my family for their supporting and encouraging words and patience.

I would like to gratefully acknowledge the support of the Norwegian Financial Mechanism HU0056 'Sustainable Consumption, Production and Communication' project for use of the database and the TÁMOP-4.2.1/B-09/1/KMR-2010-0005 'Sustainable development- liveable region- liveable landscape of settlements' subproject for supporting my research.

Thank you

9

## Introduction

Western lifestyles and patterns of consumption have been heavily criticised as being materialistic, permissive and based on the use of non-renewable resources; furthermore, their environmental impacts are considerable and significant (Wackernagel and Rees, 1996; Vitousek et al., 1997a; Chambers et al., 2000; Takács-Sánta, 2004; Jackson, 2006). Continuous growth of the global economy is not possible in a world with resource-constraints (Daly and Cobb, 1989).

According to traditional economic theory, consumption contributes to growth in well-being. However, the opposite effect is being experienced nowadays. Economic growth does not increase well-being and happiness (at least more recently) but it does increase social inequality. According to the empirical findings of Easterlin who used an international comparison, levels of happiness do not change to a great extent within different countries when GDP per capita changes (Easterlin, 1974). To a certain level, material accumulation can increase well-being and happiness, but developed countries have gone past this level (Argyle, 1987; Max-Neef, 1992; Durning, 1992) and while the environmental impact of consumption grows, the happiness and well-being of humans is not increasing accordingly.

Jackson (2006) states that reducing the growth of total consumption would require little sacrifice. Kerekes (2011) points to the fact that economic growth does not necessarily lead to happiness in our present economic circumstances; both alternative ways of thinking and cooperating are needed.

According to Stern (1997), consumption is not only a social or economic activity; it is a transaction between humans and the environment. The motivation behind acts of consumption may be economic and social, but its impacts are biophysical. This fact has to be taken into account in the case of food consumption as well. In my dissertation I analyse the environmental impact of the food consumption of Hungarians.

Food consumption is a special area of consumption: it is important for both the individual and the economy; it provides nutrients for individuals and its economic role is significant (Tansey and Worsley, 1995). As food consumption fulfils our daily biophysical needs, it cannot be dematerialised and substituted for using other products. Food consumption patterns reflect lifestyle choices and values as well (Lehota, 2004; Schlösler et al, 2012). A variety of impacts and a web of connections are associated with food production and consumption and the issue of technological development cannot be treated separately either.

According to Buday-Sántha (2002), an increasing scarcity of food will be a critical issue as the world's population rises. The use of non-renewable natural resources is increasing steadily and non-sustainable land use may present a problem. By 2050, demand for food could grow by 70% (in order to feed 2.3 billion more people) and agricultural production could reach its ecological carrying capacity (Pimentel and Giampetro, 1994; Kendall and Pimentel, 1994; Matson et al., 1997; Bouma et al., 1998; Harris and Kennedy, 1999; Tilman, 1999; Bennett, 2000; Gilland, 2002; Tilman et al., 2002; Keyzer et al., 2005; Lambin and Meyfroidt, 2011).

There is a great difference between food consumption patterns in developed and developing countries. People in developing countries are challenged by their insufficient calorie intake and malnutrition, while developed countries are faced with the negative health and environmental impacts of obesity and other illnesses because of the excessive intake of calories and a sedentary lifestyle (Gerbens-Leenes et al., 2010).

According to Gerbens-Leenes et al. (2010), we are in a transitional phase of food consumption. This transition is relevant to developed and developing countries but in different ways. In developing countries the growing income per capita is generating growing demand for food, meat and protein. In developed countries with a stable level of protein intake, growth in consumption of carbohydrates and fats can be observed (and furthermore, high levels of food and calorie consumption per capita). Sustaining a European lifestyle creates a demand for land-based resources in other continents where agriculture is mainly based on the use of fossil resources (Palmer, 1998).

Food consumption is said to have one of the highest environmental impacts of all areas of consumption (Lorek and Spangenberg, 2001a; Tukker et al., 2006; Jackson and Papathanasopoulou, 2008; Druckman and Jackson, 2010; Thøgersen, 2005; Tukker et al., 2011). The environmental impacts of food consumption primarily concern land

use, as producing food requires the use of one of the most important natural resources; energy, and results in greenhouse gas emissions (Lorek and Spangenberg, 2001a).

Goodland (1997) argues in his study that diet has a significant role in the sustainability of food production; he highlights the environmental impacts of meat consumption and calls for its consumption in moderation. It is well-known that the resource demand for producing animal-based food products is higher, which is why growing demand for meat may prove problematic (Durning and Brough, 1991; Ehrlich, Ehrlich and Daily, 1995; Goodland, 1997; Pimentel et al., 1999; Subak, 1999; York and Gossard, 2004). There are great differences in the regional distribution of food consumption. It is primarily the role of developed countries to change the structure of food consumption and diets (Gerbens-Leenes et al., 2010). In order to reduce the environmental impacts of food consumption the structure of food consumption within households should be altered (Carlsson-Kanyama, 1998; Schor, 2005a; Stehfest et al., 2009; Garnett, 2011; Schlösler et al, 2012).

The main topic of the dissertation is to quantify and analyse the ecological footprint of food consumption in Hungary. The research question requires to examine: which food categories are predominant in Hungarian food consumption; which food categories have large environmental impact and ecological footprint. There has not yet been a representative survey undertaken in Hungary which was designed to measure the ecological footprint of food consumption patterns. In my research I analyse which socio-demographic variables influence food consumption, the consumption of which food category should be changed to moderate environmental impacts. In the dissertation I analyse the consumption of food and its ecological footprint according to education and income level. It is especially interesting and essential to analyse the relationship of income level to ecological footprint.

Previous academic studies did not differentiate by occupational activity and social segments in their examination of food consumption and its environmental impacts. In my research I carry out an analysis to examine the food consumption structure an ecological footprint using the variables of gender, age and type of occupation. One of the aims of this research was to identify and categorise consumers into groups according to the structure of their food consumption. Knowing the characteristics of these groups would help to focus the communication activities of environmental policy which is designed to decrease the environmental impact of consumption.

Food consumption not only has environmental impacts but the quantity and structure of food consumption directly determines the health of individuals. I believe that it is important to take into account health aspects as well when analysing the environmental impacts of food consumption. Healthy and low-impact diets show many similarities with each other (Gussow and Clancy, 1986; Wallén et al., 2004; Duchin, 2005; Stehfest et al., 2009; Macdiarmid et al., 2011).

One of the research question of my dissertation was this: is it possible to move towards a healthier personal consumption structure while reducing environmental impact? Do these two goals (improving environment and health) supplement each other? What would be the environmental impacts of healthier diets? I carry out a scenario analysis in order to exmine to what extent could the ecological footprint of food consumption be decreased, taking into account nutritional recommendations.

In my research I highlight the significance of proving that a food consumption pattern which is favourable both from environmental and health perspective is realizable and that such a finding could have remarkable consequences for public policy as well. This double dividend can be realized: it offers a great opportunity for instigating a harmonised and integrated environmental and health policy in the future. In my dissertation I give an overview of the ecological footprint of food consumption primarily in a descriptive way by analysing this topic from a number of perspectives.

I focus on the ecological footprint of food consumption of Hungarian consumers in my research but there are some other topics which can be connected to my research area although they are not directly a subject of my analysis. In the following section I summarise the frames of my research topic.

When analysing the ecological footprint of food consumption the issues of population growth and the size of the population arise. Not only is ecological footprint *per capita* important when considering total environmental impact, but also the *size* of the population which causes the ecological footprint with its consumption. The size of the ecological footprint per capita is a problem primarily for developed countries, while developing countries have low ecological footprints per capital but rapidly growing

populations. In my research I analyse the ecological footprints of Hungarian consumers and the issue of population is not within the scope of the thesis (in Hungary it is not a growing but a decreasing population that may cause a demographic problem in the future; analysis of this factor is outside the goals of the dissertation).

I present definitions of sustainable food consumption in a broad sense in Chapter 2.2. with some definitions certain elements or perspectives arise which are not directly connected to the topic of the empirical research (such as the topics of animal welfare and the social and cultural characteristics of sustainable food consumption). These topics are not dealt with within my empirical research; however they appear in the definitions in order that there is a complete overview of them.

I carry out my analysis on sustainable food consumption with an environmental and health perspective. From the definitions presented in Chapter 2.2., I identify, using the definition of Duchin (2004): that, during the empirical research, according to which sustainable diet should have low environmental impact and it should contribute to preserving human health. Furthermore I agree with Wallén et al. (2004), according to them: a diet with low environmental impact but not adequate from nutritional aspect, cannot be regarded as sustainable

Opinions vary according to nutritional and health recommendations about what can be considered healthy. In the case of this present research I started with and based my analysis on the recommendations of the Hungarian National Institute for Food and Nutrition Science (OÉTI) which are in accordance with international guidelines for consumers of developed countries who live in a temperate climate zone. I do not analyse the recommendations which are presented by alternative dietary schools or those that are connected to special diets. Different topics which are broadly connected to my research topic (such as sustainability limits, food security and food prices) are not directly subjects of my analysis.

Further limitations and comments on the empirical research can be found in Chapter VI (after the presentation of the ecological footprint calculations); furthermore, I take into account the limitations of the research when I evaluate results and draw conclusions. The dissertation emphasises the importance of taking a consumption-based approach. The structure of the dissertation follows the structure of the research process.

The Introduction gives an overview of the topic and significance of the research and the research questions and aims can be found presented there as well.

In the first chapter of the dissertation I present the history of the consumptionbased approach and definitions of sustainable consumption. The research topic of the dissertation is an examination of the ecological footprint of food consumption; the dissertation employs a consumption-based approach regarding both the chosen topic and the methodology applied. Because of this I found it necessary to present an overview of the development of consumption-oriented research and an analysis of the definition of sustainable consumption. The responsibility of consumers and households has not always been a topic of research; it has grown into a determining issue and a continuously developing area of research. Using a consumption-based approach for research can provide useful answers to such questions which would not be revealed and solved by using a production-oriented research approach.

In Chapter II I summarise the environmental impacts of food consumption and I overview the key natural resources which are connected to consumption of food. In this chapter I present a literature review of the definitions of sustainable food consumption. There are many differing approaches in the scientific literature to this. I collect and synthesize them while also analysing the definitions.

In Chapter III methodological approaches are presented which can be found in the scientific literature to quantify and analyse the environmental impacts of food consumption. The methodologies are evaluated according to how appropriate they are for meeting the research aims. In my research I use the ecological footprint methodological approach and indicator to examine the environmental impacts of food consumption. Accordingly, it is necessary to present the methodology and the literature behind this consumption-based indicator in a more detailed way. The development of the ecological footprinting methodology, the calculation process and the strengths and weaknesses of this indicator are reviewed in the same chapter.

In Chapter IV I give an overview of research which has examined the environmental impact of food consumption (studies are categorised according to the methodological approaches presented in Chapter III). In this chapter I review the development of research which has taken into account both environmental and health perspectives. The aim of the literature review is to systematize those national and international pieces of research which have analysed the environmental impact and sustainability of food consumption, especially those that have taken into account both environmental and health perspectives. To become familiar with the findings of this research was essential before the hypotheses were determined and the empirical research commenced. Also in this chapter I introduce the European and Hungarian structure of food consumption and trends based on economic statistical data, which can serve as useful background data to the analysis of the research questions of the dissertation.

In Chapter V I present the research hypotheses, the methodological approach of the research and the databases I have used.

Chapter VI of the dissertation presents my empirical results, where sections are structured according to hypotheses. The Summary section summarises and evaluates the main conclusions and lessons of the research, and I set out suggestions for future research based on the experiences gained during my empirical research efforts.

## I. Development, definition and types of sustainable consumption

The aim of this chapter is to present an overview of the scientific literature on consumption-based environmental research and sustainable consumption.

### **1.1.** Development of the scientific literature on sustainable consumption

Early critics of consumption from industrial societies appeared around the middle of the 19<sup>th</sup> century and included Henry Thoreau (1854), William Morris (1891) and Thornstein Veblen (Jackson, 2006). Veblen (1899) presented a sociological analysis of the consumer class of his time in his book 'The Theory of the Leisure Class'.

In the 20<sup>th</sup> Century, Carson's book, 'Silent spring' (1962) called attention to environmental questions for the first time and highlighted the issue of environmental pollution. The environmental problems arising from pollution and resource use have been analysed for a long time from the production side in scientific research and in political measures as well and people have tried to moderate environmental impacts using a production-based and technological perspective. Approaches such as cleaner production (CP) and industrial ecology have become popular since the beginning of the 1960s as a result of a focus on production-oriented solutions and treatment. Cleaner production is a preventive, integrated and continuously developing strategy that 'demands that all phases of the life cycle of a product or a process should be addressed with the objective of prevention or minimization of short and long-term risks to humans and to the environment' (Baas et al., 1990, p.19).

According to the principles of cleaner production, ecological efficiency and economic growth *are* reconcilable and cleaner production promotes the meeting of these two goals at the same time. The main idea of industrial ecology is to modell industrial systems based on the principles of natural ecosystems (O'Rourke, 1996, p.89.). It compares the interconnected nature of industrial production to natural ecosystems regarding material and energy flows. It has a focus on changing production processes.

In this era a focus on how to more efficiently use resources has started to appear in the production practices of companies. Waste treatment has developed as well and a secondary market for eco-products has appeared. Redesigning products, processes and materials, waste treatment and the implementation of industrial ecology have resulted in pure environmental gains (Graedel and Allenby 1995; Jackson 1996; Geyer and Jackson 2004; Guide and van Wassenhove 2004). These production-based changes, however, have not proven to be enough; in absolute terms the environmental impacts of consumption has not decreased significantly and the total environmental load has increased, despite the development of resource-efficient production processes (Veenhoven, 2004).

Questioning economic growth and witnessing the growing environmental costs of resource use have made it obvious that these production-oriented changes are in themselves not enough to mitigate environmental load (Røpke, 2005). Dealing with the question of consumption and lifestyles was not formerly on the agenda; only a few studies on this topic appeared during this period (Røpke, 2004a).

At the beginning of the 1970s a great step forward was made in that the study of biology and physics started to deal with environmental problems, and that the topic of economic growth and environmental load started being analysed from the perspective of thermodynamics (Georgescu-Rogen, 1971). In the 1970s, research on consumption that analysed consumption demands, symbolic consumption and the consumption of individual and collective goods started appearing. The environmental impacts of consumption were not in the lime-light. In the meantime, critics started questioning the environmental impacts of consumption after examining the paradigm of economic growth and increasing consumption, and after this through examining growing environmental costs and externalities (Daly, 1968; Ayres and Kneese, 1969).

The Limits to Growth, published by the Club of Rome (Meadows et al., 1972), appeared at this time and presented future scenarios about the environmental impacts of consumption patterns. The Meadows model assumed there would be exponential growth in population and industrial capital and therefore the demand for non-renewable resources and pollution would increase. As the supply of global food and non-renewable resources are finite, exponential growth in a finite system would lead to collapse.

Hirsch (1976, cited by Røpke, 2005) was among the first to analyse, as an economist, the social and environmental costs of consumption and point out the limits of consumption which causes environmental externalities and defensive expenditures.

In the 1970s only a few isolated studies appeared. The main topic of research which appeared at the time of the energy crisis was not surprisingly an analysis of energy use and energy-saving behaviour (Mazur and Rosa, 1974; Norgard and Christensen, 1982, cited by Røpke, 2005).

In the 1980s new research appeared, but little research on consumption behaviour (Douglas-Isherwood, 1978; Bourdieu, 1979; Miller, 1987; Campbell, 1987) presented an analysis of the environmental impacts caused by consumption patterns (Joerges, 1982; Uusitalo 1983, cites Røpke, 2005).

After the gradually emerging criticism of the 1970s and 1980s, the report 'Our Common Future' published by the Brundtland Committee made a great leap forward in how the growth paradigm and the finite nature of resource use was viewed. This report was the turning point that kicked off the change away from the production-oriented approach to environmental problems. The concept of sustainable development was defined in the report 'Our Common Future' and raised attention to the need for global responsibility for environmental issues. The report made economic growth and environmental protection supplementary to each other (WCED, 1987), and made the connection between economic growth and its environmental consequences. No agreement was reached about the relationship of economic growth, well-being and sustainable development (Ekins, 1993). The consumption-based approach started to spread significantly after the Brundtland report was published and appeared in scientific journals and in public policy as well. More and more research was published about economic growth and the limits of consumption (Tinbergen and Hueting, 1991; Meadows et al., 1992). Durning (1992) in his book 'How much is enough?' presented criticisms of consumption.

Scientific and public policy results were thus developing in parallel in the 1990s; development in one of these areas helped the other. In 1992 the Agenda 21 action plan was created at the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development in Rio which defined principles which should be behind political measures for sustainable development. One of the messages of the conference was that developed countries should take responsibility, and according take a lead in addressing environmental concerns (Redclift, 1996 cited by Røpke, 2005). Sustainable consumption was defined first in Agenda 21, but consumption and production are mentioned together and the need for technological change is emphasized. The need for lifestyle changes appeared only in later documents.

In the second half of the nineties the issue of consumption and environment became central to environmental policy which helped the development of scientific research as well.<sup>1</sup>

Daly (1991) dealt with basic consumption-related questions in his book 'Steadystate economics'. He examined whether consumption in itself is a goal or a means, and what the relationship between welfare and material and energy consumption is. Daly (1991) presented a solution to the growth paradigm with his steady state economic theory that takes into account ecological and social aspects at the same time. According to Daly, a steady state economy is "an economy with constant stocks of people and artefacts, maintained at some desired, sufficient levels by low rates of maintenance 'throughput' (Daly, 1977, p.17.). Max-Neef (1992) examined the topic of needs and wants and pointed out that satisfying needs is done differently within different cultures, income groups and genders and can change over time as well. Schor (1991) studied the dynamics of consumption and called attention to the work-and-spend cycle. Furthermore, she pointed out the determining role of infrastructural conditions, which alongside individual factors can influence consumption habits.

From the mid 1990s, besides research on sustainable consumption, consumption and lifestyles, other scientific fields developed and influenced research on sustainable consumption. Examples of such fields of study are environmental sociology, the sociology of consumption and environmental psychology (Reisch and Røpke, 2004). Beckmann (1998) and Ölander and Thøgersen (1995) present an overview of research on environmental psychology.

Consumption-based research has influenced production-based research as well. Research into industrial ecology nowadays examines issues with consumption, distribution and size (Hertwich, 2005a; Leeuw, 2005) and agrees with the need for a shift away from a production-based approach. According to Røpke (2005) the following research fields have developed to analyse sustainable consumption: (1) The conceptualization of consumption; (2) The environmental impacts of consumption; (3)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As for the results of environmental policy, the OECD launched a working program on sustainable consumption and production (OECD, 1997) in 1995, UNEP (United Nations Environment Programme) established the Sustainable Consumption Network in 1997 (UNEP, 2001), and in 2005 UNEP and the Wuppertal Institute set up a Collaboration Centre for Sustainable Consumption and Production) (Røpke, 2005). Besides these developments, the launch of the 'Marrakech process' was a significant milestone as well. Fuchs and Lorek (2005), Clark (2007) and Berg (2011) present a comprehensive overview of the public policy development of sustainable consumption.

The driving forces behind growing consumption; (4) Consumption and the quality of life; and, (5) Changing consumption patterns.

### **1.2. Defining sustainable consumption**

Definitions of sustainable consumption have changed compared to the first and original versions (Mont and Plepys, 2008). Definitions can be found both in science and policy-making; the focus of these definitions is sometimes different.

The definition 'sustainable consumption' can be related to Agenda 21 which is one of the most important documents which emerged from the UN Conference on Environment and Development of 1992. The third principle of the conference says that the right to development must be granted while 'meeting the needs of present generations without jeopardizing the needs of future generations' (Agenda 21, 1993). This definition highlights the fact that the present consumption levels of society may endanger some of the future (or even present) generations in terms of satisfaction of needs. Resource depletion cannot be sustained over the long term.

More definitions of sustainable consumption later emerged; these are based on the definition of 1987. According to Costanza et al. (1991, p.8.), sustainable consumption is the "amount of consumption that can be continued indefinitely without degrading capital stocks including natural stocks".

In 1994 the following definition was accepted at the Oslo Symposium organised by the Norwegian government: "The use of goods and services that respond to basic needs and bring a better quality of life, while minimizing the use of natural resources, toxic materials and emissions of waste and pollutants over the lifecycle, so as not to jeopardize the needs of future generations" (Ofstad, 1994). This definition is one of the most-cited definitions of sustainable consumption.

UNEP's definition (1999) is the following: "Sustainable consumption is not about consuming less, it is about consuming differently, consuming efficiently, and having an improved quality of life". Trainer (1996) and Slesser (1997) state that sustainable consumption is about the "management of greed". Princen (1999) analysed definitions of consumption and sustainable consumption and his findings can be summarised as the following: sustainable consumption is when there is no overconsumption, which is the level or quality of consumption that undermines a species' own life-support system and for which individuals and collectivities have choices in their consumption habits (Princen, 1999).

'Consumption Opportunities' is the first document published by the UNEP (2001) that includes references not only to resource efficiency but refers to the need for a change in consumption patterns as well. Besides efficient consumption, the report mentions the concepts of 'different consumption', 'conscious consumption' and 'appropriate consumption'. In order to reach a state of efficient consumption, dematerialisation is needed, while in order to change consumption patterns a strategy of optimalisation is required (UNEP, 2001).

Table 1 shows the characteristics of the different consumption types:

Table 1: Different consumption types and its interpretations
--

Types of consumption	Strategy	Strategic element	Major agents
Efficient consumption	Dematerialisation	Higher resource-efficiency, increase the efficiency of products and processes	<b>Industry,</b> government, consumers
Different consumption	Optimisation	Change the consumption decisions and the infrastructure	<b>Government,</b> industry, consumers
Conscious consumption	Optimisation	More conscious consumer choices and products use, better quality of life	<b>Consumers,</b> industry, government
Appropriate consumption	Optimisation	Change the level of consumption to realize sustainability and good quality of life	<b>Society at</b> <b>large</b> Communities Citizens

Source: Author's own compilation based on UNEP (2001)

It can be seen that the involvement of more and more agents is needed when interpreting the definition in different ways. Sustainable consumption as defined by the UNEP did not become part of environmental policy.

Veenhoven determines the following three components of sustainable consumption:

1. Less consumption refers to a reduction in consumption, to the finiteness of natural resources. This is in accordance with the Club of Rome's call for zero-growth that refers in turn to the fact that the total national products of the world economy cannot grow further (Colombo, 2001).

2. Eco-friendly consumption is a pattern of consumption that does not harm the biosphere. It refers primarily to environmental pollution and the problems associated with  $CO_2$  emissions that are the major focus in this case.

3. Tradition-friendly consumption is a preference for traditional products and traditionally produced goods (e.g. organic and local products).

The Sustainable Consumption and Production and Sustainable Industrial Policy Action Plan of the European Commission defines sustainable consumption as smarter consumption. It supports the improvement of the overall environmental performance of products and aims to help consumers make better choices. This definition emphasizes a small part of sustainable resource use and does not refer to the use and treatment of products and waste; furthermore the overall level of material consumption is not mentioned either.

Table 2 summarises the most important definitions that can be found in environmental policy documents.

# Table 2: Definitions of sustainable consumption in environmental policy documents

Source	Definition		
Report of the Symposium on Sustainable Consumption, Norwegian Environmental Ministry, Oslo (1994)	"The use of goods and services that respond to basic needs and bring a better quality of life, while minimizing the use of natural resources, toxic materials and emissions of waste and pollutants over the lifecycle, so as not to jeopardize the needs of future generations."		
IIED (1998)	"The special focus of sustainable consumption is on the economic activity of choosing using and disposing of goods and services and how this can be changed to bring social and environmental benefit."		
UNEP (1999)	"Sustainable consumption is not about consuming less, it is about consuming differently, consuming efficiently, and having an improved quality of life."		
Oxford Commission on Sustainable Consumption (2000)	"Sustainable consumption is consumption that supports the ability that supports the ability of current and future generations to meet their material and other needs, without causing irreversible damage to the environment or loss of function in natural systems."		
UNEP (2001)	"Sustainable consumption is an umbrella term that brings together a number of key issues, such as meeting needs, enhancing quality of life, improving efficiency, minimizing waste, taking a lifecycle perspective and taking into account the equity dimension; integrating these component parts in the central question of how to provide the same or better services to meet the basic requirements of life and the aspiration for improvement, both current and future generations, while continually reducing environmental damage and the risk to human health."		
DTI (2003)	"Sustainable consumption and production is continuous economic and social progress that respects the limits of the earth's eco-systems, and meets the needs and aspirations of everyone for a better quality of life, now and for future generations to come."		
National Consumer Council, UK, (NCC, 2003)	"Sustainable consumption is a balancing act. It is about consuming in such a way as to protect the environment, use natural resources wisely and promote quality of life now, while not spoiling the lives of future consumers."		

Source: Author's own compilation based on Jackson (2006)

### **1.3.** A critical assessment of the definition of sustainable consumption

The development of environmental policy has influenced greatly the changes in the definition of sustainable consumption (Jackson, 2006). Looking at the variety of definitions we can see that there is no consensus regarding the exact meaning of sustainable consumption and even less so, more efficient or more responsible consumption. Definitions can include reference to changes in consumer lifestyles or only refer to 'efficient consumption' which highlights rather the responsibility of the production side.

The definition from Agenda 21 is fairly general and widely interpreted. At the beginning the aim was to change and call attention to unsustainable consumption patterns; to provoke a shift towards a consumption pattern that is not unsustainable (Jackson, 2006). The first definitions did not provide much of a guideline for real action but they did incorporate important issues that became the basis for later research questions and topics. These include the topics of how to meet basic needs, how to have a good quality of life rather than a desire for more and more products and a high level of material consumption, how to minimise resource use, treat waste and promote intergenerational equality and equity.

Lélé (1991) presented an overview of critiques of the definition and has called it an umbrella term that does not always express the aims which lie behind it.

The focal question in the original definitions of sustainable consumption was simply this: what is the consumption pattern that does not harm future generations? (Valkó, 2003). The definition that was accepted at the world summit on sustainable consumption in Johannesburg in 2002 did not emphasize changes in consumer lifestyles but focused only on more efficient consumption (i.e. consumption of more sustainable products) and omitted reference to the need to reduce overall levels of consumption.

Criticisms of sustainable consumption as 'less consumption' (Veenhoven, 2004) are that the definition is too subjective, it is difficult to implement at a political level and it questions the paradigm of economic growth (Jackson, 2006). Because of these reasons, reference to 'less consumption' does not appear in public policy documents about sustainable consumption, as Princen (1999) has pointed out.

## **1.4.** Interpretations of consumption in the definition of sustainable consumption

I think it is important to analyse what is meant by 'consumption' in the definitions of sustainable consumption as this term can carry different meanings in the literature.

The following three cases have been identified (Lorek, 2009):

1. Consumption = resource consumption that takes into account the whole lifecycle of the product. This definition is based on the fact that the economy is a subsystem of the biosphere (Daly, 1991; OECD, 1997) and in this sense resource use causes environmental problems because of the depletion of resources and waste (Schmidt-Bleek, 1993). In this context sustainable consumption means the moderate, limited use of non-renewable resources, their more efficient use or their substitution with renewable resources. Sustainable consumption means the consumption of industries, governments and households (United Nations, 1992).

2. Consumption = economic (final) consumption (both private and public consumption). In a macro-economic context, consumption can be the aggregate of private and public consumption (European Commission, 2008b). Final consumption takes place within the economic system and it is distinguished from production (Røpke, 1999).

3. Consumption = private consumption (consumption patterns, possession of material goods), thus means sustainable household consumption (Thøgersen and Ölander 2003; Lucas, Brooks et al., 2008).

According to the arguments of Lorek (2009), sustainable consumption should be thought of as resource consumption, otherwise the consumption areas which become the focus of research and environmental policy are of marginal significance and are not those that have significant environmental impact. Agenda 21 was created with reference to the first definition – resource consumption – as it calls for the common responsibility of governments, industries, households and individuals (United Nations, 1992, cited by Lorek, 2009).

## 1.5. Strong and weak sustainability

Besides the various definitions of sustainable consumption, definitions of strong and weak sustainability exist. Definitions vary because of the different interpretations of the relationship between natural and human capital.

Pearce et al. (1989) and Pearce and Turner (1990) have analysed the relationship between natural and human capital in a detailed way. With strong sustainability, human capital and natural capital (natural resources) are complementary to each other, while with weak sustainability they can substitute for each other (this line of thought is based on the neoclassical economic approach). According to strong sustainability, the growth of the economic subsystem is limited, and as natural capital is not (or is only to a small extent) substitutable by man-made capital – the amount of natural capital available is an absolute sustainability limit. In the terms of weak sustainability, man-made and natural capital can substitute each other; there is no limiting factor (Daly, 1991) and if the combined value of man-made and natural capital does not decrease, or if natural capital is substituted for by man-made capital of the same value then it can be regarded as sustainable (Málovics-Bajmóczy, 2009). Weak sustainability does not limit economic growth; proponents can be characterised as having technological optimism (Prónay-Málovics, 2008). Neoclassical supporters of the concept of weak sustainability have not found a good solution yet to the challenge of how to create more capital without using more resources. Daly (1991) thus calls for a strong sustainability approach.

The interpretations of strong and weak sustainability are not unambiguous from several perspectives when compared to the original definition. The original interpretation has changed over time and authors have interpreted it in different ways (for example, Goodland and Daly, 1996; Turner, 1988; Gutés, 1996; Kerekes, 2006; Fleischer, 2006). Málovics and Bajmóczy (2009) examine the definitions of strong and weak sustainability in a detailed way.

Sustainable consumption should not be interpreted in the same way in developed and developing countries; different strategies are needed in each case. For developing countries growth in the relatively low level of income per person could perhaps be reconciled with sustainability if it were done by using environmentally-friendly technology. However, there is a need for radical changes in production and consumption in developed countries as even lower growth rates in already high levels of income per person significantly increase the absolute level of consumption, as has been highlighted by Ekins (1993). Furthermore, economic growth in developed countries would not solve the poverty problem of developing countries (Goodland and Daly, 1992), but it is developed countries that should reduce their levels of consumption so that consumption in developing countries can grow (Hertwich, 2005b).

Environmental impact can be quantified by the equation used by Ehrlich and Holdren (1971). The Ehrlich equation (Ekins, 2004) expresses the impact on the biosphere where environmental impact (I) is the product of three variables: population (P), economic performance or consumption per person (C) and environmental impact per economic performance (environmental intensity of consumption) (T). The equation shows the technological challenges inherent in promoting both economic growth and sustainability, when I = P\*C\*T.

The level of environmental impact (I) is unsustainable today; even delegates at the Earth Summit in Rio agreed on this. The notion of the need for a reduction in consumption per person (C) does not appear in most environmental policy documents (Princen, 1999; Brown and Cameron, 2000; Røpke, 2005).

In terms of weak sustainability a reduction in environmental impact (I) can be realized by increasing technological efficiency (reducing T). However, in the short run an increase in efficiency can lead to less environmental impact but in the long run the consequences can be catastrophic (Garner, 2000). Weak sustainability can lead to a rebound effect and as a result total resource use can increase (Hertwich, 2005a; Sorrell, 2009). The OECD report of 1997 (OECD, 1997) called attention to the rebound effect although the report did not state the need for strong sustainability.

Many researchers call for strong sustainability: increasing the efficiency of modes of production is not enough in a finite ecological system where the total quantity of consumption is increasing (Jacobs and Røpke, 1999; Reisch and Røpke, 2004; Hertwich, 2005b; Røpke, 2005; de Leeuw, 2005; Schor, 2005b; Jackson, 2006; Mont and Plepsy, 2008; Jackson, 2009; Hanley et al., 2009; Lorek and Fuchs, 2011). There is a need to change consumption patterns and levels in order to come closer to a state of sustainability. The allocation problem defined by Daly (1992) fits the idea of strong sustainability. Daly (1992) called for moves to take into consideration the scale of the throughput and size of the economy, not only the allocation and distribution of economic processes.

### **1.6.** The responsibility of households regarding consumption

According to the principles of strong sustainable development, changing the level and pattern of resource consumption is a necessity. Regarding final consumption, private households are the largest consumers.

Final consumer demand is defined as the direct and (through the consumption of imported and state products) indirect consumption of households. In this sense, households are responsible for the environmental impacts of consumption (Spangenberg, 2004). The effect of the spread of the consumption perspective and approach is that consumers can no more be seen just as 'victims' of environmental pollution and environmental impacts but can be regarded as the causes of such problems as well (Lorek, 2009). This means that they have a responsibility for their use of natural resources (Thøgersen, 2005).

Three components define household consumption (Røpke, 2001): 1) the level of consumption; 2) the structure of consumption; and 3) the environmental intensity of the products and services consumed (taking into account both direct and indirect effects). When evaluating natural resource use from a final consumption perspective, the consumption areas with the three highest environmental impacts are a) food consumption; b) transportation; and, c) household maintenance and energy use (Lorek and Spangenberg, 2001a; Eurostat, 2009). According to research by Tukker et al. (2006) and Tukker and Jansen (2006), food consumption, transportation and household maintenance/housing (which includes energy use) create 70% of the total environmental impacts of households (according to life cycle analysis).

Lorek and Spangenberg (2001a) point out that private households have significant effects on exactly these three consumption areas which have the highest environmental impact – which is why the role of households is outstandingly significant. Spangenberg and Lorek (2002) presented a framework for analysing the responsibility of households. The resource demand of households is incorporated into the most notable environmental indicators such as material flow analysis and ecological footprint calculations.

When analysing the consumption of households, the so-called 'lock-in effect' has to be taken into account. This effect constrains people into working within boundaries presented by the current infrastructure. Consumption choices are restricted by the social-technical system (Røpke, 1999) which people come into contact with

when they undertake routine activities (such as using electronic systems, the sewage system, the postal system, the educational system, road networks, etc.). Each area of consumption has its own supply system which comprises the following elements: production, distribution, retail trade, consumption and its material culture (Fine and Leopold, 1995). So, consumption partly consists of being *served* by supply systems but consumers *serve* the supply system as well.

The reason for currently unsustainable consumption patterns may be that customers are locked into an unsustainable consumption structure – yet they can affect this structure as well. Research confirms that lock-in effects and the path-dependency of technological infrastructure makes more difficult the changing of behaviour and leads consumers to participate in such environmentally harmful behaviours such as car use (for example, in the case of an inadequate public transport system) (Schor, 1995; Schor, 1998; Sanne, 2002). Besides analysing consumption patterns and norms and values, the infrastructural frame should be analysed as well (Sanne, 2002; Shove, 2003).

Sustainable consumption is nothing other than "good" consumer behaviour in "bad" consumer structures (Spangenberg, 2004) and the task of policy-supporting sustainable consumption is to create opportunities in the present social-economic structures and patterns to open the way for the new paradigm (sustainable consumption).

In this chapter the appearance of the topic of responsibility for consumption and the consumption-oriented approach in academic research is reviewed and possible interpretations of sustainable consumption are presented. We may settle the idea that a consumption approach is crucial to environmental-economic research as well, as according to the concept of strong sustainable development 'welfare wins' and consumption patterns with their impacts require revaluation. Changes in consumer lifestyles should receive more attention in the future. To achieve these changes, those consumption areas which have the greatest environmental impact should be identified; furthermore, understanding the factors which influence consumption demand and structure are needed as well.

In my thesis I examine the environmental impacts of food consumption, so in the next chapter an analysis of its environmental impact and a definition of its sustainability are presented.

# II. The environmental impacts of food consumption and its sustainability

## 2.1. The environmental impacts of food consumption

According to Myers and Kent (2003) the increasing consumption of food leads to increasing environmental impacts and has potentially negative impacts on the maintenance of food security. As the world's population rises, the environmental load of the consumption of food is expected to increase both in absolute and relative terms (Tilman, 1999; McMichael et al., 2007). The increasing scarcity of food is confirmed by the fact that cultivated land area per person decreased from 0.43 hectares to 0.26 between 1926 and 1998. This trend is expected to continue in the future: a 1.5% decrease in land available per capita can be expected per year until 2030 unless there is significant political intervention (FAO, 2009).

After analysing the environmental impacts of food consumption from a lifecycle perspective it can be stated that agricultural production is responsible for a major part of environmental impact and the food processing industry is responsible for a smaller part (Lorek and Spangenberg, 2001a; ETC/SCP, 2009). Nowadays, agriculture can be held to be a polluting sector as it impacts the state of the environment in a negative way during the carrying out of agricultural activities. This impact is reflected/reacts on itself as well, as a great part of agricultural yield depends on the state of natural resources and their conditions (Ángyán and Menyhért, 1999). Holló et al. (2009) call attention to the increasingly serious environmental impacts caused by industrialised agriculture. The following changes have taken place within agriculture during the last few decades: growing productivity; growing diversity of products produced; lessening of seasonal dependency. In spite of the fact that agriculture seemingly plays seemingly a minor (and decreasing) role in countries' economies, its economic significance should not be underestimated and nor should its impacts on our environment, social welfare and health.

In the following sections I summarise the environmental impacts of agriculture on global level.

30% of all arable land has been affected by erosion and land degradation during the last 40 years, and this proportion is expected to rise in the future (Montgomery, 2007; Wilkinson and Mcelroy, 2007). Agricultural production can be held responsible for 80% of forest degradation (Pimentel and Giampetro, 1994; Kendall and Pimentel, 1994); this is the sector which uses the most natural resources.

Agriculture is responsible for the greatest water use; this sector may even use 90% of the total water in developing countries. Changing food consumption structures (especially increases in the amount of meat consumed) require more and more water (Schaffnit-Chatterjee, 2009). The water demands of intensive agriculture are significant. 500-2000 litres of water are needed for the production of one kg of cereal and as many as 150000- 200000 litres could be needed to produce one kilogram of beef, which is mainly due to the water demands of fodder crops (Pimentel and Pimentel, 2003; Wood et al., 2006; WWF, 2006).

Growth in the amount of greenhouse gases emitted is notable: 10-20% of total  $CO_2$  emissions stemmed from agricultural production in 2005 (Smith et al., 2009). Besides  $CO_2$  emissions, agricultural production is responsible for 47% of methane and 58% of nitrous oxide emissions (Smith et al. 2007; Smith et al., 2009). The main source of nitrogen dioxide emissions is nitrogen from fertilizer use (Pálvölgyi, 2000; Steinfeld et al., 2006).

Agricultural land use may be a severe problem in the future according to estimations from the World Bank (World Bank, 2009). Cereal production should grow by 50% and meat production should be increased by 85% between 2000 and 2030 in order to provide a food supply for the rising population. Livestock production can claim the highest environmental impact of all agricultural activities. Direct impacts are due to grazing and indirect impacts to fodder production (Bruinsma, 2003). Cattle production has the largest environmental impact from all livestock production both in terms of land use and its contribution to climate change (Pimentel and Pimentel, 2003). 6 kg of vegetable-based protein is needed to produce 1 kg of animal protein, which means that the utilization of protein is less efficient with animal products (Pimentel and Pimentel, 2003; Kocsis, 2010b).

The use of artificial agrochemicals and pesticides is harmful to the environment (Bhalli et al., 2009) and high agricultural yields cannot be sustained in the long run (Fox et al., 2007). The presence of nitrogen in the soil, water and atmosphere has severe environmental impacts in the long run, while fertilizer use leads to eutrophication (Smil,

1999; Galloway and Cowling, 2002; Aiking, 2011) and ecosystem services are degraded (Vitousek et al., 1997b).

Not only has there been an increase in the quantity of water use but water pollution is significant due to the use of pesticides and fertilizer, especially during the production of fruits and vegetables and this affects the aquatic ecosystems in a negative way (Arthington et al., 2006; Poff et al., 2007).

The use of agricultural chemicals in intensive production leads to decreases in levels of biodiversity (Kremen et al., 2002; Butler et al., 2007; Lang, 2010; Szabó, 2010). Agricultural land use endangers natural habitats (Green et al., 2005) and furthermore, the impact on ecosystem services could lead to severe problems in the future. Local environmental impacts can be made worse by trade and international trade.

We have seen that agricultural production impacts the state of the environment in diverse ways and that increasing demand may lead to significant problems in the future. I think that in order to solve the problem of the increasing environmental load of agriculture, it will not be enough to make changes on the production side that involve making agricultural practices more sustainable. Changes will be needed on the demand side as well regarding the quantity and structure of food consumption, according to the terms of strong sustainability. Lorek and Spangenberg (2001b) summarise the environmental impacts of the consumption of food, as shown in Table 3.

Environmental problem	Cause	Source	Key resource correlated
Acidification	SO <sub>2</sub> , NO <sub>X</sub>	fossil fuels	energy
Biodiversity loss	habitat degradation	agriculture	land use
	fragmentation	agriculture, settlements, roads	land use
Erosion	Use intensity	agriculture	land use
Eutrophication	Р	agriculture	land use
	Ν	agriculture, fossil fuels	land use and energy
Global warming	CO <sub>2</sub>	airborne, fossil fuels	energy
	CH <sub>4</sub>	ranching	land use
	N <sub>2</sub> O	agriculture	land use
Waste generation	throughput	consumption volume	material flows

 Table 3: Correlating resources resource use to environmental problems

Source: Lorek and Spangenberg (2001b)

The environmental issues and their drivers presented in this section can be connected basically to the use of the following two natural resources: land use and energy use. In order to measure the environmental impacts of consumption of food an indicator is needed that quantifies the use of these resources in a consumption-based way. Having presented details about the natural resources that are of key importance regarding food consumption, I next present and analyse definitions of sustainable food consumption.

## 2.2. Definitions of sustainable food consumption

When examining the sustainability of food consumption the question arises whether the sustainable consumption of food is actually possible, or whether it is more reasonable to speak about decreasing the environmental impacts of food consumption. In the academic literature that analyses the environmental impacts of food consumption the term 'sustainable food consumption' appears in many references as being a state and/or goal to be reached by applying the idea of sustainable consumption to food consumption. Yet Kiss (2011) argues that using the term sustainable food consumption is incorrect as food consumption is not even sustainable in poorer developing countries: consumption levels exceed the available biocapacity and thus it is more reasonable to speak about the environmental impacts of food consumption. Due to these types of issues I feel it necessary to review the definitions of sustainable food consumption.

Erdmann et al. (1999) defined the conditions that should be fulfilled in order to call consumption of food sustainable. He categorised the most important factors into four dimensions (economic, environmental, health and social) that should be considered together when analysing the sustainability of food. However, no guidance is given by Erdmann et al. (1999) about how these dimensions and the components of these dimensions should be weighted when we attempt to put into practice sustainable food consumption habits. Table 4 shows the goals of sustainable food consumption.

Economic dimension	Social dimension	Health dimension	Ecological dimension
Global food security	Job security	Human health	Conservation of natural resources
Guaranteeing economic competitiveness of private firms and enterprises	International justice	Changing of consumption patterns	Maintaining of ecological resilience
Stable and efficient markets	Reinforcement of consumer interests	Eating should be enjoyable	Improvement of biodiversity

#### Table 4: The goals of sustainable food consumption

Source: Erdmann et al. (1999)

Koerber and Kretschmer (2001) agree with the four dimension classification made by Erdmann et al. According to these authors sustainable food consumption could be realized by optimizing nutritional regimes. They list the following requirements for sustainable nutrition: the diet should consist primarily of lacto-vegetarian, regional and seasonal food products which are less processed and in environmental-friendly packaging, while maintaining the cultural diversity of food consumption and maximising the consumption of organic food products.

Alfredsson (2002) uses the term 'green consumption' or 'green diet' for products and consumption patterns with low energy intensity and low  $CO_2$  emissions.

Leitzmann (2003) lists seven criteria for sustainable food consumption: these are a preference for a mainly plant-based diet based on organically, regionally and seasonally produced food which is minimally processed, ecologically packed and tastefully prepared, as well as fairly traded. We can see that Leitzmann (2003) sets strict conditions for defining sustainable food products. Vermeir and Verbeke (2004) describe as 'sustainable' or 'ethical' those products that have been grown using organic methods, which are distributed fairly (fair trade) and which are animal-friendly.

Duchin (2005) claims that a sustainable diet should have a low environmental impact and should contribute to preserving human health. According to Hayn, Empacher and Halbes (2005) a sustainable diet not only has positive health and environmental impacts but takes into account the relevance of healthy food consumption habits in everyday life.
Pack et al. (2005) claims that sustainable food consumption is a preference for:

- foods that have a higher resource efficiency (e.g. open-ground vegetables instead of greenhouse production),
- regional instead of imported foods,
- meatless or reduced meat diets,
- lower amounts of bottled beverages and
- organically produced foods instead of conventionally produced foods.

Besides these factors they mention that food processing and packaging can have notable environmental impacts; for example, pre-packaged and frozen products cause larger environmental impacts than fresh and less-packaged products. Wallén et al. (2004) calls for low energy inputs per food item consumed but also calls for a diet that provides the amount of nutrients that is required. A diet with low environmental impact which is not adequate from a nutritional perspective cannot be regarded as sustainable because in the long run it may lead to malnutrition and to illnesses.

Hoffmann (2005) examines the term from an environmental perspective. Sustainable nutrition means a preference for foods of plant origin (fruits and vegetables) and a reduction in the consumption of highly processed foods.

According to the British Sustainable Development Commission (2005) the following criteria should be met for food consumption to be considered sustainable:

- is safe, healthy and nutritious, for consumers in shops, restaurants, schools, hospitals etc;
- can meet the needs of the less well off people;
- provides a viable livelihood for farmers, processors and retailers, whose employees enjoy a
- safe and hygienic working environment whether nationally or abroad;
- respects biophysical and environmental limits in its production and processing, while reducing energy consumption and improving the wider environment;
- respects the highest standards of animal health and welfare, compatible with the production of
- affordable food for all sectors of society;
- supports rural economies and the diversity of rural culture, in particular through an emphasis on local products that keep food miles to a minimum.

Tischner and Kjaernes (2007) state that the aim should be not only a reduction in the amount of food consumed but a definition of the consumption of which food groups should be reduced, where they were produced and processed, who prepared them (and where), who consumed them and how the food waste was handled or reused. The following examples can be given of sustainable food consumption: buying organic, local and seasonal food, buying fair trade products, maintaining a healthy and balanced diet; furthermore, the reuse and selective collection of water bottles and soft drinks and food packaging and the treatment of organic waste (Belz and Pobish, 2005). Lefin's definition (2009) of sustainable food consumption is the following: the access to and consumption of food products required for an active, healthy life, taking into account economic, social and environmental sustainability.

Sustainable food consumption decreases health costs in the long run. Despite favourable environmental and health effects a shift towards consumption of lowerimpact and more healthy food products is not ongoing (Eurostat, 2009). Consumers generally do not consider the environmental impacts of their consumption of food. The reason for this may be that they underestimate the scale of the problem and underestimate the value of natural resources; furthermore they have expectations of a comfortable lifestyle and associate the solving of environmental problems with high costs (NationalGeographic, Globescan and Greendex, 2008).

#### 2.3. The synthesized interpretation of sustainable food consumption

Sustainable food consumption has been evolving as a research topic since the beginning of the 2000's. The term 'sustainable food consumption' does not have a standard definition which is accepted by everyone. The interpretation of the definition changes according to the approach of the research field or environmental policy. It is common in all definitions that the role of individual action is important when deciding between consumption alternatives; besides this, social (health/welfare) and environmental impacts appear commonly as well. Table 5 presents a summary of the definitions presented in this chapter according to the main aspects they highlight, and according to the focus of the research question utilised, which concerns the promotion of sustainable food consumption.

Authors	Environmental dimension	Health dimension	Social dimension	Economic dimension
Kroerber and Kretschmer (2001)	+	+	+	+
Alfredsson (2002)	+			
Leitzmann (2003)	+		+	
Vermeir and Verbeke (2004)	+		+	
Duchin (2004)	+	+		
Wallén et al. (2004)	+	+		
Belz and Pobish (2005)	+	+		
Hayn, Empacher and Halbes (2005)	+	+	+	
Pack et al. (2005)	+	+		
Hoffmann (2005)	+			
British Sustainable Development Commission (2005)	+	+	+	+
Tischner and Kjaernes (2007)	+			
Lefin (2009)	+	+	+	+

 Table 5: Categorisation of definitions of food consumption

Source: Author's own compilation (2012)

It can be seen that most of the definitions of sustainable food consumption do not only cover environmental factors but incorporate at least one more aspect. Environmental aspects are primary, followed by the dimension of health. Not only environmental impact but also impact on human health is an important feature of most of the definitions. Food consumption has a direct impact on the health of consumers so this factor cannot be analysed separately. Looking at the definitions it can be seen that social or economic aspects do not take priority in themselves. Present food consumption patterns are not sustainable because not only carrying capacity is being reached but human health is threatened as well.

I think the diversity of the definitions shows that sustainable food consumption cannot and should be analysed by focusing on a single dimension. A multidimensional interpretation of the term and a complex approach to problem-solving are necessary. Making consumption sustainable means that there should exist alternatives to consumption which are sustainable in terms of both their environmental and social effects. I think it is important to note that the question of doing sports and excercises might arise when we analyse food consumption. Doing sports increases calorie demand and thus the ecological footprint of food consumption might increase, though it contributes to healthy and balanced lifestyle. The lack of excersises and sports can lead to health problems in the long run and it can increase costs in the health system.

As for the analysis of the consumption of healthy food, I follow the approach and definitions used in international environmental and sustainability analyses. From the definitions, I apply the definition of Wallén et al. (2004) in my research. It is important to note that that defining what healthy food consumption is much more detailed and complex from the dietetics point of view, although I do not deal with these complex issues in this dissertation. The environmental advantages of moving towards consuming healthier food is primarily analysed in the thesis later on.

Table 6 shows the possible combinations of sustainability and health in food consumption. In the case of A, food consumption can be regarded healthy and its environmental impact is low. This ideal state appears in the definitions of sustainable food consumption. When the environmental impact of food consumption is relatively low, but it is not appropriate for the individual's health, then food consumption pattern is sustainable but it isn't healthy as in case B (in case of a low-impact but not varied diet).

Table 6:	Possible	combinations (	of	sustainable an	d	healthy	food	consumpti	on
						•		-	

	Healthy	Not healthy
Sustainable	А	В
Not sustainable	С	D

Source: Author's own compilation (2013)

If food consumption is healthy, but fruits and vegetables are imported from faraway countries, then the environmental impact can grow and case C can happen. Food consumption is neither healthy nor sustainable when diets include predominantly highimpact food and the diet is far from nutritional recommendations (case D).

#### 2.4. Overconsumption and misconsumption

The issue of overconsumption and 'misconsumption' (consumption of inappropriate items) is closely connected to the topic of consumption of food as well, as there are remarkable differences in consumption of food and food consumption structures at the global level. According to estimates from the WHO, half of the world eats in an unhealthy way. People starve because of poverty in developing countries or their consumption of food is not diverse; while in developed countries consumption of too many calories causes problems (Gerbens-Leenes et al., 2010). Consumer society in developed countries generates new demands and individual happiness is dependent on consumption. According to a definition from classical economics, consumption is the activity undertaken to satisfy needs or to satisfy an unsatisfactory condition. 'Want' is a specific desire to satisfy needs. Needs satisfaction can depend upon different cultural wants and thus cases of misconsumption can arise. The goods consumed do not serve to satisfy basic needs, but in fact hinder the satisfaction of needs. Distorted cultural wants influence consumption. Social and psychological needs increasingly influence consumption habits (Belk, 1996; Campbell, 1996; Prónay-Málovics, 2008). Food consumption may basically satisfy physiological needs but in developed countries this is not the only driver of consumption.

According to Princen (1999) and Kocsis (2001), we can define overconsumption and misconsumption. Overconsumption happens when the quantity or type of consumption endangers the living system of a species and other choices are available. Overconsumption is an aggregate concept. Habitats are overloaded because of the effects of consumption and are not be able to renew some resources or dispose of wastes. There are two types of overconsumption: overconsumption in terms of *quantity* (when an individual consumes more than is needed which may result, for example, in obesity or a deterioration in health); and overconsumption in terms of *quality:* we often do not buy durable products but rather cheaper products of worse quality – the result is the generation of more and more waste. It can also happen that consumers prefer wellknown brand-label products rather than products which are cheaper and more directly useful.

The overconsumption of some leads directly or indirectly to the underconsumption of others (Princen, 1999). Overconsumption of food leads to negative environmental, social and health impacts. Misconsumption can be interpreted on an individual level when an individual endangers its own well-being, independently of whether on an aggregate level overconsumption happens (Kocsis, 2001). In the case of misconsumption the individual suffers a net loss, or their consumption is suboptimal in terms of resource use. This can appear as excess consumption of food, the buying of unnecessary products or a state of always being unsatisfied. Misconsumption appeared as luxury consumption for a select few people until the 20th century, but today it is a mass social phenomenon due to mass production.

In the case of food consumption, misconsumption could be consumption that is far from nutritional recommendations (e.g. a diet with a high share of animal products, added sugars, fats and salt). The consumption of these items together with a sedentary lifestyle can lead not only to higher environmental impacts but to illnesses as well and can influence quality of life in a negative way in the long run (Lefin, 2009).

Overconsumption causes the depletion of natural resources and biocapacity. Misconsumption can be seen as a social problem (Kocsis, 2001). The relationship of overconsumption to misconsumption is illustrated in Table 7 of Kocsis (2001, p.43.).

 Table 7: Possible combinations of overconsumption and misconsumption

	Overconsumption	No overconsumption
Misconsumption	А	В
No misconsumption	С	D

Source: Kocsis (2002, p.43.)

Field D represents the optimal and desirable situation; there is neither overconsumption nor misconsumption. From an environmental point of view, field A and C are important. Overconsumption happens along with misconsumption in developed countries. In field A, the consumption of local products can be a good alternative from an individual and a social perspective (Prónay and Málovics, 2008).

Kocsis (2001) summarises in his research ideas about material consumption and desires for possession.

#### 2.5. Socio-economic factors which influence the consumption of food

Different opportunities and alternatives exist to reduce the environmental impacts of consumers in different regions and cultures as food consumption can be influenced by different factors in diverse countries and cultures.

Consumption of food is directly determined by biological, psychological, sociological, anthropological, demographical, economic and political factors (Lehota, 2004). Social status has a determining role in an individual's socialization, in their experiences and in the framing of their psychological features (Gossard and York, 2003). The elements of social structure thus determine the frame and environment within which psychological factors are embedded. The social and economic factors that can influence food consumption are reviewed in this section.

Different social and demographical features and values as well as lifestyles can influence food consumption. Much research has confirmed that food consumption patterns can be determined by socio-demographic factors (Hulshof et al., 1991; Smith and Baghurst, 1992; Roos et al., 1996; Johansson et al., 1999; Irala-Estevez et al. 2000; Dowler, 2001; Roos et al., 2001). According to this research there are significant differences in consumption, basically based on gender, age and occupational activity. Hayn et al. (2005) listed seven socio-economic factors that can have an impact on food consumption: age, social status (which is determined by income and type of occupation), education, gender, place of residence, ethnic identification and the lifestyle of the individual. The statements made by Hayn et al. (2005) are based exclusively on German academic literature and German empirical research. According to Hayn et al. (2005) age is one of the most important determining factors concerning the environmental impact of food consumption. Age can influence food consumption patterns both at a product level and regarding the structure and timing of eating.

Concerning the differences in consumption of food between genders, many studies have confirmed that significant differences exist regarding the consumption structure of men and women (Payer at al., 2000; OECD, 2001b; Hayn et al., 2005). Gossard and York (2003) analysed the meat consumption of households and its environmental impacts. Their results show that men eat more meat (especially more beef) than women. Dietz, Kalof and Frisch (1996) compared consumption of meat and vegetarian diets. Age, body weight, education, gender, ethnic identification, region and type of work were proven to be significant factors in their analysis.

Income as an economic and social factor is a determinant of food consumption. Research confirms that households are price sensitive regarding food purchases and consumption (Trichopoulu et al., 2002; Hayn et al., 2005). In some cultures a lower income is associated with less consumption of fruit and higher consumption of potatoes and cereals (Trichopoulu et al., 2002). Lehota (2004) highlighted the fact that income is one of the most important determinants of consumption of food within the socialeconomic macro-environment. Income has an impact on the level and structure of consumption and on the variety of foodstuffs consumed. Income plays an important role in the consumption of healthy food but at the same time it is questionable whether people take advantage of this opportunity (namely, whether having a higher income creates a shift towards healthier food consumption).

Expenditure spent on food compared to total expenditure may be a good indicator of the level and structure of food consumption. A high proportion of expenditure on food indicates a lower socio-economic status and lower income (James et al., 1997).

Education is another determinant of food consumption (Liberatos et al., 1988) as it not only reflects the number of years spent in school and achievements attained, but it is connected to the type of work one does, income and to availability of information about healthy nutrition (Johansson et al., 1999).

Trichopoulou et al. (2002) compared changes in the food consumption patterns of seven European countries through ten years using national statistical data. According to the results the level of education determines the understanding and acquirement of pieces of information about health and the environment. The higher the level of education, the healthier one eats. Researchers thus state that education is the most important factor determining food consumption. Besides education, the size of the household is an influencing factor.

Results from Irala-Estevez et al. (2000) showed positive correlation between the level of education and fruit and vegetable consumption for the countries analysed (Belgium, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Germany, Lithuania, Norway, Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdom). Roos et al. (2001) could not confirm this result. Their results showed that in Western, Central and Northern Europe a higher level of education leads to consumption of greater amounts of vegetables and fruit, but the opposite is true for Southern and Eastern Europe. Their research indicated that fruit and vegetable consumption decreases with a higher level of education in regions where the

consumption of these food products is already more popular and more closely connected to traditional diets.

Besides the factors mentioned above, institutional factors may play an important role as well (Tanner and Kast, 2003; Hofmeister et al., 2011). Neulinger and Simon (2011) mentioned that consumption of food and the state of an individual's health can also be determined by marital status and the lifecycle of the family. Schaefer (2006) examined changes in food consumption patterns regarding life events and the variables of education, income and place of residence. Education and place of residence were proven to be significant factors but income was not, as it had no influence on the making of more sustainable and healthier choices when life events occurred.

Hofmeister et al. (2011) stated that the consumption patterns of Hungarian households are determined by various factors: income, demographic changes (whether more women are working, if there are more single households or more retired people) and changes in lifestyles.

Being aware of the factors and determinants presented in this section is important when assessing the environmental impacts of food consumption. I turn to this in later chapters.

### III. Methodologies for examining the environmental impacts of food consumption and the ecological footprint

The aim of this section is to give an overview of the methodologies that can be used to quantify and analyse the environmental impacts of food consumption.

The use of so-called biophysical methodological approaches has become popular for measuring the environmental impacts of food consumption. The central idea of the biophysical view is that the economy is based on natural material and energy flows; energy is transformed, degraded and then returns back to nature.

Throughput is the cause of environmental degradation from a thermodynamic and ecological perspective, according to papers by Boulding (1993), Daly (1993) and Georgescu-Roegen (1993). According to these authors the problem is that human consumption demands and uses more of the regenerative capacity of natural resources than the natural regenerative capacity of the ecosystem. Biophysical methodologies examine the energy, material and land use of the economy and consumption. The development of the field of ecological economics has opened up a new area for calculating in 'naturals' (Røpke, 2005); its increasing role is emphasized in many studies (Rothman, 1998; Martinez- Alier et al., 2001; Spangenberg and Lorek, 2002; Giljum and Eisenmenger, 2004). Biophysical methodologies that focus on the sustainable use of natural resources have been popularised not only at the national but also at a regional level (Daly, 1990; Ekins et al., 2003).

Table 8 shows the methodologies that are appropriate for measuring the environmental impacts of food consumption. They are summarised according to whether they could be used in product or system level analysis. The '+' symbols in the table show that the methodology is applied often at that level while the '(+)' symbols mean that the methodology has been used only a few times on that level. It can be seen that the majority of the methodologies listed are used for product level analysis; their use at a system level is not wide-spread and they are not always appropriate for the research aims. The most important natural resources that are used to create food for consumption are land use, energy use and material use (Spangenberg and Lorek, 2002). This is why measuring these types of resources is necessary for an input-oriented analysis.

For input-oriented research we can distinguish between  $CO_2$  and GHG accounting and lifecycle analysis. The ecological footprint is an aggregate type of biophysical indicator, which means that it measures several impacts at the same time. The use of this methodology is widespread.

The aim of this section is now to introduce research methodologies that are biophysical, consumption-based and which are appropriate both from a theoretical and an empirical perspective for examining the environmental impacts of food consumption.

 Table 8: Research methodologies that are appropriate for examining the environmental impacts of food consumption

Methodology	Product level	System level
Material flow analysis	+	+
Energy requirement analysis	+	(+)
Accounting of land requirements	+	+
Foodmile	+	(+)
Foodprint and foodshed analysis	+	+
CO <sub>2</sub> and GHG accounting	+	+
Lifecycle analysis	+	(+)
Ecological footprints	(+)	+

Source: Author's own compilation based on Pack et al. (2006a)

#### 3.1. Methodologies for examining the environmental impacts of food consumption

In the following section I present the characteristics of the methodologies that analyse the environmental load of food consumption.

#### A. Material flow analysis (MFA)

The work of Ayres and Kneese (1969) about 'industrial metabolism' influenced the development of this methodological approach which is based on the theory of industrial ecology. Material flow analysis quantifies material flows in weight, mostly expressed in tons. It measures the total material requirements for a product's (or an economic sector's) production, which is the sum of the direct material requirements (from which the product is prepared) and the natural resources that were used during production (which are not included in the final product but were used during manufacturing) (Schmidt-Bleek, 1994; Hinterberger et al., 1997). Material flow analysis measures both direct and indirect material flows. Matthews et al. (2000) summarises the characteristics of the methodology.

Material flow analysis can be appropriate both for product level and system level analysis, its methodology is consumption-based, so it takes into account the impacts of trade as well, according to which countries can be net importers or net exporters depending on their use of materials (Schmidt-Bleek, 1994; Hinterberger et al., 1997; Fischer-Kowalski, 1998; Haberl et al., 2004). MFA methodology is based on strong sustainability (Hinterberger et al., 1997).

The disadvantage of MFA is that it measures environmental impact exclusively based on the weight of raw materials and not on the ecological impact of the material, so it cannot differentiate be used to differentiate between materials regarding their usefulness and the harm caused to the environment (Hinterberger et al., 1997). With the exception of material flows this methodology does not give information on the environmental impact itself. So the aggregated results and their interpretation can be misleading.

An advantage of the methodology is that it is internationally-acknowledged at measuring total resource use. MFA has lead to the construction of a good database for other indicators (such as the ecological footprint). The methodology can be used at the micro level as well where the MIPS (material input per service unit) indicator is mostly used (the material input demand per service unit (Schmidt-Bleek, 1994)). The methodology is frequently used as an appropriate indicator of the state of the environment (Bringezu et al., 2004; Weisz et al., 2005; Giljum et al., 2008), and it's output has become part of international statistical sets as well (OECD, 2007a-b; OECD, 2008). An advantage of the methodology is that it is easy to understand and to communicate; it can thus raise the awareness of consumed. The methodology is less frequently used on its own for analysing food consumption. It is used to supplement other methodologies (Faist, Kytzia and Baccini, 2001; Risku-Norja and Maenpaa, 2007) as the weight of food products itself does not provide direct information or allow for direct conclusions to be drawn about environmental impacts and resources used.

#### B. Energy analysis

The subject of energy analysis is usually the direct and indirect energy that used in the whole lifecycle of a product or economic sector and is measured in Joules (J) (IFIIAS, 1974).

Like with material flow analysis, total primary energy input that includes direct and indirect energy demand (Haberl, 2001) can be quantified. The roots of energy analysis go back to the 1970s when it was not typical in economic analysis to take into account indirect energy needs, but research revealed that there was a need to quantify both direct and indirect energy demand. In the 1970's, analysis that examined the energy needs of food production appeared (Leach, 1976; Steinhart and Steinhart, 1974), as well as research which examined the energy content of packaging (Bousted, 1974) and other research that analysed other consumption areas (Cook, 1971; Odum, 1971; Rappaport, 1971; Herendeen, 1972; Chapman, 1975). Energy analysis methodology significantly developed later and today it is one of the most frequently-used and accepted methodological approaches. Energy analysis can be done using a consumption-based approach where the energy content of both imported and exported products are calculated. The results of energy analysis are easy to understand and different product groups are well-comparable, though the method cannot give a complete picture of environmental impact (Hertwich, 2005a).

When calculating the energy content of food consumption, especially the energy demands of livestock, it is particularly important to take into account the energy requirements for consumed fodder (Haberl et al., 2001).

#### C. Land use analysis

Land use analysis methodology measures the size of the actual land area that is used for food production and uses units of hectares. Schütz (2003), Bringezu et al. (2003) and Steger (2004) give good summaries of the methodology of land use analysis. Cropland and grazing land etc. appear in aggregated form in most cases during the analytical procedures. The methodology quantifies the land requirements of different food products. Knowing real land requirements can help when the land requirements for consumption are compared with data about the land that is actually available. Results derived from using the method are easy to understand.

#### D. $CO_2$ and GHG accounting

 $CO_2$  accounting measures the  $CO_2$  or GHG emissions expressed in  $CO_2$  equivalents of food consumption which are due to the consumption of a product group or to a food consumption structure. The quantity of  $CO_2$  can be expressed in terms of weight, in tons or kilograms.  $CO_2$  accounting is appropriate for both product and system-level analysis.  $CO_2$  accounting measures the impact on climate change while at a product level it can be combined with lifecycle analysis. At a system level it is used as a separate indicator.

#### E. The use of food miles

The resource use of consumption of food is determined by the transportation of food products, which is an increasingly important factor as the share of imported products is increasing and impacting GHG emissions accordingly. Food miles are the distance that the product travels (is transported) from the producer to the final consumer. Blanke and Burdick (2005) reviewed methodological issues with food miles. There is general agreement that, in spite of some methodological shortcomings, this indicator has a great role to play in communicating with consumers (Smith et al., 2005). Research that uses the food mile indicator to measure the environmental impacts of food consumption quantifies exclusively the impacts of transportation. The methodology is appropriate for examining food networks as well (see research by Princen, 1997; Duffy et al., 2005; Pretty et al., 2005; Smith et al., 2005; and Sirieix, 2008).

#### F. Lifecycle analysis

Lifecycle analysis measures environmental impacts (material and energy use,  $CO_2$  and GHG emissions, waste) and contributions to environmental problems (acidification, eutrophication, climate change, health effects etc.) by taking into account the whole lifecycle of a product. The following elements can be regarded as whole lifecycle: extraction of raw materials, energy use, production and manufacturing, use of the product, reuse or recycling of the product, transportation, final waste disposal and waste treatment (UNEP, 2003).

Lifecycle analysis was done for some products in the 1960s, but the methodology started becoming more popular since the second part of the 1990's (Murray, 2010). The methodology behind lifecycle analysis is robust and widely accepted and it is defined in international standards (ISO 14040; ISO 14044). In the following paragraphs I summarise LCA methodology based on research by Murray (2010).

The impact of a given product or sectoral level is analysed in the assessment; a system-level analysis is not the aim of the methodology. The assessment is done in the following phases: (1) Goal definition and scope, establishing system boundaries; (2) Inventory analysis, data collection and modelling the lifecycle of the product; (3) Impact Assessment in the lifecycle stages; and (4) Interpretation of results.

The advantage of lifecycle analysis is that it takes into account environmental impacts in the most detailed way and it makes possible a comparison of results at a product or process level. The methodology has high-level data requirements and it is sensitive to the quality of data (very detailed and reliable data are needed in order to produce precise results).

The disadvantage of the methodology is the problem with system boundaries. This refers to the fact that a limit has to be defined beyond which environmental impacts are not taken into account in the analysis. Poorly-defined system boundaries can result in a high level of uncertainty (perhaps 50%) regarding the reliability of the results (Lenzen, 2008).

The representativeness of the analysed product at a product group level can be questionable as well. Comparability of the results can be difficult because equivalents are used in the calculation of the environmental impacts and because primary data comes from various sources. The methodology is excellent for product-level analysis as it can give an overview of a sector's performance, but it is less appropriate for use in system level analysis. Combining it with other methodologies (such as the input-output analysis<sup>2</sup>) can prove to be advantageous when carrying out analysis higher than the product-level.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The model for input-output analysis is a statistical table that shows the relationships of the economic sectors of a country. The input-output analysis methodology was developed by Leontief (1936) in the form of an industry-by-industry matrix. Leontief developed this model in order to evaluate sectoral interdependencies and environmental impacts. Leontief's research (1936; 1970) can serve as a starting point for the methodology. The input-output approach is able to track the transformation of goods through an economy; it is able to show the impact of final use as well as the impact of the use of raw materials.

Results of research that has used lifecycle analysis nicely supplements research that uses other methodologies to measure the environmental impact of consumption of food (Kramer et al., 1999; Carlsson-Kanyama, 1998; Kramer et al., 1999; Carlsson-Kanyama and Faist, 2000; Bruinsma, 2003; Carlsson-Kanayama et al., 2003; Wood et al., 2006).

#### G. Ecological footprint

The ecological footprint is an indicator based on natural capital and it is one of the most widely used methodological approaches of biophysical resource-accounting. Developed by Wackernagel and Rees (1996), the ecological footprint is an indicator of environmental load and measures human demand on nature by assessing how much biologically productive land and sea area is necessary to maintain a given population with a given consumption pattern. The measurement units are global hectares. The ecological footprint method has introduced a new feature to the measurement of environmental impacts by quantifying the impacts of food consumption and food supply systems (Røpke, 2005). When the research aims behind the use of the ecological footprint is appropriate for macro-level analysis as well. The approach of the ecological footprint is anthropogenic; it takes into account the biocapacity which is useful to humans. The methodology does not evaluate the utility of land types based on their CO<sub>2</sub> accumulation potential but takes into account their potential utility from a human perspective (Haberl et al, 2004).

The ecological footprint is one of the few consumption-based environmental indicators which show how far humanity is from a sustainable state; it is an objective, non-biased, aggregate, one-dimensional indicator of sustainability. The ecological footprint is presented in a more detailed way in the next sub-chapters.

When applying the ecological footprint methodology for measuring the environmental impacts of food consumption, the so-called *foodprint* term should be mentioned. This directly shows the land which is required for food production to satisfy national or regional consumer demand. The term was introduced by Johansson (2005) who used life-cycle analysis in its determination. Besides direct land use, semi-direct land use has been taken into account as well (e.g. the use of fallow land) (Johansson,

2005) which is required to support an ecosystem; furthermore, indirect resource use and degraded land has been included into the calculation methodology.

The term *foodshed* (Kloppenburg, 1996) can also be mentioned when examining the methodologies available for measuring the impact of food consumption. *Foodshed* refers to the land which surrounds the habitat of the population which is required for the needs of a population. This land is part of a bio- or eco-region which has natural boundaries (Omernik, 2004) and comprises local agricultural land where food is produced. The methodology behind the foodshed concept is less developed and less well-known compared to the ecological footprint, which is by now a well-elaborated, standardized and acknowledged methodology.

# **3.2.** A critical appraisal of the methodologies available for measuring the environmental impact of food consumption

This chapter has so far presented the different methodologies that exist to quantify the environmental impact of food consumption. Biophysical methodologies are based on the embeddedness of the economy into nature. The larger the economy is, the greater impact it has on the biosphere, which makes it necessary to express the size of the economy and the extent of consumption using a natural, biophysical unit (Røpke, 2005). In the academic literature we can find both system-oriented and product-oriented approaches.

The aim of my research is system-oriented, not product-oriented, which is why I think that the life cycle assessment methodology is not appropriate for accomplishing my research aims. Through considering solely food miles, only the environmental impacts of transportation can be quantified.

Land use is also one of the most commonly-applied methodologies, as the use of land for resources in food consumption is significant. Calculating  $CO_2$  emissions can be important as well, especially knowing that the emissions from agricultural production are a sizable portion of total emissions and that they are a factor in the creation of environmental policy as well.

The ecological footprint is a specific consumption-based methodology; it connects the ecosystem with human consumption from an anthropogenic perspective

and it is suitable for macro level analysis as well: I therefore intend to use this indicator in my research.

Besides the methodologies presented in this chapter, scenario-analysis is often used in research which is designed to measure the impact of food consumption. Scenarios are pre-defined fixed dietary choices which are used to flag up the changes in environmental impact which can occur when diets change. The starting point of the analysis is the assumption that energy intake is constant and diets are balanced. The scenarios can be applied to diets which are regarded as 'ideal' (i.e. they are balanced diets which fulfil nutritional requirements), or diets which fulfil environmental criteria (e.g. produce low  $CO_2$  emissions).

When examining the environmental impacts and sustainability of consumption, I think that the thought of Pulselli et al. (2008) is worth considering. Pulselli et al. state that sustainability itself cannot be measured as it is not a physical phenomenon; sustainability is an ideal state, an ideal. If we investigate this issue from another perspective we could consider a state of unsustainability and actually 'measure its distance' from an ideal sustainable state. There is a prominent role for the application of adequate methodology and the use of relevant indicators when measuring the environmental impacts of consumption and appropriate models should be used in order to formulate effective recommendations.

The next chapter provides a detailed review of ecological footprint methodology.

#### **3.3. Defining the ecological footprint and its antecedents**

The definition of the Ecological Footprint is the following: 'the Ecological Footprint is a resource accounting tool that measures how much biologically productive land and sea is used by a given population or activity, and compares this to how much land and sea is available, using prevailing technology and resource management schemes' (Wackernagel et al., 1996). The difference between the ecological footprint and available biocapacity gives the so-called 'ecological deficit' which is an important indicator for showing to what extent a population exceeds sustainable limits. Populations with unsustainable consumption patterns have larger footprints than their available biocapacity. The ecological footprint is appropriate for measuring energy and resource flows and converting them to the unit of the bioproductive area which is

needed to sustain these flows. Biologically productive land includes forests, croplands and fishing grounds, but deserts, open seas and oceans and glaciers are excluded from the calculation. The ecological footprint also takes into account that productive land and sea areas have a capacity to absorb waste products.

The ecological footprint measures human impact on nature (Wackernagel and Rees, 1996). As a result, physical areas are expressed in so-called global hectares. These measurement units are hectares with world-average productivity and the biocapacity of all biologically productive areas on the planet. The advantage of using global hectares is that it makes it easier to compare regions and nations. This methodological approach is suitable for revealing the differences between consumption patterns using a consumption approach. The advantage of using 'land use' units is that it these units are more familiar, acceptable and closer to life to decision-makers than units of energy,  $CO_2$  emissions or biodiversity (Herendeen, 2000).

There already existed a few methodologies which were developed with similar aims before the development of the ecological footprint. The Swedish Borgström developed the 'ghost acreage indicator' (1972) which measured biocapacity in hectares and the ability of a biologically productive area to sustain renewable resources and assimilate waste. Ghost acreage refers to the land which is required to sustain the consumption of people but on which people do not live. Borgström (1974) highlights in his study that to sustain the consumption of Europe 50% more land would be needed and Japan would require five times more land than its actual territory. Research findings from Borgström also indicated that humanity is overshooting the available biocapacity of the Earth and we need more than one 'Earth'. Catton (1980) named this additional land which would be required 'phantom planets'. This expression refers to the fact that humanity is using parts of its ecosystem which are not at our disposal as they are not able to renew themselves.

It is here important to mention research by Vitousek (1986) about the 'net prime products' of ecosystems which has also played an important role in creating and developing the ecological footprint method. Larsson, Folke and Kautsky (1994) also used calculations similar to the ecological footprint method in their analysis of the sustainability of shrimp farming.

After this research, William Rees developed an indicator called the 'regional capsule' which was the direct antecedent of the ecological footprint. The ecological

footprint methodology was later developed later by him and his Ph.D. student Wackernagel and they published this indicator in their book 'Our Ecological Footprint' in 1996.

The novelty of the Ecological Footprint is that it helps give an answer to a research question which is constructed using the opposite logic to the questions framed in earlier research. This is, namely, how much of the regenerative biological capacity of the planet is demanded by a given human activity? To answer this question, available and applied technology and resource management practices are taken into account. If a country is not aware of its biocapacity and how much it actually uses, it cannot be sustained efficiently in an era of climate change and increasing resource-scarcity (Wackernagel, 2010).

#### 3.4. The methodology behind ecological footprint calculations

Ecological footprint calculations are based on six assumptions, according to Ewing et al. (2010, p.3., adapted from Wackernagel et al. 2002).

- The majority of the resources people consume and the wastes they generate can be quantified and tracked.
- An important subset of these resource and waste flows can be measured in terms of the biologically productive area necessary to maintain flows. Resource and waste flows that cannot be measured are excluded from the assessment, leading to a systematic underestimate of humanity's true Ecological Footprint.
- By weighting each area in proportion to its bioproductivity, different types of areas can be converted into the common unit of global hectares, hectares with world average bioproductivity.
- Because a single global hectare represents a single use, and each global hectare in any given year represents the same amount of bioproductivity, they can be added up to obtain an aggregate indicator of Ecological Footprint or biocapacity.
- Human demand, expressed as the Ecological Footprint, can be directly compared to nature's supply, biocapacity, when both are expressed in global hectares.
- Area demanded can exceed area supplied if demand on an ecosystem exceeds that ecosystems regenerative capacity.

Components of the ecological footprint:

- Cropland: land required for the production of agricultural products
- Grazing land: land required for grazing livestock
- Fishing grounds: land used for fishing
- Forest
- Built-up land: land used and covered by infrastructure (for the use of industry, transportation and population)
- Carbon uptake land: area of annual forestry required to sequester the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions

Table 9 shows the sources for databases which are used.

#### Table 9: Input data to the ecological footprint and biocapacity calculations

Dataset	Source
Agricultural produdtcs, livestock products, fishing	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAOSTAT) http://faostat.fao.org/default.aspx
Forest	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAOSTAT) FAOSTAT ForeSTAT http://faostat.fao.org/default.aspx
Energy use, CO <sub>2</sub> emissions	<ul> <li>Three database are used: 1. CO<sub>2</sub>-emissions data from International Energy Agency (IEA) database</li> <li>2. Energy content of imported products: from scientific publications 3. Carbon sequestration: IPCC (2006)</li> </ul>
Built-up land	CORINE Land Cover data, EEA database http://dataservice.eea.europa.eu/dataservice/metadetails.asp?id=667
International trade	UN Statistics Division: UN UN Commodity Trade Statistics Database COMTRADE http://comtrade.un.org/

Source: Ewing et al. (2010)

Besides these databases, further data are used in calculations from publications in academic journals (Ewing, 2010). In the following section I review the methodology of the ecological footprint calculations based on Ewing et al. (2010).

The ecological footprint is a consumption-based indicator. It allocates the resource use of production, transportation, distribution and consumption to the place of consumption, to final consumers.

The ecological footprint of consumption can be calculated with the following formula:

$$EF_{C} = EF_{P} + EF_{I} - EF_{E}$$

...where:  $EF_P$ : is the ecological footprint of production,  $EF_I$  and  $EF_E$  are the ecological footprints of imported and exported products.

According to this consumption-based methodological approach, the environmental impacts of the consumption demands of imported products are allocated to the consumer (while the impacts of exported products are not). Figure 1 shows the logical relation of ecological footprinting methodology to economic flows and available biocapacity.

### Figure 1: Schematic of Direct and Indirect Demand for Domestic and Global Biocapacity



Forrás: Ewing et al. (2010, p.6.)

The following yield factor shows the ecological footprint of production. Using this formula the ecological footprint can be calculated for all land types:

$$\mathrm{EF}_{\mathrm{P}} = \frac{P}{\mathrm{Y}_{\mathrm{N}}} \cdot YF \cdot EQF$$

...where P is the quantity of the primary product harvested or  $CO_2$  emitted measured in tons,  $Y_N$  is the national average yield for national production (or its carbon uptake capacity) and

YF is the yield factor (the ratio of local and world average productivity for usable products within a given land use type). This is calculated as the ratio of national average to world average yields so its value is different for each country and it can change each year. It has no unit of measurement.

The equivalence factor converts a land type (cropland, grazing land, forest etc.) to an area of land with world average biological productivity. It can be calculated as the ratio between the biological productivity of specific land use types and that of the world average land. Its unit of measurement is global hectare/world average hectare. The methodology assumes that the land with the highest productivity is used for agricultural production, less productive land is used for forestry and land with even less productivity is used for grazing. This assumption is based on the assessment of land types from an anthropogenic perspective.

Ecological footprint and biocapacity has been calculated in National Footprint Accounts for more than 200 countries in the world. According to the ecological footprint per capita in 2010, 1.51 Earths would be needed to sustain the global consumption of resources and services. This demand has increased 2.5 times since 1961. The aim of the ecological footprint calculation is to quantify the demand of final consumption on biocapacity, but the calculations are based on the production and  $CO_2$ emissions of primary products. Besides primary products, the ecological footprint of derived, secondary products can be calculated as well. The ecological footprint of secondary products can be calculated from the ecological footprint of primary products using the so-called extraction rate which shows the ratio of the derived product to primary product required.

#### Calculation of the yield factors

The yield factor is the ratio of the national average yield to the world average yield. The yield factor for a given land use type is the following:

$$YF_L = \frac{\displaystyle\sum_{i \in U} A_{W,i}}{\displaystyle\sum_{i \in U} A_{N,i}}$$

Where U is the set of all usable primary products that a given land use type yields.  $A_{W,i}$  is the land required for world average products,  $A_{N,i}$  is the land required for the national average products.  $A_{W,i}$  and  $A_{N,i}$  can be calculated with the following formulas:

$$A_{N,i} = \frac{P_i}{Y_N}$$
 and  $A_{W,i} = \frac{P_i}{Y_W}$ 

...where  $P_i$ : is the total national annual growth of product *i* and  $Y_N$  and  $Y_W$  are national and world yields.  $A_{N,i}$  is always the area that produces *i* within a given country, while  $A_{W,i}$  gives the equivalent area of world-average land yielding *i*. (Galli et al., 2007). The primary products of all land types belong to just one secondary product, with the exception of cropland. For this type of land the yield factor can be calculated using the following equation:

$$YF_{L} = \frac{Y_{N}}{Y_{W}}$$

The yield factor of cropland can be determined from the yield of crops using an FAO database. The yield factor of forest is the ratio of the net annual increment of national forest stock and the net annual increment of world forest stock. The yield factor of land for carbon uptake is the same as the yield factor for forests. The yield factor of built-up land is the same as that of cropland, assuming that built-up land is built on or near productive agricultural land. The yield factor of inland waters equals one, due to lack of data regarding the productivity of freshwater ecosystems.

Yield	Cropland	Forest	Grazingland	Fishing grounds
World				
average	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0
Algeria	0.3	0.4	0.7	0.9
Germany	2.2	4.1	2.2	3
Hungary	1.1	2.6	1.9	0
Japan	1.3	1.4	2.2	0.8
Jordan	1.1	1.5	0.4	0.7
New				
Zealand	0.7	2	2.5	1
Zambia	0.2	0.2	1.5	0

Table 10: Sample yield factors for selected countries

Source: Ewing et al. (2010). p.6.

#### Calculation of the equivalence factors

In order to measure the different land types in one standard measurement unit, quantification of the equivalence factors is required. This converts the various land types to the world-average productivity (Wackernagel and Rees, 1996; Monfreda et al., 2004). Equivalence factors differ by land use types and year by year as well.

The main assumption behind the calculations is the weighting of land use types according to their contribution to producing resources that are useful to humans. This assumption confirms that the ecological footprint takes an anthropogenic approach. It is assumed when classifying the different land types that land with the highest productivity is land dedicated to agriculture, irrespective of actual land use.

Calculation of the equivalence factors is based on the Global Agro-Ecological Zones (GAEZ) model combined with real land use data from the database of FAO ResourceSTAT Statistical Database. The GAEZ model classifies land (globally) into five categories according to its agricultural productivity. Each land type is then allocated a quantitative suitability index.

The equivalence factor is the ratio of the suitability index for a given land use type (world-average value) to the average suitability index for all land use types. The equivalence factor for built-up land is equal to that of cropland, and the equivalence factor for carbon uptake land is equal to that of forests (Ewing et al., 2010).

The global hectares, calculated using the equivalence factors, show how much land (of world average productivity) would be needed to satisfy the demand for products (Monfreda et al., 2004; Galli et al., 2007).

Area type	Equivalence factor (global hectares per hectare)
Cropland	2.51
Forest	1.26
Grazingland	0.46
Marine and	
inland water	0.37
Built-up land	2.51

#### Table 11: Examples for equivalence factors

Source: Ewing et al. (2010). p.8.

#### Calculation of biocapacity

Biocapacity refers to the land which is available in the biosphere for human needs. It is the biologically productive area that provides ecosystem services for human use.

It can be calculated using the following formula:

 $BC = A \cdot YF \cdot EQF$ 

...where A is the area of land that is available of a given land use type, YF is the yield factor and EQF is the equivalence factor.

Biocapacity is the theoretical maximum of natural regenerative capacity. However, available biocapacity is not necessarily being used in a sustainable way.

The anthropogenic approach appears in the methodology for calculating biocapacity as well, as biocapacity refers to the useable and utile land available for human needs and unproductive areas and water surfaces are not included in its calculation.

The difference between the ecological footprint and biocapacity gives the ecological balance. The ability to calculate this balance is one of the advantages of the methodology as not only can environmental impact be quantified using the ecological footprint, but it can then be compared to sustainability limits (ecological balance = biocapacity – ecological footprint).

In the case of a negative ecological balance the given land has exceeded its biocapacity (regenerative capacity of natural stock) so the situation is one of ecological deficit. The population consumes more than is being produced. Consumption of imported products or the overuse of local resources leading to depletion of resources can lead to ecological deficit (overshoot).

The ecological footprint is an indicator of the environmental impact of consumption itself, not of overconsumption, as it can properly reveal the environmental load of underconsumption. This is why the methodology for ecological footprinting can be applied to quantify the environmental impact of various consumption areas.

The concept of the ecological footprint supports more equal use of the Earth's natural resources. One of the aims of sustainable development is to balance use of resources with an adequate quality of life for all (Wackernagel and Rees, 1996). The ecological footprint is an indicator of the present environmental state and the state of sustainability; it provides a common measure of all humanity's demands on the planet. Thus the ecological footprint not only highlights real unsustainable consumption patterns but it can show where change is needed and what kind of (consumption-related) measures are necessary (Wackernagel and Rees, 1996; Costanza, 2000).

#### Two approaches to ecological footprinting

Regarding the ecological footprinting method, two different approaches to its calculation exist today.

1. The ecological footprint developed by Wackernagel and Rees (1996) calculates the ecological footprint based on aggregate data. This is so-called 'compound' footprinting using a top-down approach. The advantage of this approach is that it measures indirect impacts properly, national data are easily modified by local data in regional calculations and the results of the detailed methodology are comparable. However, it shows less precisely the local characteristics of smaller regions.

2. The other methodology uses a bottom-up approach according to Simmons (2000), where the ecological footprint is calculated based on individual data. This makes possible the calculation of the ecological footprint not only for countries but for smaller regions, cities or even for companies. More local and regional data are needed

for this methodology, modification of assumptions can result in great differences in the results (Simmons, 2000), the methodology is not standardised.

#### 3.5. Critical issues about the ecological footprint of food consumption

Before applying the ecological footprint indicator in my research, I felt it important to become aware of the weaknesses and shortcomings of the methodology. These are described in the following section.

For Rees (2006) the footprinting methodology presumes that we use agricultural land in a sustainable way, so when calculating biocapacity the yield factor does not include sustainable yields, but actual yields. Biocapacity does not reflect the land use required for sustainable production, but shows the actual area used for production. The reason for this methodological assumption is that there is no reliable data about sustainable yields. This methodological decision leads to confirmation that available biocapacity is overestimated in ecological footprint calculations as sustainable yields would be expected to be lower in many cases than current ones: furthermore the methodology does not make a difference between intensive and extensive types of agricultural practices. I analyse the issue of intensive and extensive agricultural production methods in footprint methodology in Mózner et al. (2012) where suggestions for methodological improvement are also given.

Lenzen et al. (2003) suggests the use of so-called disturbance factors (a multiplier between 0 and 1). By multiplying actual land use with this factor we arrive at an estimation of the amount of land which is cultivated sustainably, according to a definition provided by Lenzen et al. (2003). Fiala (2008b) also points out the fact that the ecological footprint cannot differentiate between intensive and extensive agricultural land use. It is important to note that a piece of land may have multiple functions, but in ecological footprinting only one function is assigned to a piece of land (Kitzes et al., 2007) in order to avoid double-counting (Venetoulis and Talberth, 2007).

The measurement unit of the ecological footprint is global hectares and hectares of world average productivity. The use of global hectares refers to the 'calculated land' approach. If the land area is expressed using actual national yields then we arrive at real land use – this approach is termed the 'measured land' approach (Bicknell et al., 1998; Lenzen and Murray, 2001).

Using hypothetical global hectares could lead to dangerous outcomes as many could interpret them as being real hectares; furthermore, even when measuring with real hectares the methodology still does not indicate actual land use, which may be relevant on the national and a regional level. Researchers increasingly suggest that ecological footprint should be calculated in real hectares (Wiedmann and Lenzen, 2007). Kissinger et al. (2012) recommend using both real and hypothetical land use in ecological footprinting calculations, pointing out the advantages and disadvantages of the two approaches.

 
 Table 12: A summary of studies that analyse methodological questions regarding the ecological footprint of food consumption

Methodological issue	Relevant scientific literature	
Calculating the biocapacity of the agriculture	Lenzen and Murray (2003) Lenzen et al. (2006) Rees (2006) Kitzes et al. (2007) Giljum et al. (2007) Fiala (2008b)	
The use of local, real hectares or global hectares	Wackernagel et al. (2004b) Van Vuuren and Bouwman (2005) Kitzes et al. (2007) Giljum et al. (2007) Wiedmann and Lenzen (2007) Hoekstra and Chapagain (2007) Kissinger et al. (2011)	

Source: Author's own compilation based on Best et al. (2008)

#### 3.6. General methodological questions

Land required for 'fossil fuel use' (i.e. land required for carbon uptake) comprises almost 50% of the total ecological footprint. Ayres (2000) questions this result, as according to the indictor it is possible that there is not as much land available on Earth as is sufficient to support sustainable energy use. He advises using  $CO_2$ -emissions as a separate indictor.

Calculating waste flows is incorporated into the ecological footprint with the exception of toxic waste and biologically non-degradable wastes, which are not entirely

incorporated. Nor are water flows calculated within the ecological footprint indicator. Hoekstra (Luck et al, 2001; Lenzen, 2003; Hoekstra and Chapagain, 2007) have developed a separate indicator (the water footprint) which is independent of the ecological footprint.

The ecological footprint cannot show the impact of human production on biodiversity so it cannot be used as a biodiversity indicator for a specified area. According to van Kooten and Bulte (2000), the ecological footprint is a complex indicator; it can be used to synthesize data about resource-use, income and population. When analysing results it should be taken into account that, because of the aggregate data used, an improvement in one land use type can be offset by deterioration in another type of land. According to Moffat (2000), economic, social and environmental sustainability should not be measured solely using one indicator.

Critical perspectives concerning the ecological footprinting methodology and suggestions for possible methodological improvements can be found in more detail in the following papers: van den Bergh and Verbruggen (1999), Ayres (2000), Costanza (2000), Neumayer (2004), Kitzes et al. (2007), Venetoulis and Talberth (2008), Best et al. (2008), Fiala (2008b) and Kitzes et al. (2009a-b).

#### 3.7. The significance of using the ecological footprint indicator

Despite the several methodological shortcomings and the criticism of the ecological footprint which exists, there are many arguments which support the use of this indicator.

For a long time, evaluation of environmental impacts were production-oriented but these production-oriented environmental solutions (such as a focus on improving eco-efficiency) did not decrease environmental impacts. Development of the ecological footprint was done exactly at the time when the consumption approach started to appear in ecological economics (Wackernagel and Rees, 1996). The core and significant novelty of the ecological footprint is that its methodology and meaning is consumptioncentred; it shows the environmental impacts of consumption and it emphasises the responsibility of the consumer. Using the ecological footprint, the impacts of different types of land use can be analysed and the environmental impact of national consumption can be compared. The environmental burden generated by economic sectors can be evaluated from a responsibility-for-consumption perspective. The indicator can be used for individuals; it can be interpreted easily and it highlights individual consumer responsibility and suggests which areas of consumption consumers should address to decrease the environmental impact of their consumption. Local and global environmental responsibility can easily be connected using the ecological footprint. The results from household ecological footprint analyses can be summarised and aggregated and these results can be analysed at a regional or national level as well.

The ecological footprint is a biophysical indicator; this bring us closer to correctly analysing research questions connected to land and resource use (Borgström et al, 1999; Wackernagel et al., 1999a). The indicator incorporates impacts from international trade as well by taking into account both imported and exported products.

As the indicator compares the environmental impacts of consumption, it defines the ecological balance and defines unsustainable consumption by taking into account the finite nature of natural resources. The ecological footprint therefore suits the strong environmental sustainability approach (Neumayer, 2003).

As for the uses of the ecological footprint, it is not appropriate for measuring social welfare and non-environmental aspects of sustainability (Wackernagel, 2010). It is designed to highlight the minimum conditions for sustainability (i.e. living and consuming within the limits of natural resources). The ecological footprint is appropriate for comparing different lifestyles based on aggregate data (Wackernagel and Rees, 1996). Hammond (2006; 2007) argues that the ecological footprint is an alternative, quantitative indicator which can express the steps required to move towards a higher level of sustainability. Thus the ecological footprint and its related indicators are appropriate for showing by how far we have exceeded biophysical limits – and in which areas (Costanza, 2000).

The indicator shows for a certain date the land use required by consumption; it gives a 'snapshot' of the resource use of a given population (Wackernagel and Rees, 1996). The methodology is not dynamic, though the results can be compared over time and space as well, so changes in a dynamic system are traceable. The methodology is appropriate for expressing trends and slow changes; it can supplement well environmental indicators which measure quick changes in flows and states.

The utility of the indicator has already been tested (i.e. whether it can also be used in environmental policy, during political decision making, the environmental evaluation of production processes and its application in research projects (Herva et al, 2008; Niccolucci et al, 2008; Stoeglehner and Narodoslawsky, 2008)). One of the uses of the ecological footprint is to help decision makers (Wackernagel and Yount, 2000) by measuring and defining sustainable and unsustainable processes and products. Even the European Union has noticed the possibilities inherent in using the ecological footprint and examined whether it is appropriate for measuring the use of natural resources (Best et al., 2008). This research examined the use of the ecological footprint along with other methodological tools and indicators.

The result of the footprinting methodology is an index which makes the interpretation of environmental issues and their communication in policy, education and environmental campaigns easier, so it represents a useful tool for communicating about resource consumption. According to a survey by Szigeti (2012), the ecological footprint is the most well-known environmental indicator in Hungary. Csutora (2011) confirms that the ecological footprint is one of the most accepted and most cited indicators. The methodology has been well developed by the Global Footprint Network. The ecological footprint is an appropriate tool for drawing the attention of different social groups to their environmental load. The ecological footprint helps identify minimum conditions for sustainability; its utility is acknowledged despite its methodological shortcomings (Kitzes et al, 2009a). It can be used to broadly indicate environmental impact and it is a good tool for measuring the ecological cost of political decisions. The methodology is continuously developing; new alternatives and suggestions are evolving, taking into account the critiques which exist (Kitzes et al, 2009a).

Summarising the chapter, ecological footprinting is an appropriate methodological approach for measuring sustainability and the environmental impacts of food consumption. The ecological footprint can be used to call attention to the limits of resource use and it can indicate the use of which resources generates significant environmental load. Having a consumption approach is its great advantage, since on the one hand it is able to quantify the impacts of consumption and on the other it can be used to highlight the role of trade in the distribution of ecological, environmental resource and environmental load.

In summary, Kocsis (2010b, p.5.) states that the ecological footprinting methodology is appropriate and that "we regard this indicator as an important, approximate value of human load using the system of the living Earth and that of human control over the biosphere".

#### IV. Literature review - the environmental impacts of food consumption

The aim of this chapter is to provide a review of research which has focused on measuring the environmental impacts and resource use of food consumption and has applied land use,  $CO_2$ -emissions and the ecological footprint as indicators. I present in a separate sub-section a review of research into both environmental and health factors, which are the antecedents of my research.

# 4.1. Literature review - the land use demands, CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and ecological footprint of food consumption

Gerbens-Leenes and Nonhebel (2002a) calculated land requirements per person using production data from the Netherlands and conducted an international comparison of 14 countries in which they specified the land requirements of the most important food consumption categories and identified major consumption patterns. The authors called attention to the fact that future demands for land might increase, not only due to population growth but because of changing consumption patterns. Between 1950 and 1990 the land required for food production has grown by one third in the Netherlands due to increases in consumption of meat and due also to consumption of coffee, wine and beer which make high demands on land as well. 10% of European land use is devoted to the production and manufacturing of four drinks: beer, wine, coffee and tea.

In another piece of research, Gerbens-Leenes and Nonhebel (2002b) introduced a piece of methodology designed to define the land requirements of more than 100 food categories by which the total land requirement for consumption could be identified. Their results cannot be generalised, though with relevant and suitable data the methodology can be applied to other countries.

Pimentel and Pimentel (2003) examined the differences between the land, energy and water requirements of meat and plant-based diets, assuming that the caloric value of the diets were equal. Due to consumption of food in the USA alone, 50% of the total land, 18% of non-renewable energy sources and 80% of water is used during agricultural production. The authors compared the land, energy and water requirements of a typical modern diet with a high meat diet and a lacto-ovo-vegetarian diet. They found that a meat-based diet required more embodied energy than a plant-based diet so they regard the latter to be more sustainable. The authors state that the structure of

American agricultural production is not sustainable and it is based on excessive reliance on fossil resources. Significant structural changes would be required if the number of people who eat meat-based diets were to be decreased in number.

Cowell and Parkinson (2003) identified the land and energy use required for the United Kingdom's food consumption for 1992. They examined 14 food categories (by inspecting produced, consumed, exported and imported quantities of food) and came to the conclusion that local food production could be become a reality by changing consumer wants. Not all types of food could be produced in the United Kingdom, but their consumption could be replaced by other food types of the same category. The food consumption categories were rated regarding their contribution to self-sufficient agriculture in the UK. The authors note that the production of a food type within a country's borders is not desirable when the joint resource efficiency of production and transportation of an imported product is higher than that of the locally-produced product. In this case, the consumption of the imported product results in less environmental load and it is more reasonable to import it. The novelty in this study was the use of real consumption data in the calculations undertaken.

Schmid and Lohm (2005) analysed the environmental impacts of food consumption in the Swedish town Linköping between 1870-2000. Due to consumption and the supply of imported products the need for land has doubled, but only a quarter of the amount of local resources is needed due to improvements in the efficiency of local production.

Steinfeld et al. (2006) give a summary about the environmental impacts, trends and future prospects of livestock production. Zhu et al. (2006) examined the global meat consumption of low, middle and high income groups and likely impacts on GHG emissions. If the high-income group replaced their consumption of 10 kg of meat with non-meat products, then a significant decrease in methane and dinitrogenoxide emissions could happen, but not necessarily in the regions where the replaced food was consumed. The authors state that changing the lifestyles of high income people is not enough, as the middle income group is growing and along with it their consumption of meat. The need to change the food consumption structure was highlighted by this study.

Gerbens-Leenes and Moll (2006) identified the land, fresh water and energy needs of Dutch food consumption by conducting time-series research for 1950 and 1990. 17 food categories were analysed and grouped into five larger categories (beverages, fats and oils, meat, dairy products and cereals). Their analysis confirmed that there are growing food-consumption related demands for resources.

The land use of Dutch livestock production has been calculated by Elferink and Nonhebel (2007) who distinguished between poultry, pork and cattle production (representing 90% of Dutch meat consumption). Their results showed there could be up to three times the difference in the land requirements of the various animals.

The potential GHG emissions of future meat consumption have been examined by Fiala (2008a). According to their findings, because of expected growing demand, agriculture will have a greater role in decreasing emissions.

According to the research of Risku-Norja (2011), 70% of total emissions result from primary production in Finnish agriculture, taking into account the production of fertilizer and the energy use of agriculture as well. If a shift was made towards a strict vegetarian diet, GHG emissions could be decreased by 50%. A diet without consumption of any products made from ruminant animals could decrease the emissions of agriculture by 33%. This decrease in the emissions of agriculture would mean a 5-8% reduction of total Finnish emissions. Risku-Norja et al. (2009) analysed the environmental impacts of dietary changes. The authors stress that as the alternatives presented in the scenarios are not fully realistic, it would be instrumental to introduce changes to public catering and in the meals provided for schools. Through dietary changes, Finnish GHG emissions could be decreased by 2-6.6%.

Garnett (2009) studied the alternatives for decreasing GHG emissions in the livestock production sector. The indirect impacts of livestock production were identified using land use and  $CO_2$  emissions as indicators for the year 2050. The author framed political recommendations in order to reduce emissions, taking into account the need to increase food security.

Various food consumption scenarios were developed by Stehfest et al. (2009) in order to examine the opportunities to reduce environmental impacts through dietary changes.  $CO_2$  emissions could be globally reduced by 20% between 2010 and 2050 and the costs of climate change could be lowered by 50% if people had healthier diets (i.e. consumed less meat). Stehfest et al. (2009) used GHG,  $CO_2$  emissions and land use as indicators in the scenarios.

Risku-Norja (2011) analysed the GHG emissions of a vegetarian diet and confirmed that through dietary changes negative environmental impacts could be mitigated. Though GHG emissions would decrease if people followed vegetarian diets, this change would not be optimal for biodiversity. Her study highlights that not only relative results but reductions in absolute terms are important.

Huber at al. (2011) examined the  $CO_2$  emissions of German lifestyle groups, stressing that technological development is not enough to mitigate environmental impacts. The lifestyles and daily routines of consumers should be investigated. Their results show that  $CO_2$  emissions from the food consumption of the lifestyle group with a higher income and social status is higher, but the environmentally-conscious 'eco-elite' have lower  $CO_2$ -emissions due to their lower consumption of meat and fish.

Palmer (1998) used the ecological footprint to define the environmental impacts of US food consumption. According to the author's results, red meat consumption accounts for 79% of the ecological footprint. American food consumption is not sustainable and red meat consumption should be reduced by 50%.

Wackernagel (1999b) shows the methodology for bottom-up calculation of the ecological footprint, using the example of Italian food consumption.

White (2000) identified and compared the ecological footprint of the American, European and Oceanic diet and he further examined the differences between a meatbased and a vegetarian diet. His research pointed to the higher impact of meat consumption in all the regions which were analysed.

Deutsch and Folke (2005) analysed in their research the ecological footprint of Swedish food consumption between 1962 and 1994. The consumption of locallyproduced products has dropped to one half of former times because of the increase in the supply of imported products. It was found that 35% of the environmental impact of food consumption related to land use beyond the country borders and a great proportion of fodder growing for livestock production required foreign land use. The study highlights the dependency of Swedish agriculture on foreign land and the significance of Swedish households' consumption of food.

Ádám et al. (2010) studied the ecological footprints of Hungarian youngsters according to their food consumption patterns. The ecological footprint was significantly lower for those who consumed less meat and fish. Ádám et al. (2011) also analysed the ecological footprint of Hungarian organic food consumption and stated that those who consume organic food more often can claim to have a lower footprint than those who never consume it. These two studies are based on a smaller, non-representative sample; furthermore, the ecological footprint intensities were not calculated from the academic
footprint methodology of the Global Footprint Network (a scoring system was used, which leads to less reliable results).

Chen et al. (2010) conducted an analysis of the environmental impacts of food consumption in rural China between 1980 and 2010 using the ecological footprint. The environmental load of food consumption has increased continuously over the last 30 years, particularly because of increases in meat consumption, which has resulted in a greater demand for fodder. The consumption of seafood has grown as well. The increasing productivity of land has compensated for some of the increases in requirements for land. Results show that, while consumption patterns have changed, the food category with the greatest ecological footprint still remains cereal production and consumption, although this decreased throughout the period examined. Ecological footprints show close correlation with expenditure on food and this may be traceable using time-series analysis as well.

### 4.2. The environmental and health aspects of food consumption

There is more and more research in the field of environmental and ecological economics which is designed to examine both the environmental and ecological aspects of food consumption. However, there have only been a few diet-related studies which have supplemented examination of health aspects with environmental and sustainability arguments. Not many research and health recommendations exist which link these two topics.

Research by Gussow and Clancy (1986) was the very first to define a sustainable diet as a combination of environmental and health factors, following an examination of American agriculture. The authors studied environmental and health arguments together and their health recommendations were supplemented by environmental arguments which highlighted the importance of these two aspects.

Herrin and Gussow (1989) analysed local food consumption from health and environmental perspectives. They looked for alternative healthy and balanced diets which were based on local products, taking into account the seasonality of the products and their local availability. The need for a sustainability-based dietary guide is emphasized. Gussow (1999) lists the environmental and health advantages of local food consumption and reacts to the reviews of his previous article (Herrin and Gussow, 1989). Later, Leitzmann (2003) provided a survey of the history and definition of nutrition ecology and called attention to the role of dietetics in sustainability issues.

Horrigan et al. (2002) evaluate the environmental impacts of different production methods based on a literature review. They call attention to the relationship between the structure of food consumption and its health impacts. They find that decreases in meat consumption would be favourable both for environmental and health reasons. Furthermore, they frame the conditions required for sustainable agriculture, stress the need for individual and collective solutions and stress that not only resource use but the future perspectives of food security should be analysed.

Wallén et al. (2004) looked at the impacts of dietary changes on energy use and greenhouse gas emissions. Typical Swedish diets were compared to a 'sustainable diet' which the authors defined. The concluded that only minor energy and GHG savings could be realised by changing the structure of diets without changing the conditions of food production. According to their results, greater reductions could be made by changing agricultural conditions which are presently based on fossil energy use, and changing distribution systems.

The results of Michaelowa and Dransfeld (2008) point out that healthier food consumption and a reduction in obesity would not only lead to the reduction of GHGs, but if people had lower body weights the greenhouse-gas emissions from transportation would decrease as well.

Duchin (2005) examined the health and environmental aspects of food consumption and claims for the (mostly plant-based) Mediterranean diet. This diet fulfils requirements from both health and environmental perspectives and is based on Greek nutritional patterns of the 1960s. According to Duchin's arguments, besides analysing the consumption patterns of countries separately, more comprehensive research with more countries and regions is needed. Such research could contribute to the strategy of the WHO. Duchin points out that the present Western and American diet can lead to obesity and other chronic illnesses, primarily due to its high caloric value, animal-based dishes and added sugar.

Research from Walker et al. (2005) also presents environmental and health aspects and is one of the few pieces of work which draws the attention to preserving both the health of humans and the health of ecosystems. The authors, after presenting the connections between environmental and health issues, conclude by giving recommendations for public policy De Boer et al. (2006) analyses the structure and quantity of protein consumption (g/person) from animal and plant-based diets in the EU-15. The authors used the database of protein consumption of FAOStat and Eurostat and conducted a multivariate principal component analysis. The consumption of animal and plant-based protein differs significantly in countries with different food production and supply systems. Portugal, Greece and Italy are one pole of consumption (where most of the protein comes from consumption of vegetables and cereals) while the Netherlands, Sweden and Finland represent the other pole, where animal-based protein consumption is dominant.

Frey and Barett (2006) examined (in Scotland) the ecological footprint of food products taking into account the source of production and the impacts of imported products. Results show the high impacts of meat-based and imported food. The authors compared the actual average ecological footprint with the footprint of a diet based on nutritional recommendations, called attention to the need for structural changes and to changes in quantities as well. With a healthy diet the ecological footprint could be decreased by 15% and with a vegetarian diet the reduction could be 34%. Consuming organic products would not provide for a significant reduction in the ecological footprint (estimated at 1%). Frey and Barett (2007) calculated the differences between actual and healthy diets in the United Kingdom as well. They find that a healthy diet would reduce the ecological footprint by 22% and a vegetarian diet would contribute to a reduction of 18% (and organic food consumption by 2%). The authors call for greater harmonisation of environmental and health policy measures.

Carlsson-Kanyama and González (2009) discuss the need for integrating environmental and health education and ensuring their combined application.

Friel et al. (2009) compare the opportunities for reducing  $CO_2$  and GHG emissions: reduction from the production side by using more efficient technology, or reduction from the consumer side stemming from changes in diets. The analysis was conducted using the example of the United Kingdom and Sao Paolo and possible consequences on human health were analysed. The authors state that technological reduction alone would not lead to any health impacts but that consuming less meat would contribute to lowering  $CO_2$  emissions. Additionally, according to their model, coronary heart disease would decrease in the United Kingdom because of the decrease in consumption of animal fats.

Lock et al. (2010) developed four scenarios for examining the health and economic consequences of consuming according to the WHO guidelines, using the United Kingdom and Brazil as locations for the analytical procedure. Results show that, in the United Kingdom, a country with a higher income, the health impacts of decreasing meat consumption would be greater than for Brazil. As for economic impacts, reducing meat consumption would be more harmful to Brazil (i.e. lead to a decrease in GDP and a rise in unemployment) where food production and agriculture has a bigger role in the economy and the reduction in demand for meat would create a surplus labour force.

Tukker et al. (2011) investigated the impacts of making a change towards a healthier diet in Europe by analysing the food consumption clusters of the EU-27 countries, taking into account meat and vegetable consumption. According to these results, Hungary belongs to the Western European cluster, having the highest calorie intake per person (according to 2003 data). The high caloric value is due to consumption of animal fats, dairy products and alcoholic beverages. Five consumption clusters can be defined according to Tukker et al. (2011); they are more or less named after their geographical locations:

• Nordic countries and France: very low vegetal/animal energy ratio

• Western Europe: less animal-based consumption (in terms of calorie, protein and fats) than in Northern Europe, but low vegetal/animal energy ratio

• South-Western European: low animal fat consumption, high vegetable and fish consumption

• Eastern Europe: high vegetal/animal energy ratio, lower fish consumption than in Southern Europe

• South-East-European: high vegetal/animal energy ratio, high cereal consumption

The authors examined three possible scenarios for changes in diets using a status quo: 1. the recommended healthy diet; 2. a recommended healthy diet, with less consumption of red meat; and, 3. a Mediterranean diet with less meat consumption. They assessed impacts on the following environmental areas: climate change potential, ozone depletion, eco-toxicity, freshwater eutrophication, terrestrial acidification, etc. Environmental input-output tables were used to model the impacts of calorie and dietary changes on the environmental indicators. In the case of a shift to a healthy diet there

would not be any significant changes in environmental impact. Impacts could be reduced by 8% if consumption of red meat was replaced with poultry, fish and cereals (this would mean a total reduction of 2% of household environmental impacts). The results take into account the rebound effects as well, but land use change was not analysed. Shifting to a Mediterranean-type diet would result in a 10% reduction in environmental impacts, but according to the authors it is not totally obvious if this type of diet would be ideal from an environmental or health point of view. The authors draw our attention to the secondary impacts of dietary changes: they note that the importexport balance of the EU-27 would change as a reduction in meat consumption could have impacts on external trade; it could therefore mean a decrease in meat imports from non-European countries. Such a reduction in meat consumption could have an impact on the European meat industry itself as well, and the reduction in demand would likely be compensated for by growing exports. The study highlights the fact that the greater the reduction in meat desired from a dietary perspective, the more drastically changes are needed in consumption structure. Furthermore, the Mediterranean diet is rich in fish and seafood, so the environmental impact of increasing fish consumption should be investigated in the future.

Macdiarmid et al. (2011) examined the possible effects of a low-impact and healthy diet until the year 2020. They claim that there are no significant differences between a healthy diet and a low-impact diet. The emphasis is on consuming less meat and diary products and more vegetables. The study does not take into account the seasonality or local nature of the food products.

Fazeni and Steinmüller (2011) analysed changes in land and energy use and CO<sub>2</sub> and GHG emissions. Emissions from agriculture could be decreased by 37%, energy use by 38% and significant changes could be made in land use as well if healthy food consumption patterns were adopted. The recommendations of the German Nutrition Society were applied when developing a healthy diet. Meat consumption could be decreased by 60%, but the consumption of vegetable and fruit could increase. The impacts would be lower energy use and GHG emissions and a significant increase in the area of available land which could be suitable for producing renewable energy. Various scenarios were developed which included examination of factors of self-sufficiency and the importation of products.

Wilkins et al. (2008) call for the need to integrate food system awareness into professional practice and the need to ensure that health and environmental issues are handled together.

Peters et al. (2007) have investigated the land requirements of 42 diets which measured the impacts of fat and meat consumption. The authors concluded that almost a fivefold difference in per capita land demand (0.18–0.86 ha) is possible according to which diet is followed, and that a high-fat vegetarian diet can require more land to produce than a lower fat diet containing meat.

Wilkins et al. (2008) examined the land demands of low-carbohydrate, highprotein diets and those of a diet based on official nutritional recommendations. A highprotein diet has a land requirement that is twice as high as the recommended diet.

In some countries guidebooks exist which present details on how a sustainable diet could be realised by integrating health and environmental aspects – for example, in Great Britain (Reddy et al., 2009), and in Sweden (National Food Administration, 2009). These guidelines are based on environmental considerations and not primarily on health-related factors. A recommendation published in the United States (The 2010 Dietary Guidelines Advisory Committee, 2010) advises people to consume less meat and more vegetables but does not recommend a diet without meat because of the possible health risks. According to the publication, the replacement of meat with dairy products would not necessarily decrease the environmental impact of the diet, which was also the conclusion of other research (e.g. Stehfest et al., 2009). Research by the Health Council of the Netherlands (2011) summarises findings on the topic of healthy food consumption and its related environmental impacts and confirms that there is a strong correlation between environmental impact and diet.

### **4.3. Summary of the literature review**

Different methodologies exist which are designed to measure environmental impact but the results lead to the same conclusion – namely, agricultural production has the largest environmental impact when taking into account the whole lifecycle of food consumption. The impacts of transportation and packaging follow, but they are usually lower than agricultural production itself. Fuchs and Lorek (2000) summarised the literature on household food consumption patterns and they conclude that food

consumption should be analysed using a global model, and that global measures are needed to decrease its impacts.

I may therefore conclude that the production of vegetables and fruit requires less land and energy and causes less GHG emissions than the production of meat – but only if the transportation impacts of the vegetables do not negatively compensate for their production benefits.

White (2000), Gerbens-Leenes and Nonhebel (2002a-b) and Tukker et al. (2006) analyse the environmental impacts of meat consumption and draw the reader's attention to the importance of consuming less meat. Results from Gerbens-Leenes and Nonhebel (2002a-b) show that food consumption patterns (and consumption structure) could play more important role in questions of resource use than population growth in the future, and that the topic of growing land use should be dealt with as well.

There is a growing need for a diet which is more healthy than the present one and from an environmental perspective this could be a low-impact diet, as it requires less land use and causes fewer  $CO_2$  emissions (Stehfest et al., 2009; Gerbens-Leenes et al., 2002a-b; Frey et al., 2007).

After this survey of the relevant research, as presented here, I can state that the following important research topics were dealt with concerning the literature on the environmental impacts of food consumption:

- The environmental impacts of meat and plant-based diets
- Time-series analysis of the impacts of food consumption
- The environmental impacts of food categories
- Potential reductions in impacts from changing the food consumption structure

There is further research which takes into account both environmental and health aspects but this constitutes a separate field of research.

The following two tables give a systematised overview of the relevant research. Table 13 shows work which has been conducted primarily from an environmental point of view. Table 14 shows studies which have integrated environmental and health aspects more or less equally.

The research is grouped by the type of methodology utilised.

Author	Year	Journal	Subject of analysis	Applied methodology and indicator	Main results and conclusions
de Boer et al.	2006	Ecological Economics	structure and quantity of protein consumption in the EU-15	Clustering the consumption structure of countries	There are two poles of protein consumption
Garnett	2009	Food Policy	global livestock production	CO <sub>2</sub> and GHG accounting	Political recommendations in order to reduce emissions
Huber et al.	2011	Sustainable Consumption- Towards Action and Impacts Conference	food consumption of German lifestyle groups	CO <sub>2</sub> accounting	Lifestyle group with a higher income and social status have higher CO2 emissions
Chen et al.	2010	Agriculture and Agricultural Science Procedia	food consumption in rural China between 1980 and 2010	ecological footprint	Increasing ecological footprint due to structural changes, which is compensated for some of the increases in requirements for land
Deutsch and Folke	2005	Ecosystem	Swedish food consumption between 1962 and 1994	ecological footprint	Increasing ecological footprint and increase in the supply of imported products, consumption of locally-produced products has dropped to one half of former times

### Table 13: A summary of studies on the environmental impact of food consumption

Author	Year	Journal	Subject of analysis	Applied methodology and indicator	Main results and conclusions	
Palmer	1998	Electronic Green Journal	US food consumption	ecological footprint	Red meat consumption accounts for 79% of the ecological footprint	
Wackernagel	1999b	Ecological Economics	Italian food consumption	ecological footprint	Methodology for bottom-up calculation of the ecological footprint	
White	2000	Ecogical Economics	American, European and Oceanic diet	ecological footprint	Diets with higher meat consumption have higher footprints	
Duchin	2005	Journal of Industrial Ecology	Western and American diet	literature review	Mediterranean diet (mostly plant-based) has lower environmental impact	
Elferink and Nonhebel	2007	Journal of Cleaner Production	Dutch livestock production and meat consumption	land use	There could be up to three times the difference in the land requirements of poultry and cattle production	
Gerbens-Leenes and Nonhebel	2002a	Ecological Economics	international comparison of 14 European countries	land use	Demands for land might increase, not only due to population growth but because of changing consumption patterns	
Gerbens-Leenes and Nonhebel	2002b	Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment	100 food categories in the Netherlands	land use	Development of methodology designed to define the land requirements, methodology can be applied to other countries	
Schmid and Lohm	2005	Human Ecology	food consumption in the Swedish town Linköping between1870-2000	land use	Due to consumption and the supply of imported products the need for land has doubled	

Author	Year	Journal	Subject of analysis	Applied methodology and indicator	Main results and conclusions
Cowel and Parkinson	2003	Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment	food consumption in the UK, 14 food categories	land use; energy analysis	Local food production could become a reality by changing consumer wants
Gerbens-Leenes and Nonhebel	2007	Pathways towards Sustainable Food Consumption Patterns	Dutch food consumption between 1950 and 1990, 17 food categories	land use; water use; energy analysis	Increasing reource demand because of changes in consumption structure
Pimentel and Pimentel	2003	American Journal of Clinical Nutrition	meat and plant-based diets in the USA	land use; water use; energy analysis	Significant differences between resource demand of meat and plant-based diets
Fiala	2008	Ecological Economics	global meat consumption and future changes in demand	GHG accounting	Agriculture will have a greater role in decreasing emissions
Risku-Norja	2009	Ecological Economics	Finnish food consumption and structural changes	GHG accounting	70% of total emissions result from primary production in Finnish agriculture, a diet without consumption of any products made from ruminant animals could decrease the total Finnish emissions by 5- 8%

Source: Author's own compilation (2012)

Author	Year	Journal	Subject of analysis	Applied methodology and indicator	Main results and conclusions
Wallén et al.	2004	Environmental Science and Policy	typical Swedish diets were compared to a 'sustainable diet'	energy analysis and GHG accounting	Minor energy and GHG savings could be realised by changing the structure of diets without changing the conditions of food production
Tukker et al.	2011	Ecological Economics	food consumption clusters of the EU-27 countries	environmental impact analysis	Food consumption clusters of the EU-27 countries, three possible scenarios for changes in diets, shifting to a Mediterranean-type diet would result in a moderate reduction in environmental impacts
Collins and Fairchild	2007	Journal of Environmental Policy and Planning	food consumption in Cardiff	ecological footprint	Actual food consumption is moderately healthy, minor changes in food consumption could result in significant changes of the ecological footprint
Frey and Barrett	2006	Report for Scotland's Global Footprint Project	food consumption in Scotland, typical Scottish diets were compared to a healthy diet	ecological footprint	With a healthy diet the ecological footprint could be decreased by 15%

### Table 14: A summary of studies on environmental and health aspects of food consumption

Author	Year	Journal	Subject of analysis	Applied methodology and indicator	Main results and conclusions	
Frey and Barrett	2007	International Ecological Footprint Conference	food consumption in the UK, differences between actual and healthy diets	ecological footprint	A healthy diet would reduce the ecological footprint by 22%	
Stehfest et al.	2009	Climatic Change	global food consumption between 2010 and 2050	land use, CO <sub>2</sub> and GHG accounting	CO <sub>2</sub> emissions could be globally reduced by 20% if people had healthier diets	
Fazeni and Steinmüller	2011	Energy, Sustainability and Society	agricultural production and food consumption in Austria	land use; energy analysis and GHG accounting	Meat consumption could be decreased by 60%, emissions from agriculture could be decreased by 37%	
Friel et al.	2009	Lancet	food consumption and state of health in the United Kingdom and Sao Paolo GHG accounting		Technological reduction alone would not lead to any health impacts but that consuming less meat would contribute to lowering CO2 emissions	
Macdiarmid et al.	2011	World Wildlife Fund Report (Livewell report)	differences between a healthy diet and a low-impact diet	GHG accounting	There are no significant differences in structure and environmental impacts between the two types of diets	

Source: Author's own compilation (2012)

#### 4.4. Food consumption in Europe and in Hungary

In this section I examine the changes in the quantity and structure of food consumption in Europe and Hungary.

Expenditure on food has risen by 10% in absolute terms during the last decade in Europe (Eurostat, 2009); food purchases account on average for 12% of total household expenditure. In lower income countries expenditure on food consumption takes 20% of household expenditure. Despite increasing expenditure and growing incomes, expenditure on food is continuously decreasing (as part of total expenditure). Between 1995 and 2005, the proportion spent on food fell from 14.1% to 12.5% (EEA, 2005). The price and income elasticity of food consumption is already low. Expenditures on food consumption have decoupled from GDP growth trends across the European region but if we look at structural changes, tendencies are revealed that compensate for this development.

According to a report by the FAO (2010), calorie intake has increased both in developed and developing countries and the share in the diet of animal-based products and vegetables is increasing. Consumption of vegetables, meat and milk per person have increased worldwide. Fat intake has risen (especially the consumption of fats and oils of vegetable origin) – by 112% in developed countries and by 191% in developing countries in the years from 1961-1963 to 2001-2003.

Meat consumption has tripled during the last 50 years across the world (275 million tons in 2007) while the world's population has only risen by 81%, so meat is increasingly consumed. Rising income levels have influenced the consumption of food as well. According to Grigg (1994), in Northern and Western Europe a rising income level has contributed to a preference for animal-based products. Calorie intake is rising in Europe as well (by 7% between 1994-2007) so the average daily calorie intake per person is now 3400 kcal, which is above the recommended level. Despite increasing health consciousness, the numbers of those who are overweight or obese is high in European countries.

There has been a change both in the quantity and in the structure of the food that is being consumed. Consumption of resource-intensive products has increased within the European Union: a trend towards increasing consumption of meat, cheese, fruits and bottled beverages can be observed. Figure 2 shows changes in European food consumption. Between 1990 and 1994 the quantity of food consumed per person decreased slightly while from 1994 consumption increased. The quantity of food consumed increased by 10% between 1994 and 2007. Consumption of cereals lessened but the consumption of other foods increased. Consumption of meat, fruit and vegetables particularly increased. There is a significant difference between the meat consumption of developed and developing countries, as 78.6 kg of meat/person are consumed on average in developed countries and 31.9 kg/person in developing countries. The world average consumption is 42 kg/person (FAO, 2011a). Consumption of fruit grew between 1990 and 2007 by 26% because of the increasing supply and the decreasing price of imported fruit.



Figure 2: Food consumption in Europe (1990-2007)

Source: Author's own compilation based on FAO (2012)

There have not been any significant changes in the structure of food consumption; the proportion of cereals in the average diet slightly decreased (from 19% to 17%), the share of fruit consumption grew from 10% to 12%, and the proportion of other food products was stable between 1990 and 2007.

It is important to note that a dramatic increase in imported products occurred (EEA, 2010) due to the increasing globalisation of the food market. Demand for fresh, seasonal vegetables and fruits decreased but demand for imported products grew, thus the environmental impact of transportation also grew.

An increasing amount of food waste presents a problem as well. In Europe and North-America, food waste from households amounts, on average, to 95-115 kg per person, while in Africa and South and Southeast-Asia it is only 6-11 kg (FAO, 2011b).

In order to evaluate the characteristics and trends in food consumption, analysis of the consumption quantity and structure might not be enough; food consumption that takes place outside the home can play an important role in overall household consumption (Payer et al., 2000; OECD, 2002; EEA, 2005). Changing lifestyles have lead to there being less time available for food preparation and new food consumption habits have developed (Szabó, 1998; Gaál, 1998; Orbánné Nagy, 2006). People eat out more frequently due to rising income levels and an increase in the number of small and single households (EEA, 2005). Omann et al. (2007) states that consumption of preprepared and frozen food occurs more frequently, and this implies an increase in the consumption of ready-to-eat, highly processed food.

The same trends can be observed in Hungary as for Europe regarding food expenditure. Expenditure on food per person has risen but accounts for a decreasing share of total household expenditure. Between 2000 and 2009, expenditure on food rose by 50% although it accounted for 28% of total expenditure in 2000 and 22% in 2009. In this period the consumer price index grew as well.

Examining the changes in the quantities of food consumed shows that, after the economic downturn in the 1990s, the quantity of food consumed decreased compared to the previous decades in all food categories except for dairy products and milk consumption (KSH, 2011). Since the 1990s meat consumption has decreased and the structure of diets has changed favourably as well. In Hungary the consumption of poultry comprises a great part of all meat consumed. This tendency is favourable in environmental terms as poultry has a lower environmental load than pork or beef.

Analysing food consumption in the period between 2002 and 2009 shows that the quantity of food consumed decreased by 18%. This may be due to rising food prices. A decrease can be observed for all food categories with the exception of yoghurt, sour cream, cheese products and other dairy products. Besides these items, the consumption of peaches (+33%) and cabbages (+23%) increased after 2002, while the consumption of other vegetable and fruit categories decreased.

The proportion of bread and cereals consumed did not change in the last period; it accounts for 23% of all consumption. The share of poultry and pork, meanwhile, grew as a percentage of total meat consumption. Poultry products comprised 18% of total meat consumption in 1980 while in 2009 they accounted for 45% of all meat consumed. Consumption of pork grew from 40.2% to 43.8% and beef fell from 9.6% to 4.2% (KSH, 2011).

Consumption of meat products slightly increased as a part of total consumption. 13% of all the poultry consumed nationally and 40% of all pork consumed was imported in 2009 (KSH, 2011). During the last few years consumption of milk and dairy products has not changed a lot; they account for 22 % of all products consumed. The quantity of fat consumed (37 kg/persons) did not change notably; its share remained the same. However, the structure of fat consumption did change (consumption of vegetable fats has doubled since 1990, while the consumption of animal fats has decreased by 44%. This can be regarded as a favourable change).

Consumption of potatoes fluctuates significantly; they account, on average, for 10% of all food products consumed. The share of consumption of fruit and vegetables has increased since 1990 and they now account for 31% of all products consumed. The quantity of production, the amount imported and available income influence how much fruit and vegetables are consumed. Some of these items are considered to be basic foods while others are seen to be luxury goods with high prices and income elasticity.

Figure 3 shows food consumption after 2002. A surprising trend can be noted: decreasing food consumption in comparison to the growing European trend.



### Figure 3: Food consumption in Hungary (2002-2009)

Source: Author's own compilation based on KSH (2012c)

Energy intake exceeds the recommended level by 21% according to nutritional data. This is due to the excessive consumption of fat (Table 15). Levels of consumption of carbohydrates are optimal while protein consumption also exceeds the recommended level (KSH, 2011).

Category	2008	2009	Average of 2004-2008	Recommended <sup>3</sup>
Energy, kJ	13372	13199	13519	10886
Protein, g	101	100	103	80
Fats, g	143	143	145	85
Carbohydrates,				
g	380	371	384	370

Source: KSH (2011)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The recommended nutritional intake for an adult who undertakes moderate physical activity (KSH, 2011)

Gulyás et al. (2007) has stated that the perception and treatment of environmental problems is less well recognised by Hungarians and some development has taken place in areas that are supported by the media, such as selective waste collection, which in reality has a marginal environmental impact compared to changes that could be made in other more significant fields of consumption (food consumption, transportation, and housing). There have been no serious efforts to make consumption more sustainable. Infrastructural conditions are missing and there are shortcomings with environmentally friendly consumption attitudes as well. Environmental consciousness plays an important role in making consumption more sustainable (Zsóka, 2007).

A growing amount of imported products contributes to an increase in the environmental load as well. 30% of all food products are imported into Hungary today. This figure was only 7-10% in 1990, so in the last twenty years the share of imported products has tripled, which contributes to increasing the environmental load from transportation at a global level.

After analysing the status of European and Hungarian food consumption patterns I now examine the differences between them. Table 16 summarises the changes in quantity and structure for the most important food categories between 1990 and 2007.

It can be clearly seen that (with the exception of consumption of fat), the average Hungarian consumes less food (in all food categories) than the average European. When comparing this data to the Western European average, the difference is even greater. The same trend can be found with the consumption of cereals, vegetable and fruit. The quantity and share of fat in the diet did not change in Europe or in Hungary. Different trends can be seen with consumption of meat: while meat consumption is increasing in Europe and its share does not appear likely to change (or perhaps only marginally) according to expectations, in Hungary the amount of meat consumed is decreasing and its share is not expected to grow in the future.

From an environmental point of view the Hungarian trend towards consuming less meat, which is opposite to the trend in Europe, is favourable. The same can be said about consumption of dairy products: despite the trend to growth in Europe, Hungarian consumption is declining.

The quantity and share of imported products in the diet is increasing dynamically both in Hungary and in Europe, especially with meat, vegetables and fruit products. This means an increasing environmental load because of the often resourceintensive methods of production and transportation.

### Table 16: Comparison of European and Hungarian food consumption trends(1990-2007)

	Eu	rope	Hungary		
Consumption category	Change in quantity (kg/person/year)	Proportion of total food consumed (%)	Change in quantity (kg/person/year)	Proportion of total food consumed (%)	
Cereals	138 kg → 131kg decreasing	19.3% → 17.6% decreasing	110 kg → 88 kg decreasing	$16\% \rightarrow 13\%$ decreasing	
Meat	81 kg on average, but growing tendency	11% no change/increasing	73 kg → 63 kg decreasing	9% - 11% no change	
Dairy products	210 kg → 221 kg increasing	29% no change	169 kg → 163 kg decreasing	25 % no change	
Fats	28.5 kg no change	3.8 % no change	38.6 kg → 37.4 kg no change	6 % no change	
Fruits	$73 \text{ kg} \rightarrow 93 \text{ kg}$ increasing	$10.2\% \rightarrow 12.4\%$ increasing	155 kg →		
Vegetables	107 kg → 117 kg increasing	$15\% \rightarrow 15,6\%$ increasing	194 kg increasing	$23\% \rightarrow 31\%$ increasing	
Share of imported products in consumption	meat +120% cereals +83% vegetables +174% (FAO, 2010)	increasing	increasing	$7-10\% \rightarrow 30\%$ increasing	

Source: Author's own compilation based on FAO (2012) and KSH (2012c)

To sum up, we can see that for some food categories Hungarian trends are different to European trends. The total amount of food an average Hungarian consumes is less than an average European. Consumption of fish and milk is lower than the European average – in fact, consumption of fruit, fish and cheese in East and Central Europe is about the half of the consumption of the EU-15 countries. Looking at these changes in consumption patterns we can see the trend that was highlighted by Lehota (2004): the quantity of food consumed has peaked with high income countries, but

structural changes are significant. In Hungary, as a middle-income EU country, both changes in quantity and structure are still foreseeable. Consumption of cereals and carbohydrates may have plateaued, while more fruit and vegetables are being eaten. Because of the increasing share of imported products Hungary is liable to become increasingly dependent on the natural resources of other countries. This may lead to social and environmental problems in the future.

Food consumption trends cannot be solely evaluated based on statistical data. GFK Institute has carried out a representative survey of adult Hungarians every two years to analyse food consumption patters since 1989. According to the results of the 2009 survey (GFK, 2009), the preference for meat has not changed in the last few years. 94% of respondents prefer poultry and they eat poultry three times a week on average. Results also show that Hungarians eat on average 3.5 times a day.

The GFK survey supports the indication that consumption has decreased in most food categories. In 2008, GFK together with TÁRKI created a typology of eight typical consumer groups based on consumption patterns using the new model of universal consumer segmentation. The structure of these groups is characterised in their publication (GFK, 2009). The GFK survey measures preferences for food categories and not actual consumption quantities.

Knowing the results of previous research studies summarised in Chapter IV, I present the research aims and hypotheses in the next chapter.

### V. Research aims and hypotheses

The central focus of this dissertation is to analyse the environmental impacts of food consumption in Hungary, with a particular view to looking at both the environmental and health aspects of food consumption. In this chapter I present my research questions and hypotheses which reflect on the previous research questions and the results emerging from the relevant literature.

My research is designed to provide answers to such questions that fit with the presented theoretical background and supplement the previous results and shortcomings of previous academic research.

#### 5.1. Empirical research aims

The aim of my research is to reveal the theoretical and empirical shortcomings of the international literature and to supplement it using empirical results. Based on the international and national research studies which were presented in Chapter IV, the following statements can be made:

- Less research has so far been done on food consumption compared to other consumption areas, though its importance and environmental impacts are significant (Lorek and Spangenberg, 2001b; Csutora, 2012). In my research I present the importance of this consumption sector by quantifying its environmental burden and I take into account health recommendations as well in order to examine what the opportunities are for decreasing environmental impacts by changing consumption levels and structures. My research is done using under the banner of strong sustainability and recognises the environmental consequences of resource consumption and the need for lifestyle changes to be made.
- Former research on this topic was typically not done using surveys but rather using statistical databases of food consumption compiled by statistical institutes. These previous studies do not necessarily show the actual food consumption patterns of consumers. Some pieces of research which use surveys in their research methodology did not use representative surveys. These research studies are mostly based on Western European samples, but as for the impacts of food consumption there can be great differences between countries, as the findings of Tukker et al. (2011) confirm. Because of these previously mentioned facts it is

hypothesised that better, more accurate results can be obtained using a database based on a representative survey which can allow the analysis of real, actual food consumption patterns. This is why I use a database based on a survey in my research.

- Furthermore, there has not yet been a representative survey undertaken in Hungary which was designed to measure the ecological footprint of food consumption patterns. I intend to use the ecological footprint indicator in my methodological approach; its methodological suitability has been presented and proven in Chapter III. Few pieces of research have used this indicator so far, though both from a methodological point of view and from the perspective of communicating results, this indicator is highly appropriate.
- Previous academic studies did not differentiate by occupational activity and social segments in their examination of food consumption and its environmental impacts. Many studies have simply examined averages (i.e. have not differentiated using food consumption structure), although when analysing food consumption the various demands for energy and nutrient intake have to be taken into account based on different activities and occupational activities. Research which investigates food consumption patterns and impacts based on occupational activity has yet to be done. My research is designed to provide a new perspective and improve and extend the findings of previous research in the academic literature.
- Food consumption directly determines the health and well-being of individuals, so I think it is necessary to take into account health aspects when examining the environmental impact of food consumption. I carry out a scenario analysis concerning possibilities for reducing environmental impacts. I examine whether changing the structure of consumption is sufficient for decreasing the ecological footprint or if there is a need to modify the level of consumption as well.

Based on the statements above, I present the hypotheses of my research below.

#### 5.2. Research hypotheses

In the literature review (Chapter II and IV) it was seen that socio-demographical variables influence the consumption of food in various ways in different countries and according to different social groups. By investigating the first four hypotheses we can receive an answer to the question of which socio-demographic variables influence food consumption to a great extent. Variance analysis was used during this part of the research (using a significance level of 5%) (H1-H4).

#### H1: Ecological footprints are significantly different according to level of education

I expect that people with higher education degrees have lower ecological footprints, as they are more environmental and health-conscious, as presented in pervious scientific research (e.g. Irala-Estevez et al., 2000; Trichopoulou et al., 2002).

### H2: Ecological footprints are significantly different according to gender

#### H3: Ecological footprints are significantly different according to age groups

# H4: The ecological footprint of more actively working people will be higher than that of people with lower intensity jobs

Gender, age and type of occupation basically determine nutritional requirements and the structure of food consumption (James and Schofield, 1990; FAO, 2001).

In H2, H3 and H4 hypotheses I analyse the ecological footprint of food consumption using these factors. I expect that ecological footprints are significantly different as people of different genders and ages have different nutritional needs. In H4 I suppose that people who undertake different physical activities have significantly different ecological footprints.

# H5: The ecological footprint of higher income groups is offset by their healthier consumption structure

With hypothesis H5 the relationship between the level of income and the ecological footprint of food consumption is a particularly interesting question. Having a higher income could be presumed to increase the quantity of food consumed. However, it may also be supposed that people with higher incomes are more likely to lead more health conscious lifestyles and could therefore consume more moderately. It is an important question whether a higher income makes our consumption of food healthier.

# H6: Well-defined consumer groups can be defined based on the structure of their food consumption

I hypothesise that consumers in Hungary can be characterised according to food consumption structures. Identifying typical food consumption structures can help in reaching consumers by an environmental policy aiming at decreasing environmental impacts.

# H7: Environmental and health aspects are compatible with each other: modifying consumption structure can lead to both a healthier and a more sustainable way of consuming food

I examine in this hypothesis whether environmental and health aspects could be compatible and I expect that healthier consumption of food has lower ecological footprints in Hungary.

### **VI. Research results**

#### 6.1. Survey and database used in the research

Quantitative analytical methods are needed due to the research aims. During this research I carried out a cross-sectional analysis where I used the database of a survey which was carried out within a sustainable consumption project. I personally took part in compiling the survey questions. Research based on surveys is adequate for "descriptive, explanatory and explorative goals and they are mostly used in such studies where the individual is the unit of analysis" (Babbie, 2003, p.274.)

The survey method is especially suitable for examining large data samples in a descriptive way. When preparing the survey we took into account methodological recommendations concerning survey formulation; furthermore a test-survey inquiry was done before the final survey was conducted and we piloted the questions of the questionnaire using a small sample. During the formulation of the survey the necessary mathematical/statistical requirements were considered and taken into account.

The survey was done within the monthly survey 'Omnibus' conducted by TÁRKI Zrt. in April 2010. Interviewers were used to help individuals complete the questionnaire. Filling out the questionnaire using interviewers increases the reliability of the survey results as experienced interviewers have already done the survey, have been presented with the scientific background of the research beforehand and have been coached about how to help conduct the survey. Furthermore, using interviewers has been shown to increase the willingness to answer of respondents.

The population unit of the research is the total Hungarian population. A large sample survey was undertaken with a sample size of 1012 persons. The sample included adults (those above the age of 18, with a permanent address and not living in an institution) who represented the Hungarian population. A large sample size makes it possible to generalise the results although avoidance of 'overgeneralisation' has to be taken into account, and outliers should be examined (Babbie, 2003).

With a big sample survey, probability sampling should be done. Accordingly, the sampling for the survey/questionnaire was nationally representative probability sampling in 80 settlements in Hungary. The sample was chosen to be representative for the following variables: habitat, gender, age and level of education. Multistage sampling

was carried out, whereby in the first stage the settlement was chosen, and in the second stage (within the settlement) a random walk method combined with the Leslie Kish-key method was used to select the household. The random walk method provides for testing the probability of the sample. After choosing a household, a member of the household (who had been chosen through a probability estimation technique using the Leslie Kish-key) was asked to answer the survey. The Leslie Kish-key process can be used to choose the member of a household on a random basis. The key provides a clear and pre-fixed method for selecting respondents (Kish, 1949; 1965).

The survey was mainly comprised of closed questions. The survey comprised questions regarding the frequency of consumption of food items and the quantity of consumed food by primary food categories: vegetable-based dishes; fruits and vegetables; meat; tea and coffee; bread and bakery products; potatoes and rice; muesli; cold cuts; milk; dairy products; pasta; eggs, and vegetarian meals. The survey can be found in Appendix 2.

The final size of the sample which I analysed was 975 persons. These respondents were filtered out from the complete database of 1012 persons. When a missing answer to a question concerning at least one of the food consumption categories was found, respondents were eliminated from the analytical process — in such a case the total sum of the food consumption categories could not be defined so the total ecological footprint of food consumption could not be calculated.

The survey included the category of 'other food items' for breakfast, lunch and dinner. 5.2% of respondents selected 'consumption of other food item' for breakfast, 16.9% of respondents for lunch and 18% for dinner. However, respondents specified the type of food they consumed and its quantity. The named food items were classified using the 13 food consumption categories of the survey when it was unambiguously clear to which category they belonged.

The representativeness of the sample was tested, and I compared the basic demographical variables to national statistics. It was verified that the sample represented the population well and this made possible the drawing of conclusions. However, it is allowed that even with a representative sample sampling errors can be present (Babbie, 2003) which need to be taken into consideration during the research process. The main characteristics of the sample can be found in Appendix 3.

For testing H5 hypothesis I used the database of the Hungarian Central Statistical Office (KSH, 2012e), which includes food consumption data according to income deciles.

## **6.2.** Quantifying the ecological footprint of food consumption of Hungarian consumers using a bottom-up approach

In the database the quantity consumed per meal and the frequency of consumption of each item from each food category were available for analysis (regarding the three main meals of the day). The weight of each food item was defined according to the weight specifications of Rodler (OÉTI) (2004) and the food consumption statistics of KSH (2012b) (Appendix 4). The consumption of each food item in kilograms per year was calculated for each respondent by multiplying the frequency of food consumption by the quantity per meal and by the weight per food item. The average quantity of food actually consumed per person in kilograms can be seen in Appendix 5.

The ecological footprint was calculated using the following formula:

ecological footprint (gha) = quantity consumed per year per person (kg) \* ecological footprint intensity (gha/kg) (1)

The ecological footprint shows the environmental impact of the real, actual consumed food quantity for an individual. It can be seen from the formula that in order to quantify the ecological footprint of food consumption, ecological footprint intensities regarding Hungarian food consumption need defining.

### **6.2.1.** Results from analysis of secondary databases: quantifying the ecological footprint intensities

Ecological footprint intensities were quantified based on the latest database from the Global Footprint Network for Hungary (published in 2011). The database of the Global Footprint Network (GFN, 2011) includes the ecological footprint of 160 primary agricultural/crop products. This database is the best-acknowledged database used in scientific and academic research for quantifying the ecological footprint. It includes in a very detailed way the data which are needed to quantify the ecological footprint. As a result, I used this database in my research. Using this database, the quantity of a product produced, the yield, the equivalent factor and the value for the ecological footprint were at my disposal. The quotient of the ecological footprint (gha) and the quantity produced (t) give the ecological footprint intensity per product (gha/t).

In the database of the Global Footprint Network (GFN, 2011) the ecological footprint values for both locally produced and imported products were at my disposal. I quantified the ecological footprint intensities of both locally produced and imported products and the average ecological footprint intensities for each food item were calculated as the weighted average of the footprints of the locally produced and imported products. This way the combined footprint size of local and imported products was defined on product level. It was important to take into account the environmental impact of both local and imported products when quantifying the total footprint intensity due to reasons of methodology and the approach to consumer responsibility which is applied through my research undertakings.

After quantifying the product level ecological footprint intensities, I aggregated the intensities for the 13 food consumption categories which were used in the survey. During the aggregation process the product level ecological footprint intensities were weighted using the food consumption statistics of the Hungarian Central Statistical Office (KSH, 2012c).

When quantifying the ecological footprint intensity of vegetable-based meals and vegetarian meals, the following primary ingredient categories were taken into account: in the case of vegetable-based meals, vegetables, eggs and meat; and in the case of vegetarian meals only vegetables.

Figure 4 shows the ecological footprint intensities of the main food consumption categories in decreasing order. It can be seen that the intensity of the ecological footprint per tonne is notably higher for animal-based products and for tea and coffee.

The ecological footprint intensity of dairy products is higher than that of meat products. This is remarkable, because when examining the environmental impact of food consumption in many cases, meat is highlighted as being the food category with the highest environmental impact and is the item whose consumption should be moderated, although the ecological footprint intensity of dairy products is also large. The reason for this may partly be the fact that the consumption of meat is, in many developed countries, above the recommended *healthy* level, while the impact of the consumption of dairy products is probably more variable.

The ecological footprint per one tonne of tea and coffee is relatively high, but the absolute quantity of these items consumed is notably smaller than for meat. This is probably why the environmental impact of the consumption of tea and coffee could be considered a less salient issue. After these products, eggs have the fifth highest ecological footprint intensity (about half of the ecological footprint intensity of meat products). Bakery products and cereals have fairly low ecological footprint intensities. Fruits and vegetables have the lowest ecological footprint intensity of all.



Figure 4: Ecological Footprint intensities of food categories in Hungary

Source: Author's own calculations based on GFN (2011)

The analysis of ecological footprint intensities (taking into account both locally produced and imported food) and the results for the food categories are accurate to an order of magnitude and are in line with results from the international academic literature (e.g. Gerbens-Leenes and Nonhebel, 2002a; Wallén et al., 2004; Kramer et al., 1999).

When examining the ecological footprint intensities of food consumption, it is not only the footprint intensities calculated by weight that may be important and interesting, but ecological footprint per calorie can be considered as well (n.b. calculating and analysing footprints using a 'by-weight' basis can lead to misleading results as some food types are of high weight due to their water content, while their dry material content, and environmental impact, is lower). The average calorie content of the food categories can be found in Appendix 7.

Figure 5 shows the values of the ecological footprint per 10,000 calories for each food category. It can be seen that the order of the food categories has changed compared to the chart of the (descending) ecological footprint values per tonne. However, it remains true that foods of animal origin have the largest ecological footprint intensity (ecological footprint per 10,000 calories).

After cold cuts, meat and dairy products it is milk which has the largest ecological footprint intensity. Milk is followed by fruits and vegetables which have relatively large ecological footprints compared to their caloric value (greater than that of eggs). Bakery products, cereals and potatoes have small ecological footprints per 10,000 kilocalories, which is a positive finding as many meals are based on the use of cereals and potatoes. The consumption of more potatoes and cereals is advantageous from an environmental perspective as their low ecological footprint intensities per calorie are due to their relatively high caloric value per unit of weight.

Knowing ecological footprint intensities can help us to quantify which food categories have the greatest impact on the total ecological footprint and can help define how ecological footprints would change if consumption patterns changed. Appendix 8 shows the sensibility analysis of ecological footprint intensities.



Figure 5: Ecological footprint values per 10,000 kcal in Hungary

Source: Author's own calculations based on GFN (2011)

Measuring the environmental impact of food consumption using the ecological footprint indicator is only one way of quantifying environmental impact. I use this indicator in my research. However, it should be mentioned that by using other indicators as well the analysis of environmental impacts can be made more complete.

## 6.2.2. The average ecological footprint of food consumption of Hungarian consumers

Using formula (1) the ecological footprint for a year's food consumption was calculated for each respondent using the ecological footprint intensities and food consumption in kilograms per year (Appendix 9.). The ecological footprint of food consumption for an average consumer is 0.51 global hectares. Figure 6 shows the structure of an average ecological footprint.



#### Figure 6: The structure of the average ecological footprint per person

The greatest part of the ecological footprint is attributable to consumption of meat (31%) and milk and dairy products (18%). 61% of the average Hungarian ecological footprint for food consumption is of animal origin. Consumption of bread and bakery products (14%) and vegetables and fruits is less common; basically, a meat-based diet is the predominant choice of the population. Consumption of tea and coffee accounts for 2% of the ecological footprint of food consumption.

The size of the average ecological footprint of food consumption is smaller for Hungarians than estimates from other international studies. In the United Kingdom the average ecological footprint for food consumption is 0.8 gha (Frey and Barett, 2007). Collins and Fairchild (2007) came to a similar result regarding the size of the ecological footprint per person in Cardiff, U.K.

The smaller size of the average Hungarians' food consumption ecological footprint compared to the average Western European was expected as the quantity of food consumed in Hungary is less than the European average (see Chapter 4.4.).

It is interesting to examine the relative contribution of the food categories to the total quantity of food consumed (kg) and to the total ecological footprint (Figure 7). This comparison highlights the fact that analysing only the *quantity* of food consumed and the *consumption structure* does not show which food consumption categories have

significant environmental impact. This knowledge can supplement analysis based on environmental indicators.





It can be seen that consumption of meat makes the largest contribution to the total ecological footprint, despite it not being the foodstuff consumed in greatest quantity. The contribution of dairy products to the ecological footprint is notable. Despite this, vegetables and fruits account for 15% of food consumption in quantity while their contribution to the total ecological footprint is lower.

### 6.2.3. Limitations of the research into quantifying the ecological footprint of food consumption

The calculations for estimating the ecological footprint are based on some assumptions which may restrict how the results can be used. It is necessary to take into account the limitations of this research when evaluating the results and drawing conclusions.

The questionnaire survey on which the database used in the research is based measured the direct food consumption of individual respondents for the 13 food consumption categories. Indirect food consumption (for example, ingredients which are used while preparing a meal such as sour cream or oil) was not included in the survey. Measuring the waste from food consumption was not the aim of the analysis. (I quantified the food consumption of private households, the results can be compared to statistics measuring the consumption of households.)

I estimated food consumption and its ecological footprint for the three main meals of the day for 13 food categories so food consumed between meals was not included into the analysis. According to a representative survey by GFK (2009) about food consumption, Hungarian people eat on average 3.5 times per day; the most popular meals are breakfast and a (hot) lunch. 53% of the population do not eat between these times at all. 9% of the population have a snack in the afternoon every day, 37% only occasionally do this and 54% never do. According to these findings it is stated with some confidence that the main consumption patterns and structures and their environmental impacts and relative differences can be deduced from an analysis of the three main meals. For some food categories it is possible that the quantities of food consumed are underestimated. (Fruits and vegetables can be consumed between meals, furthermore bread consumption might be underestimated as it was calculated from the consumption of bakery products and in case of cold cuts consumption bread consumption was supposed as well based on the frequency of consumption). Regarding the differences in quality within categories of food there was no possibility to differentiate; other international studies and statistical analyses are also based on research which uses aggregate categories as well.

The aim of the research was to better understand the environmental impacts of food products. Tea and coffee were included in the research as beverages. While details

on direct consumption were included in the database, consumption of other fats, oil, salt and sugar do not appear in the results. International research and academic studies have primarily examined the quantity of direct consumption of food and its environmental impacts. Changes in the consumption of salt and trans-fatty acids does not have a remarkable environmental impact (Tukker et al., 2011), which is perhaps why their inclusion into such analyses is not common.

The height and weight of respondents is not known, but the testing of the hypotheses and the drawing of conclusions are based on the group level.

The ecological footprint calculated in the analysis underestimates the total ecological footprint of food consumption in some ways, but in the analysis the examination of the structure of food consumption is strongly emphasised. Regarding the results and conclusions this limitation should be taken into account. Because of the methodology of the ecological footprinting itself, this indicator gives an approximate value of environmental impact and I regard the ecological footprint which I calculated in my research like this. For the aims of the research, I think this approach is appropriate.

The limitations of this piece of research suggest great opportunities for future research regarding measuring the environmental impacts of food consumption.

### **6.3.** The impact of level of education on the ecological footprint of food consumption

I expect that the ecological footprint of food consumption is significantly different according to level of education (H1).

For educational level (differentiated into 4 categories) there was no significant difference found between the ecological footprints. This is a suprising result, as it could be expected that people with the highest educational level have significantly lower ecological footprints (Figure 8).

However, there was found to be a difference in the *structure* of the ecological footprint within the different educational groups. There is a significant difference in consumption of the following items: bread and bakery products, muesli, cold cuts and eggs. Furthermore, regarding the quantity of pasta, vegetable-based dishes and

vegetarian dishes consumed there is a statistically significant difference (for details of statistical tests see Appendix 10).



Figure 8: The ecological footprint according to educational level

As for the consumption of muesli, respondents with a university or college degree consume significantly more (five times more) than those with only primary school or vocational degrees, and two times more than those with secondary school degrees. This difference can be seen in the ecological footprint for muesli as well.

Consuming vegetarian meals is more typical of respondents with higher education degrees where vegetarian dishes account for 0.9% of the total ecological footprint compared to the average of 0.4%.

Ecological footprint from consumption of cold cuts is the lowest among those respondents who have university or college degree. They consume half as much as respondents with vocational school education who have the highest cold cuts consumption. Consumption of people with primary and secondary school education can be regarded as average.

Consumption of eggs is in a negative relationship with increasing levels of education; people of primary school education consume 68% more eggs on average than
those with university or college degrees. This can be seen in the ecological footprints as well: egg consumption accounts for 3% of the total ecological footprints of people with university degrees and 4.5% of the footprints of people with only primary school education. Furthermore, consuming pasta and vegetable-based meals is more characteristic of people with lower levels of education than those with university degrees.

In analysing the quantity and structure of food consumption we can see that while people with higher level of education consume more from some food categories (muesli, vegetarian meals), the consumption of people with lower level of eductation is higher from bread, cold cuts and eggs. It can be noted that there is no significant difference between the ecological footprints of respondents with different educational levels, but their consumption structure is different. People with a higher level of education do not consume less from those food categories which influence strongly the size of the ecological footprint. More highly educated people eat no less meat or vegetables and fruit. Altoghether there is no significant difference between the footprints.

# 6.4. The ecological footprint of food consumption according to gender, age and nature of occupation

Research that has examined the environmental impacts of food consumption has not always taken into account the differing nutritional needs of people who undertake different physical activities and have different occupations. In this chapter I attempt to go part of the way towards rectifying this omission by describing the results of an analysis carried out using the variables of gender, age and type of occupation, which also took into account nutritional recommendations.

#### 6.4.1. The ecological footprint of food consumption according to gender

When analysing the differences between the genders it can be observed that the ecological footprint of men is 0.551 gha and that of women 0.475 gha. The ecological footprint of men is higher by 14% and this difference is statistically significant. This

result was expected, as men in general weigh more and have greater calorie needs. The structure of the different ecological footprints are worth further analysis.

Looking at the ecological footprints of men and women, significant differences can be found in the following categories: bread, muesli, cold cuts, eggs, meat, vegetarian meals, fruit, vegetables and tea and coffee. The ecological footprint for men derived from consumption of bread is higher by one third, and for cold cuts and eggs it is nearly double of that of women and thus their related ecological footprint is higher. Women have higher footprints for consumption of muesli and vegetarian meals (they eat twice the quantity of these foods as men). Besides these items, consumption of fruit, vegetables, tea and coffee are also significantly higher for women (correspondingly, the ecological footprint is greater by 26% for these food categories). Men generally eat meat more frequently so their meat footprint is greater. Regarding the consumption of animal-based foods, men's contribution to the total ecological footprint is 63.4%, and women's 58.8%.



Figure 9: The ecological footprint of men and women

Finding significant differences in ecological footprints according to gender is not surprising as men and women have different energy demands. Results are in line with the findings of OTÁP survey (2009) which found that men's consumption of meat and egg products was significantly higher than women's.

Women eat less food from most food categories and this can be seen in the size of their ecological footprints. Women eat more of the food categories that have low ecological footprint intensities (fruits, vegetables and vegetarian meals) and of foods where the consumption level is so low (muesli, tea and coffee) that it has no remarkable impact on the ecological footprint. From these results it can be stated that the difference between the ecological footprints of the two genders can be traced back to their having both different consumption quantities and structures.

#### 6.4.2. The impact of age on the ecological footprint of food consumption

Analysing the impact of age on the ecological footprint of food consumption is important as people of different ages have different nutritional needs and nutritional recommendations are differentiated by age as well. In this section I examine whether there is a difference in the ecological footprints for food consumption groups according to age, and to what extent it can be explained by the structure of consumption.

The age group categories used in this research were created based on the categories used in typical nutritional recommendations (19-30 years, 30-60 years, above 60).

Statistically, there is no significant difference between the ecological footprints of the three age groups. This is a surprising result as people have different nutritional needs, according to dietary guidelines.

As for the structure of food consumption, significant differences can be seen with consumption of bread and bakery products, cold cuts, potatoes and rice and vegetable-based meals (statistical test can be found in Appendix 12).

As the ecological footprints of men and women are significantly different, I analysed the two genders separately. After analysing the ecological footprint of men and women separately, the same statement can be said to be true; namely, that there is no statistically significant difference between the ecological footprints for food consumption for the three age groups.

There is a significant difference in the consumption of bread and bakery products, cold cuts and potatoes for men. The consumption of bread and bakery products of people above 60 is significantly different from that of younger respondents; they consume 26% less bakery products than average. Consumption of cold cuts is significantly different for all three age groups: the youngest group consumes 22% more and the oldest age group consumes 15% less than consumers aged between 30-60 years. This is observable in the ecological footprints in Figure 10.



Figure 10: The ecological footprint of men in the three age groups

Looking at the ecological footprint for the food consumption of women, there is no significant difference between the age groups either (Figure 11, statistical test can be found in Appendix 14). Consumption of bread and bakery products is highest for respondents from the youngest group (they consume 11% more), while respondents in the 'oldest' group consume 10% less than people between 30-60, and this is observable in their ecological footprints as well. There is a significant difference with consumption of cold cuts between the three age groups: the youngest group consumes 33% more and the older group (above 60) consume 33% less than average (people between 30 and 60 yrs). The ecological footprint of vegetable-based meals for people above 60 is significantly 53% larger than for the youngest group.



Figure 11: The ecological footprint of women in the three age groups

#### 6.4.3. The ecological footprint based on occupational activity

The H4 hypothesis examines the actual ecological footprints for food consumption according to the occupational activities of respondents. I assume that the level of physical activity has an impact on the quantity of food consumed and that this can be revealed in the ecological footprint values as well. I carry out an analysis based on gender, age and occupational activity. As for occupational activity, two groups can be differentiated: active workers (intellectuals, moderate physical workers and heavy physical workers) and inactive people (students, pensioners, women on maternity leave and the unemployed).

I assume that intellectual workers carry out mostly sedentary work and light physical activity; skilled and unskilled workers do moderate physical activity, and heavier physical work is done by agricultural physical workers and some entrepreneurs.

4% (39 persons) of the respondents in the database were not included in this analysis as they gave answers to the question regarding occupational activity which could not be categorised (e.g. I don't know, other). 8.9% of the people in the database are unemployed.

As for the ecological footprint of food consumption for active and inactive groups, there is a significant difference. It can be seen that when differentiating between the consumers only on the basis of occupational activity there is significant difference between the ecological footprints. It is the ecological footprint of intellectual workers which is smaller than the average, while the footprint of pensioners is around average. The footprint of other occupational groups is higher than average. Students and women on maternity leave have the largest ecological footprints (Figure 12).

### Figure 12: The ecological footprint of food consumption according to different occupational activity



In the following section I analyse the ecological footprints of active and inactive groups separately.

Making a difference between the food consumption of active and inactive groups partly incorporates other differences inherent in age groups. 96.3% of people above 60 are pensioners and are not actively working, while 96% of pensioners are above 60. As a result, handling the group of pensioners (n=247) separately is important while analysing the food consumption of people with differing nutritional needs. Students (n=56), with the exception of one person, belong to the age group 19-30 years and they comprise 26.9% of that age group. They consume more food (per dietary recommendation). Women on maternity leave (n=41) can be distinguished because of their different physiological needs.

#### The ecological footprint of people with active occupations

H4 hypothesis was based on the fact that (according to nutritional guidelines) there are differences in the energy intake of sedentary workers, moderate physical workers and heavy physical workers (Bíró and Lindner, 1988; Bíró and Lindner, 1999). If we suppose that the structure of the recommended diet stays the same while the level of physical activity increases, then the recommended intake of energy should also increase according to the level of physical activity so ecological footprints should grow (Appendix 16).

In this analysis I assume that the quantity of food consumed grows with an increasing physical activity level and so does the ecological footprint of food consumption. Active workers from the database can be found in the 19-30 year and 30-60 year age groups (people above 60 are mostly inactive from an occupational point of view as they are mainly pensioners). As for people younger than 30, there was a very small sample size for each occupational category (sedentary workers n=30, skilled workers n=65, physical workers n=5). Analysing such small subsamples would not necessarily provide a representative picture which is why this agegroup was not analysed separately.

The subsample of people between 30 and 60 years is large enough for separate analysis. Examination of this subsample shows that, for both the male and female subsample, there is no statistically significant difference between the ecological footprints of food consumption regarding different occupational activities (statistical tests are in Appendix 18).

When analysing the subsample of 30 and 60 years (undifferentiated by gender), a significant difference between the ecological footprints of different occupational groups can be revealed (Appendix 17). This can be explained by the different quantities and structures of the ecological footprints for food consumption of the two different genders; namely that women have lower ecological footprints and they consume more low footprint intensity products.

The ecological footprint of sedentary workers is significantly lower than that of either skilled or physical workers. When analysing the gender ratio in the occupational groups we can see that for skilled and physical workers the proportion of the two genders is almost equal while 72% of the sedentary workers are women (and whose food consumption is significantly lower than that of men. This is probably why there is a significant difference between the ecological footprints for food consumption based on occupational activity but not for gender). Among sedentary workers the proportion of women who have lower ecological footprints is higher, and this creates a significant difference between the ecological footprints of different occupational groups. This finding illustrates that the need to differentiate between genders is crucial when analysing food consumption patterns, as analysing the two genders together would be misleading and not representative of reality.

When analysing the ecological footprint of occupational groups for the two genders separately (in the age group of 30-60 years), the result is that there is no significant difference between the ecological footprint of food consumption for occupational groups. This is a surprising result, as it could be expected that people who do less physical activity (i.e. have lower energy demands) would have lower ecological footprints than people who undertake moderate or heavy physical activity (Figure 13). For some food products there is a significant difference between ecological footprints (e.g. muesli, cold cuts, eggs and vegetarian meals).

Men who undertake physical activity do not eat muesli at all, while intellectual workers eat three times more than the average. The egg consumption of physical workers is 1.5 times higher than that of sedentary workers or skilled workers. The consumption of cold cuts is the highest for skilled workers while sedentary, intellectual workers eat the least cold cuts. The ecological footprint of the intellectuals is, however, compensated for by their increased consumption of dairy products.

As for meat consumption, there is no significant difference between the occupational groups. Physical workers do not eat vegetarian dishes at all; consumption of vegetarian dishes is highest for sedentary workers.

It was expected that sedentary workers would have a lower ecological footprint for food consumption. While their consumption of muesli and vegetarian meals is greater than that of workers who do heavier physical activity, there is no significant difference with consumption of meat. Because they consume more plant-based food products but do not consume less meat (and consume more dairy products) the ecological footprints of sedentary workers are in fact not significantly lower than for respondents who do heavier physical activity. As for the ecological footprints of skilled workers and physical workers, a great difference is seen with consumption of eggs and milk. Physical workers eat the most eggs and the least dairy products.



Figure 13: The ecological footprint of food consumption for active men (30-60 years)

After analysing the quantity and structure of the ecological footprint of food consumption it can be stated that, because of the different structures, no statistically significant differences can be revealed for the ecological footprints of people with various occupational activities. The quantity of food that sedentary workers consume is not less than for the other categories, despite the fact that sedentary workers have lower energy demands (based on nutritional recommendations).

For active women between the age of 30-60 years, no significant differences can be revealed between the ecological footprints of food consumption either. Structural differences are however considerable; these can explain the size of the ecological footprint. There is a significant difference between the consumption levels and ecological footprints of the three occupational groups for cold cuts, eggs and pasta. Women with sedentary jobs consume significantly less cold cuts, pasta and eggs than the other two groups where no significant differences can be seen. As for the other food products there is no significant difference.



Figure 14: The ecological footprint of food consumption for active women (30-60 years)

In this section, analysis revealed that there were no significant differences between the ecological footprints of different occupational groups for men or women. Results of this analysis were found to be contrary to expectations that there would be differences between the ecological footprints of food consumption for the occupational groups. Results confirm the suggestion that workers who undertake less physical activity consume more than the recommended amounts of food.

These results can be explained by different factors. For peoples' heights, I do not suppose that there is a significant difference according to their type of occupational activity. For the issue of the body weight of respondents, consuming more food cannot be justified according to the research on the basis of their different physical activities, but if body weight does influence the amount of food consumed (and sedentary workers may be heavier because of their higher-than-recommended intake of food/energy), this confirms the existence of the problem of excessive intake of calories. As the height and weight of the occupational groups are not known, firm conclusions cannot be drawn about this; however, the results which emerged and the necessary rejection of the related hypothesis point out the importance of further examining this relationship.

It is important also to take into consideration that not only is the type of occupational activity important in relation to nutritional demand but leisure time activities can have an influencing role.

Leisure time activity can be a determinant of food consumption. The greaterthan-expected ecological footprints of sedentary workers could be explained by their having more active leisure time. I have examined the frequency of different leisure time activities for the different occupational groups in order to get know to what extent their ecological footprints can be explained by the leisure time activities.

For both men and women it can be stated that (with the exception of spending time with family, friends and shopping) there are significant differences between the three occupational groups in how they spend their leisure time (Appendix 19). For men, skilled workers and physical workers spend their free time more often with DIY work, gardening and work around the house than sedentary workers (there is a significant difference between sedentary workers and skilled workers in this regard). Spending leisure time with cultural activities is more common for sedentary workers than for the other two groups (where there is no significant difference for them). Pursuing sports and travelling during leisure time is more typical of sedentary workers and the frequency of doing sport during leisure time is significantly different for both skilled and physical workers.

The same patterns of leisure time activities can be observed for women as well, with some exceptions. Sedentary workers spend their free time less often doing work around the house and gardening (this may be due to the fact that a smaller proportion of sedentary workers live in family houses). As for cultural activities and sports, there is a significant difference between the frequency of these activities in case of sedentary workers and skilled workers. Sedentary workers and physical workers spend their leisure time more often with cultural activities than skilled workers (Appendix 19).

After examining the frequency of leisure time activities it can be said that physical workers of both genders spend their free time more often working around the house, doing DIY and gardening, which are more active leisure time activities. However, doing sport is more typical of sedentary workers, so it is not possible to say with confidence which occupational group spends their leisure time in a more active way. Leisure time activities may partly explain the not significantly different ecological footprints of food consumption. In summarising the results it can be stated that, after analysing the ecological footprint of food consumption differentiated by gender, age and occupational activity, there are no significant differences between the ecological footprints of food consumption according to the occupational activities of respondents within the same gender and age group. The level and structure of ecological footprints cannot be explained by differences in leisure time activities either.

For men there is a significant difference between the three occupational groups regarding household income, which can confirm the conclusion that men who undertake sedentary, intellectual work (and receive higher household incomes) spend some of this higher income on food - in quantities above that suggested by nutritional guidelines. This result indicates that the quantity of food consumed is higher than the recommended healthy level. These results and conclusions are in accordance with the results of the OTÁP (2009) survey (National Diet and Nutritional Status Survey) which examined the nutritional status of the Hungarian adults based on a nationally representative sample. According to the results of the OTÁP (2009) survey, two thirds of the adult population is overweight or obese: 26.2% of men and 30.4% of women are obese, and 35.6% of men and 30.3% of women are overweight (Martos et al., 2012). Being overweight is most typical of middle-aged people. Malnutrition and a state of emaciation are less frequently present: 0.9% of adult men and 2.6% of adult women can be considered to be underweight (Martos et al., 2012). Consumption of unhealthy food and a lack of exercise play a great role in obesity. This fact is supported by data on energy intake which shows that a positive energy balance in the long run means that energy intake exceeds the recommended quantity. Regarding energy intake there is a significant difference between men and women, and there is a significant difference between the youngest and oldest age group. Energy intake decreases by age (Martos et al., 2012).

#### The ecological footprint of inactive groups

The ecological footprint of food consumption is smaller for pensioners than for active workers. The reason for this is that, with ageing, energy needs decrease. According to the Nutritional table of Bíró and Lindner (1988), recommended calorie intake decreases remarkably after the age of 60. With all occupational activities fewer calories are needed for people above 60 than for people between 19-30 or 30-60 years (on average 20% fewer calories are recommended compared to people who are between

19-30 years of age). Because of this, it could be expected that pensioners would consume less and have smaller ecological footprints than active, working people.

The ecological footprint of pensioners is in fact greater than that of intellectual, sedentary workers; the reason for this is their different consumption structure (Figure 15). The meat consumption of pensioners is higher than average and the consumption of dairy products is higher as well. As these food groups have quite high ecological footprint intensity, the higher than average meat and dairy consumption compensates for the smaller than average consumption of other food groups. This can be seen in the value and structure of the ecological footprint as well.

The structure of the ecological footprint of women on maternity leave does not differ greatly from the average ecological footprint. They consume (with all food categories) more than average (with the exception of eggs, fruits and vegetables, tea and coffee) which is why their ecological footprints are greater. Their increased consumption can be explained by their increased physiological needs.

Students have the biggest ecological footprint, a fact which can be explained by their high energy demands. Their ecological footprints are higher because they consume more food - with the exception of vegetable-based meals they consume more than average of everything. Their muesli consumption is twice as much as average, while their consumption of bread, bakery and dairy products is quite high as well.



**Figure 15: The structure of the ecological footprint for inactive groups** 

#### 6.5. The ecological footprint of non-meat eating respondents

Looking at the international academic literature, the need to quantify and analyse the ecological footprints of those who do not eat meat at all is indicated. According to expert estimations, 1.5% of the population in Hungary can be regarded as being vegetarian (they do not consume meat at all). Exact data are not available about the number of vegetarians as so far no statistical survey has been done (Kökény, 2009).

In the Tárki database on which my analysis is based, a similar proportion (in the order of the experts' estimation) of vegetarians were found to be present (from the 975 individuals, eight people (0.8%) do not eat meat at all, but do eat eggs and dairy products). Based on the consumption data of the nine people no statistically valid conclusions can be drawn. It is interesting to mention that this group substituted for the lack of meat in their diets by consuming a higher quantity than average of vegetarian meals and muesli.

From previous academic research it can be concluded that meat-based mixed diets have greater environmental impacts than plant-based diets (Pimentel and Pimentel, 2003; González et al., 2011 etc.), because of the greater ecological footprint intensity of meat consumption. Kocsis (2010b) confirms that it is more efficient from an energetic point of view to consume food products of plant origin than to source the necessary calorie intake from animal-based food products, as animals use a great part of the energy which they get from plants in order to sustain functions necessary to life.

However, following a vegetarian diet does not mean in all cases having a significantly lower environmental impact, as a decrease in environmental impact from not eating meat can be compensated for by consuming imported fruits and vegetables which may have a big environmental impact as well. (Furthermore vegetarian consumption is not necessarily healthy.) Examining the consumption patterns and environmental impact of vegetarians is a topic for further research.

#### 6.6. The ecological footprint of food consumption according to income

The disposable income of an individual or household may be an important influencing factor of what foods they consume.

With hypothesis H5 the relationship between the level of income and the ecological footprint of food consumption is a particularly interesting question. Having a higher income could be presumed to increase the quantity of food consumed. However, it may also be supposed that people with higher incomes are more likely to lead more health conscious lifestyles and could therefore consume more moderately. I expect that people with higher incomes consume more moderately and this can be seen in their ecological footprints as well.

In the database the income data for individuals is somewhat incomplete as only 65.4% of respondents provided details about their personal or household income or income level. As H5 hypothesis can be relevant in these missing income categories, I examined the relationship between the income level and the ecological footprint of households based on a database from KSH (2012e) - the Hungarian Central Statistical Office database entitled: 'yearly food consumption per capita' (this means that I used a secondary database for calculating the ecological footprints according to income, but I think that this hypothesis is connected to the socio-demographycal variables logically, that is why I present my results here). This database describes the quantity of food consumed in 2010 by income deciles<sup>4</sup>. This database (KSH, 2012e) shows the quantity of food consumed in kilograms. These data and the ecological footprint intensities calculated from the GFN (2011) database are used to quantify the ecological footprint of food consumption of the income deciles (formula (1)). In the KSH (2012e) database some food categories are different from those used in the Tárki database on which my other calculations are based: the dairy products group also includes kefir (a fermented milk drink), sour cream and cottage cheese, for example. This explains why the quantity of dairy products consumed (and the ecological footprint) is greater when examining food consumption by income decile.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Income deciles (KSH, 2012e): deciles of the population ranked according to the annual net income per capita.



Figure 16: The ecological footprint of food consumption according to income decile

Figure 16 demonstrates an obvious tendency: the ecological footprint of food consumption grows as income increases. With a higher income the quantity of food consumed increases along with the ecological footprint. People in the lowest income decile have 30% smaller ecological footprints than the average footprint, while people in the higher income decile have 22% larger ecological footprints than average. With increases in income the ecological footprint increases significantly but only until a certain level: from the 8<sup>th</sup> income decile the ecological footprint increases only slightly and there is only a slight difference.

After examining the ecological footprint of certain food categories I can state the following: the ecological footprint of dairy and fruit consumption increases with income until the eights decile. Slight variance can be seen with the ecological footprint for cereal consumption but it is not significant - cereal consumption is responsible for nearly the same size of ecological footprint for all income deciles. It can be observed that, with the exception of the consumption of cereal, the quantity (and thus the ecological footprint) of all the other food categories increases according to income decile.

With growth in income the ecological footprint grows moderately for consumption of meat, eggs and milk but with dairy products, vegetables and fruit the ecological footprint increases more vigorously.

In order to examine the differences in consumption better I compared the lowest and highest income deciles (Table 17). The greatest difference is with consumption of fruit and dairy products. The ecological footprint for consumption of fruit is 3.56 times greater for the highest income deciles and the footprint of for dairy product consumption is 3.21 times larger compared to the lowest income decile. Consumption of fruit was analysed in more detail. With the following fruits there is a great difference in consumption and the ecological footprints of the lowest and highest income deciles: apricot, sour cherries, grapes, cantaloupe and strawberries.

The least difference is with consumption of cereal (as mentioned before) and with consumption of potatoes; the ecological footprint for cereal and potato consumption is nearly equal for the lowest and highest income deciles.

There is only a moderate difference in consumption of meat products and its ecological footprint for respondents of different income statuses. The reason for this is that the greatest difference in the quantity of meat consumed is with consumption of poultry and pork. Here, there is a moderate difference in the quantity consumed by respondents with different income levels. The consumption of beef (with a high ecological footprint intensity), even for the highest income decile, comprises 10% of total meat consumption. The highest income decile has an ecological footprint for beef consumption that is five times as great as that of the lowest income decile, but because of the relatively low quantity of beef consumed it does not generate a great difference in the total meat footprint.

	Ecological footprint of
	highest income decile/
	lowest income decile
Fruits	3.56
Dairy products	3.21
Vegetables	2.18
Meat	1.72
Milk	1.68
Cold cuts, ham	1.63
Eggs	1.50
Potatos	1.07
Cereals	0.99

 Table 17: The ecological footprint of the highest and lowest income groups for the main food categories

When analysing the structure of food consumption, it can be seen from Figure 17 that for respondents from the lower income deciles a greater part of the ecological footprint is taken up by consumption of cereals, potatoes and eggs, while for respondents from higher income deciles, the proportion of the ecological footprint derived from consumption of dairy products, vegetables and fruit is considerably greater.

Many people claim that lack of income can hinder healthy food consumption. Results show that people with higher income consume more food. Increasing meat consumption can be seen until the eighth income decile, while fruit and vegetable consumption increases as well. For the two upper income deciles the ecological footprints of meat, bread, eggs and potato are smaller than for the eights income decile. The two upper deciles do not consumer more from these food, but their fruit and vegetable consumption is higher.

The KSH (2012e) database includes data about consumption of fat and sugar as well. When analysing the quantity of fats and sugar consumed by different income groups it can be seen that the quantity of sugar and fat consumed grows continuously from the lowest income decile until to the 8<sup>th</sup> income decile. Only with the two upper income deciles can it be seen that the quantities consumed decrease slightly (Appendix 21). Thus only the wealthiest 20% of respondents appear to be eating more healthily (at least concerning consumption of sugar and fat). Respondents with an average income level do not appear to be using the opportunity provided by their relatively high incomes to eat more healthily - they use their higher incomes to consume more of each category of food.



Figure 17: The structure of the ecological footprint for food consumption according to income deciles

To sum up, it can be stated that the level of income is an influencing factor of the quantity and structure of food consumption. People with higher income do not have lower ecological footprints, only the wealthiest 20% appear not to increase their footprints by having different consumption structure.

The KSH (2012f) database includes data about expenditure on food for the income deciles. It can be seen that expenditure on food per capita in the year 2010 increases according to level of income. However, greater expenditure does not necessarily mean greater consumption, in terms of quantity. I calculated for each income decile how much they spent on one gram of food from each of the main food categories. Results show that, for all food categories, respondents from the lowest income decile spend less than those from the highest income decile (Appendix 22). This indicates that with increasing income respondents spend more on each gram of food. Income status can show better the differences in food consumption and this calls attention to the fact that when analysing the impacts of consumption of food, calculating environmental impact based on monetary data alone (i.e. expenditure on food) could be an erroneous approach, as higher income is not necessarily in line with consumption of

greater quantities of food. I believe this was necessary to note when analysing food consumption according to income.

From chapter 6.7., my empirical results are based on the survey again.

#### 6.7. Consumer groups according to the structure of food consumption

The aim of this chapter is to identify typical modern consumption structures. I hypothesise that consumers can be categorised into well-differentiated groups according to the structure of their food consumption (H6). Identifying typical food consumption structures can help in understanding for which food categories there are great differences in the amounts of food consumed.

I identified typical consumption groups using cluster analysis combined with multidimensional scaling (MDS). For the cluster analysis I used non-hierarchical k-means clustering and, for testing the reliability of the clusters, a two-step cluster analysis was also undertaken.

Cluster analysis was carried out to examine the consumption structure of the individuals (more precisely, on the energy intake of respondents for the food categories compared to their total energy intake). Clusters which were created this way show typical consumption structures (regarding energy intake)<sup>5</sup>.

As a first step in the cluster analysis I examined the distribution of the variables of the main food categories. When studying the variables the distribution of consumption of milk and dairy products was conspicuous as 18.9% of respondents (n=178) reported that they did not consume milk and dairy products directly. I think this feature is in itself a determining factor of food consumption structures (especially as about a fifth of all respondents belong to this group and milk and dairy products (or its absence) can determine the quantity of other food items consumed and the ecological footprint as well. The need to separately treat the group of zero consumption milk and dairy product respondents was confirmed by the two-step cluster analysis, where two

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As data on the quantity of directly consumed food and energy intake were at my disposal during the research (see section 6.2. Limitations of the research), the food consumption structures are not equal to the total energy consumption structures. In the present overview of the research I describe the proportion of different food groups compared to each other, regarding energy intake.

clusters were created. Those who did not consume dairy products unambiguously comprised a separate cluster, while the other milk and dairy consuming respondents made up the other cluster (for the k-means cluster analysis a separate cluster was created for low and no-milk and dairy consumers as well).

Because of these findings I analysed respondents who did not directly consume milk and dairy products as a separate group.<sup>6</sup>

Cluster analysis is sensitive to the existence of outlier data which can mask identification of genuine structure. This is why before clustering I analysed the outliers. I identified them with a box plot figure and as a result 35 respondents could be excluded from the analysis, but this did not influence the final result of the clusters.

I carried out correlation analysis on the variables in the analysis as well, as using highly correlated variables in a cluster analysis can lead to redundancy and error (Hajdú, 2004). Cluster analysis was carried out on the following variables: the proportion of the total energy intake from vegetable-based meals, fruit and vegetables, meat, bread and bakery products, cold cuts, milk, dairy products, pasta and eggs.

For the next step of the research I performed non-hierarchical k-means cluster analysis combined with multidimensional scaling in order to group the unit of observations (individual respondents) with the same consumption structure into the same group.

I applied the methodology in the following way: I started by using double the number of clusters which were theoretically expected (in this case, ten clusters). For the next step I analysed the ten clusters using multidimensional scaling, creating a distance matrix from the cluster centres, using the Alscal process. This is the Alternating Least Squares (Alscal) approach to multidimensional scaling; it minimizes the sum of squared residuals. The main product of the method is the plotting of cluster centres in a multidimensional space and then a calculation of the Euclidean distances of the centres.

As a result of the multidimensional scaling process we obtain two-dimensional coordinates for the cluster centres, and then those centres which are not greatly different from each other and which are closest to each other are merged. Thus in one step, two clusters are merged. In the next step of the process non-hierarchical k-means cluster analysis was undertaken for nine clusters through inputting the final cluster centres of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Two-step and k-means cluster analyses were undertaken for the whole sample without treating separately those who do not consume milk and dairy products directly. Both two-step and k-means cluster analysis created a separate cluster for them, so regarded justified to handle this cluster separately in further analysis.

the previous cluster analysis and then recalculating the distance of the nine cluster centroids. I continued this combination of multidimensional scaling and cluster analysis until I obtained a spatial configuration where (in a minimal dimensional space) the dissimilarity of the data represent well the dissimilarity between the individuals (Füstös, 2009, p.234.) The clustering solution for this process stretches the multidimensional space, thereby creating clusters which are the best differentiated clusters.

By examining the cluster centres and the space configuration in each step, I obtained five well-differentiated clusters that filled the space well and had stable cluster centres. <sup>7</sup> (The initial and final cluster centres can be found in Appendix 23).

The Table 18 shows the distribution of cluster membership wherein five clusters are from the cluster analysis and the sixth cluster represents those who do not consumer milk and dairy products directly. The distribution of cluster membership can be regarded as balanced.

Cluster	Size	Share (%)
1	159	16.9%
2	72	7.7%
3	217	23.1%
4	141	15.0%
5	173	18.4%
6	178	18.9%

100%

940

Total

 Table 18: Cluster membership based on the structure of food consumption

Figure 18 illustrates the clusters created according to the structure of food consumption.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The stability of clusters were tested by omitting variables by k-means and two-step clustering. The clusters presented in the section have proven to be stable.



Figure 18: Clusters according to the structure of food consumption

*Cluster 1:* Consumption of meat and vegetable-based dishes is dominant; the proportion of energy intake from the consumption of meat and vegetable dishes is higher than average. Besides this, consumption of eggs is somewhat higher than average, while the proportion of energy intake from bread and bakery products is below average.

*Cluster 2:* The energy intake from milk and consumption of meat is dominant is this cluster (the highest proportion for consumption of milk). The proportion from consumption of bread and bakery products and cold cuts is relatively low, while the consumption of other food products can be regarded as average.

*Cluster 3:* The consumption structure of those who belong to this cluster can be seen as 'average'; the only exception is with consumption of milk where the proportion of respondents' energy intake (4.6%) is slightly less than average (7%).

*Cluster 4:* This cluster is defined by having a relatively high energy intake from consumption of fruit, vegetables and dairy products. Direct consumption of fruit and vegetables is greatest for this cluster, and consumption of milk is dominant. The relative

contribution of dairy consumption to total energy intake is two times higher (6.8%) than average (3.4%). Consumption of milk is quite high although the relative contributions of consumption of pasta and vegetable dishes is lower than average.

*Cluster 5:* consumption of bread and bakery products accounts for 50% of the energy intake of the cluster member; furthermore, the proportion of energy intake from the consumption of cold cuts is notable as well. Meat consumption is below average, the consumption of other food products is around average.

*Cluster 6:* Respondents who belong to this cluster do not consume milk or milk products directly. This is compensated for by their relatively high consumption of meat, pasta and vegetable dishes. The proportion of direct consumption of fruit and vegetables is the second highest here, after cluster 4.

The differing structure of the clusters according to energy intake is highlighted when looking at the structure of the clusters regarding the ecological footprint (Figure 19).





In the first cluster the proportion of the ecological footprint derived from meat consumption is the highest (41.5%) of all clusters and the proportion of the ecological footprint from consumption of vegetable dishes (13.1%) is higher than average (10.4%). In the second cluster, consumption of milk accounts for 25.8% of the total ecological footprint of food consumption, while the size of the ecological footprint from consumption of bread and bakery products is the lowest with this cluster (4.1%). Cluster 3 can be regarded as an average cluster, so the structure of the ecological footprint is ordinary as well. In the case of cluster 4 it can be seen that the ecological footprint from the consumption of fruit and vegetables is the highest (6.4%), diary consumption accounts for 10.5% and consumption of milk requires 24.4% of the total ecological footprint. In cluster 5 it is bread and bakery products which take a considerable 24.8% of the ecological footprint while consumption of meat is less than average and the ecological footprint for the consumption of coffee and tea is the lowest. In the cluster for which respondents do not consume milk and dairy products, consumption of meat accounts for 40.7% of the ecological footprint and the ecological footprint of coffee and tea consumption is the highest here from all clusters (2.3%); the average is 1.8%).

In the following section I analyse these clusters using socio-demographical characteristics.

#### Cluster 1: Meat and vegetable-based dish consumers

Members of this cluster live both in villages and towns. Settlements with populations of 1-5 thousand inhabitants and 5-10 thousand inhabitants are typical. As for their educational level, a lower than average education predominates (the proportion of people with degrees in higher education is low (13.2%) and people with primary school education are overrepresented (30.2%) compared to average (23.2%)). Elderly people are well represented in this cluster. The proportion of people between 40 and 49 is the highest here compared to other clusters; furthermore, the proportion of people between 60 and 69 years (12%) and respondents above 70 (12%) is higher than average. The number of unemployed respondents is the highest in this cluster. The proportion of single households is also the highest (23.5% of single respondents belong to this cluster). Members of this cluster are less environmentally-conscious. They are less happy and satisfied in general and even less satisfied with the status of their health. For leisure time activities they go less frequently to cultural events. Window-shopping and

shopping is most typical for this cluster. Consumption of fresh local fruit and vegetables and local food is the lowest of all clusters.

A typical member of this cluster is a single, less educated, elderly person living in a smaller settlement, with less active leisure time.

#### Cluster 2: Meat and milk consumers

Members of this cluster are more urbanised: more people than average live in Budapest, in county towns and in towns. The typical size of their settlements is a town with above 50 thousand inhabitants. Respondents are highly educated; the highest proportion of respondents with university degrees (22.2%) is found here. This is the 'oldest' cluster with 20% of respondents above 70. The proportion of pensioners in this cluster is the highest; furthermore, the proportion of women is quite high as well (62.5%). Household size is smallest in this cluster; the reason for this being the high proportion of single households (27.8%) and double-member households (33.3%). Their environmental consciousness is average; they are somewhat happier and more satisfied in general with their lives but they are the least satisfied with their health status. Travelling is not typical of them and members of this cluster are quite passive regarding other leisure time activities as well. Consumption of convenience food is least frequent and the proportion of local fresh fruit and vegetables consumed is the highest.

To sum up, a typical member of this cluster is an elderly person without much active leisure time who has a conservative Hungarian diet. They are more educated, live in bigger settlements and are more conscious than cluster 1 members.

#### **Cluster 3: Average consumers**

The level of education of respondents from this cluster is higher than average. This cluster is younger than average; the age group of 30-39 years is well-represented (27.6%). Respondents with intellectual, white-collar workers are found in the highest proportions here. The size of households is larger (an average 3.03 persons) than average. This group is the most environmentally conscious and the happiest as well; they are also more satisfied with their health status than average. Members of this group spend their leisure time in an active way. Their frequency of travelling is higher than average and leisure time spent window-shopping and doing sport is the highest. A typical member of this cluster is a young-middle aged person who lives probably as part of a family and who has an intellectual job. Their life is happy and balanced and they spend their leisure time actively.

#### Cluster 4: Fruit, vegetable and dairy product consumers

This cluster is rather urbanised; the number of respondents living in villages is low in this cluster. The educational level and the size of households are average. This is a younger cluster with respondents between 20-29 and 30-39 well-represented. The proportion of students and women on maternity leave is higher. The proportion of respondents who undertake physical work is the lowest. Their environmental consciousness is above average, and they are more satisfied with their lives than average. Travelling and pursuing sports are typical leisure time activities. Consumption of local food is the highest in this cluster.

The environmental consciousness of respondents is higher than average and the high proportion of fruit and vegetables consumed and respondents' more frequent sporting activities could point to the conclusion that members of this cluster lead a more conscious lifestyle from both environmental and health perspectives.

#### Cluster 5: Bread and bakery product consumers

This cluster contains the highest proportion of respondents who live in the capital, Budapest; fewer respondents live in country towns. Members of this cluster are educated; few members have only completed primary school. This is the youngest cluster with 26.3% of respondents under 19 years and 23.8% of respondents between 20-29 years. The proportion of men is highest in this group (58.4%). The proportion of physical workers is the highest here; the number of skilled workers and students is also high. The cluster has the largest household size. Members of this cluster are more environmentally conscious and happier than average; they are the most satisfied of all clusters with their lives and their health status. This is an active group regarding leisure time activities. The frequency of attending cultural events is the highest for this group which can be explained by the high number of respondents who live in Budapest. Travelling and spending time with family and friends is most typical of this group.

A typical member of this cluster is a young man who lives with his family and who travels actively and undertakes cultural activities. The average younger age explains the higher-than-average consumption of bread and bakery products (presumably due to the higher need for carbohydrates and more active lifestyles).

#### Cluster 6: Consuming no milk and dairy products

The share of respondents living in the capital city of Budapest is the lowest here (12.9%, compared to the average of 17.4%). Members of this cluster commonly live in smaller towns; living in villages is not typical of them. The educational level of an average member is lower than average. As for average age, from 30-39 or 40-49 is typical. The number of respondents living alone and in two-person households is high.

This group is the least environmentally conscious, least happy and least satisfied. Travelling and spending time with friends and family is done least frequently; other leisure time activities are done at an average frequency. Eating convenience foods is most typical of this cluster.

Table 19 summarises the cluster characteristics.

Table 19:	Summary	of cluster	characteristics
-----------	---------	------------	-----------------

Clusters	Cluster 1	Cluster 2	Cluster 3	Cluster 4	Cluster 5	Cluster 6
Name	Meat and vegetable consumers	Milk and meat consumers	Average consumers	Fruit, vegetable and dairy product consumers	Bread and bakery product consumers	No milk consumers
Share (%)	16.9%	7.7%	23.1%	15.0%	18.4%	18.9%
Gender	Both genders	More women	More women	Both genders	More men	More women
Age	Rather older	The oldest cluster	Younger	Younger	The youngest group	Average
Level of education	Slightly lower level of education	Highest level of education	Slightly higher level of education	Average	Slightly higher level of education	Slightly lower level of education
Type of settlement	Live both in villages and towns	Rather urbanised	Live both in villages and towns	Rather urbanised	Urbanised, with the highest number of respondents from the capital city	Rather urbanised, less respondents from the capital and villages
Income level	Slightly lower	The lowest	Higher	Average	The highest	Lower
Household size	Many single households	One or two- member households	Big households	Average	Big households	Smaller households
Leisure time activity	Less cultural activities, but more shopping and window- shopping	Quite passive	Travelling, sports and window- shopping	Travelling, sports and less cultural activity	Travelling, cultural programs, spending time with family and friends	Average, spending time with family and friends is less typical

\* Note: All characteristics compared to average

Knowing the characteristics of clusters and their members can help in identifying and communicating with consumers with varying food consumption patterns. The clusters which result from this analysis show typical consumer groups according to the structure of their food consumption. As the cluster analysis was carried out exclusively on consumption structures, it should be taken into account that consumption of a higher proportion of higher ecological footprint intensity food products does not necessarily mean greater quantities of food are consumed per se. This is why the ecological footprint of the first cluster (meat and vegetable dish consumers) is smaller than the average ecological footprint. The reason for this is that while the consumption of meat and vegetable-based meals is higher than the average, they consume half as much bread and milk as the average and their fruit consumption is lower as well. (The ecological footprints of the clusters can be found in Appendix 24). Meat and milk consumers (cluster 2) have lower ecological footprints, they consume less bread and cold cuts. The high proportion of meat does not mean greater quantities of meat consumption. The ecological footprint of average consumers (cluster 3) can be regarded as average, while the ecological footprint of fruit, vegetable and dairy product consumers (cluster 4) and bread and bakery product consumers (cluster 5) is 20% greater than average. This is due to the fact that these consumers do not consume less from other food products, but they consume more fruits, vegetables and dairy products and bread, while their consumption can be regarded as average from other food products. Members of cluster 6 do not compensate their lack of consumption of milk and dairy products by consuming more than average from other food products, thus their ecological footprint is 28% lower than average.

As a result of this cluster analysis we can come to know which food groups should be consumed more or less in each of the different clusters so that members' food consumption patterns have lower environmental impact and are healthier. These results justify the previous findings (see Chapter 6.4.) from analysing the food consumption of the income deciles based on the KSH (2012e) database. Those respondents who are more environmentally conscious than average and have higher incomes (cluster 4 and 5) do not make 'sacrifices' by reducing their food consumption. Consuming more healthy food (more fruit and vegetables) occurs *in addition* but these respondents do not consume less food, nor do they have lower ecological footprints. Those respondents who have lower incomes (cluster 1 and 2) do not have lower footprints because of consuming less meat, but because of consuming less fruits and vegetables.

The primary aim of the analysis was to indentify different consumption structures. (The size of the ecological footprints can be different in case of the whole population.)

#### 6.8. Scenario analysis about the possibilities for decreasing ecological footprints

Responding to the pressing question for academic research about the environmental impacts of food consumption should not only involve an analysis of the quantity and structure of consumption. The need to take into account both environmental and health perspectives is clear (Gussow and Clancy, 1986; Wallén et al., 2004). Previous research has not unambiguously proven that the structure of food consumption is clearly linked to both health and environmental impacts.

In this section I examine to what extent the ecological footprint of food consumption can be decreased when the structure of food consumption is modified towards healthier diets. Using a scenario analysis approach I define fixed diets which are used to show up how environmental impact is modified when consumption patterns change. This methodology is often used and is popular when measuring the environmental load of food consumption.

Many scenario analyses do not start by using real food consumption patterns but they use 'ideal diets'. These are diets which satisfy dietary recommendations from a health perspective. The environmental impacts of these kinds of diets are calculated. However, the diets that they are based on are not always realistic or typical. I base my analysis on the actual food consumption patterns of surveyed respondents and I present alternatives which are achievable and realizable in scenario group A. I undertook scenario analysis for the ecological footprint of an average Hungarian consumer so that results could be compared to international research results. I supposed that an average consumer has an active lifestyle and undertakes a medium level of physical activity (which corresponds to the average consumer according to energy intake data (Sarkadi Nagy et al., 2012)).

Table 20 shows the first group of scenarios.

	Scenario	Quantity (kg)	Ecological footprint (gha)	Change in ecological footprint (%)
Basic scenario	Actual consumption	377	0.510	-
1	Meat consumption is reduced by one occasion per week, no replacement	369	0.485	-5.0%
2	Meat consumption is reduced by one occasion per week, replacement with fruits and vegetables	407	0.506	-0.9%
3	Meat consumption is reduced by one occasion per week, replacement with pasta	373	0.4903	-3.9%
4	Meat consumption is reduced by one occasion per week, replacement with dairy products	374	0.507	-0.6%

Tuble 20, bechanges for changing the structure of root consumption (11)	Table	20:	<b>Scenarios</b>	for chai	nging the	structure	of food	consump	tion (	A)	
---	-------	-----	------------------	----------	-----------	-----------	---------	---------	--------	----	--

If a decrease in the consumption of meat is not substituted for by consumption of other foods, the ecological footprint can be reduced by 5%. In this case, calorie intake decreases as well (this scenario, although it may seem far-fetched, is however not baseless. On average Hungarians consume an excess of calories (KSH, 2011)). In the next cases I defined scenarios where a decrease in consumption of meat is substituted for by other food products (i.e. maintaining the original calorie intake) so that results can be compared to international research findings.

The greatest reduction in ecological footprint could be realised by consuming more pasta or cereals. Increasing the consumption of fruit, vegetables or dairy products does not decrease the ecological footprint much (below one percent). The reason for this is that these products have relatively high ecological footprint intensities per unit of calories.

In the next group of scenarios I analysed the impact of changing diest according to the recommendations of the Hungarian National Institute for Food and Nutrition Science (OÉTI). During the research I used the recommended, normative food consumption basket compiled by OÉTI for the minimum existence guidelines of KSH (2010) (which relates to the diet of a moderately active, healthy person who consumes 2400 kcal per day). I modified the consumption structures with lower meat and egg consumption using the recommendations of OÉTI and I analysed changes in the ecological footprint.

I calculated not only with a reduction in consumption of meat but with a reduction in consumption of eggs as well and analysed the scenarios with and without replacement of calories. Recommended meat consumption is 32% lower (40.8 kg/year) and recommended egg consumption (161 pieces/year) is 44% lower than present consumption level.

	Scenario	Quantity (kg)	Ecological footprint (gha)	Change in ecological footprint (%)
1	Meat consumption recommended by OÉTI, no replacement	357.15	0.45	-12.3%
2	Meat and egg consumption recommended by OÉTI, no replacement	349.66	0.44	-14.4%
3	Meat and egg consumption recommended by OÉTI, replacement with fruits and vegetables	459.16	0.50	-2.6%
4	Meat and egg consumption recommended by OÉTI, replacement with dairy products	363.11	0.50	-1.8%
5	Meat and egg consumption recommended by OÉTI, replacement with pasta	361.67	0.45	-11.3%
6	Meat and egg consumption recommended by OÉTI, replacement with fruits, vegetables and pasta	416.42	0.48	-5.4%

Table 21: Scenarios for changing the structure of food consumption (B)

The ecological footprint can be reduced by 12.3% if less meat consumed according to the recommendations and there is no substitution of calories. When cereals (e.g. muesli) substitute for processed meat, the ecological footprint decreases by 4.1%. In this scenario group, replacement with fruit and vegetables with low caloric value reduces the ecological footprint least of all (by 2.5%). The ecological footprint decreases by 14.4% if we consume meat and eggs according to the recommendations and there is no substitution of calories. Maintaining the original calorie intake and replacing reduced meat and egg consumption with other food products, Table 21 shows

that the ecological footprint decreases the least in case of replacement with dairy products. The greatest decrease can be reached by replacement with pasta (the ecological footprint decreases by 11.3%), as this food category has the lowest ecological footprint per unit calories. Replacing meat and egg consumption with other foodstuff can show to what extent the ecological footprint of food consumption could be reduced when combining food categories which are recommended as healthy food and tailored individually.

According to the research results of McMichael et al. (2007) who are often cited in the academic literature, in order to moderate the effects of climate change, consumption of meat should be radically reduced. McMichael et al. state that a daily average of 90g of meat is a recommended maximum and he does not recommend consuming processed meat. The present ecological footprint could be decreased by 17.5% if these recommendations for meat reduction are applied without calorie replacement. A notable reduction in the ecological footprint would be witnessed in the case that 90g of meat were consumed and that calories were replaced with dairy products or fruits and vegetables (namely, a decrease in the ecological footprint by 4.6% and 3.8%). In the case that consumption of meat were replaced with cereals then the ecological footprint could be reduced by 13% on average. (Details of calculations can be found in Appendix 25.)

In this section I presented potential alternatives for moderating the ecological footprint. It can be stated for each person, based on their individual needs, to what extent and in what direction the structure of food consumption should be modified to create a healthier and more sustainable food consumption structure. Exact values can be defined by dietary experts.

Summing up the results of the scenario analysis, I can state that the greatest reduction in the ecological footprint could be accomplished by supplementing the consumption of meat with food products which have relatively low ecological footprints/caloric value intensity. Results show that a moderate reduction in the ecological footprint can be made by modifying consumption patterns in small steps and to a small extent.

A greater reduction in the ecological footprint could be accomplished only through radical changes to diets. However, even the possibility of a moderate reduction should not be undervalued. By moving and changing the structure of food consumption step-by-step in a healthier direction the environmental load is mitigated. By small changes in consumption we can arrive closer to our goal of consuming food more sustainably. The result achievable depends greatly upon which food products are used to supplement any reductions in the consumption of meat, and what their ecological footprint per calorie item is.

Additionally, these further reductions could be made by reducing the quantity of food consumed and the calorie intake, which would be desirable from a health perspective as well. It is important to note that the only modest possibility for reducing the ecological footprint results from the fact that the current consumption of meat in Hungary is below the European average.

Changing food consumption habits is a long-term process. Food consumption itself cannot be substituted but the structure of consumption can be modified in favour of health and sustainability considerations. Not only should consumers be motivated to change independently but the development of public policy instruments for this purpose is needed as well. Scenario analysis can help us to visualise with which diet we can reduce the ecological footprint the greatest. It is possible to make food consumption healthier and lessen the ecological footprint at the same time.

#### **6.9. Evaluation of the research hypotheses**

In this section I summarise the research results and the main research findings are compared with results of international research. The Summary section summarises and evaluates the main conclusions and lessons from the research.

#### H1: Ecological footprints are significantly different according to level of education

Results did not prove that there are significant differences between the ecological footprint according to educational level. Respondents of higher educational level do not have lower ecological footprints, but the consumption structure is different.

#### H2: Ecological footprints are significantly different according to gender

The ecological footprints of men and women are significantly different, as expected. This is due to different consumption quantity and consumption structure as well. The hypothesis for genders was confirmed.

#### H3: Ecological footprints are significantly different according to age groups

As for age groups, results did not confirm that ecological footprints are significantly different either for men or for women, but structural differences exist.

### H4: The ecological footprint of more actively working people will be higher than that of people with lower intensity jobs

Results have shown that if we examine the ecological footprint of food consumption differentiated by gender and age group according to occupational activities, no significant difference can be revealed. When no distinction is made between genders and age groups, significant differences are revealed, but this is due to the varying proportion of the genders within the occupational groups.

# H5: The ecological footprint of higher income groups is offset by their healthier consumption structure

Analysing the ecological footprints according to income deciles (using secondary database), we could see that ecological footprint increases until the eigth income decile. The upper two income deciles consume more fruit and vegetables and their consumption of meat and bread does not increase. Revealing the relationship between income and ecological footprint confirms the assumptions of Zhu et al. (2006); namely, that people with a higher income (in my analysis, the upper two income deciles) live somewhat healthier lives, but this is not enough to decrease the environmental load. A decrease in the consumption of those with an average income is necessary in the future.

# H6: Well-defined consumer groups can be defined based on the structure of their food consumption

As a result of the cluster analysis, consumers can be categorised into welldifferentiated groups according to the structure of their food consumption and these clusters are different regarding social characteristics as well.
# H7: Environmental and health aspects are compatible with each other: modifying consumption structure can lead to both a healthier and a more sustainable way of consuming food

Results concerning the modification of the structure of food consumption confirm and supplement previous research. Results show that modifying food consumption towards a healthier structure could contribute to lessening the environmental load. My results indicate that reducing consumption of meat would be beneficial both from a health and an environmental point of view. The ecological footprint can be reduced if less meat and eggs are consumed. In case of substitution of calories, the largest reduction in the ecological footprint can be made by consuming those food products which have lower ecological footprints per calorie (e.g. pasta).

Much research has investigated the possible impact of changing diets. When interpreting the results (in terms of impact on health and environment) it is necessary to take into account which indicator/s were used in the research and what the starting level of consumption was.

As Western and Northern-European food consumption is currently higher than the present Hungarian level of consumption, international studies done in these countries show greater potential for reductions than results concerning Hungarians' consumption of food (Johansson, 2005; Risku-Norja et al., 2009; Tukker et al., 2011).

When comparing these results with other international studies it is important to look at the system boundaries. It is only those results which are interpreted and measured within the same system boundaries that can be used for comparison. It is necessary to look at what was examined during a piece of research when measuring the environmental impact of food consumption (for example, whether the impact from transportation and preparation was taken into account during the analysis). System boundaries should include the size of food portions, which can vary from country to country. Cultural factors can have a great influence on what food is consumed, and in what quantities.

#### VII. Summary

The aim of my research was to quantify the environmental impacts of food consumption of Hungarian consumers and to analyse this from a consumption-based approach, thereby showing the environmental responsibility of consumers regarding food consumption. I applied the ecological footprint methodology during the research to define the environmental impact of food consumption. Food consumption cannot be substituted for by anything else until after physiological needs are met but its environmental impacts are notable, despite the fact that the evaluation of environmental impacts receives little emphasis in environmental policymaking.

In the first chapter of the dissertation I summarised the development of the consumption-based results and I analysed definitions of sustainable consumption which then served as a theoretical basis for understanding and analysing my research goals. I presented an overview of the environmental impacts of food consumption and a definition of sustainable food consumption in Chapter II, where the many interpretations and nuances of the concept support the proposition that the research topic should be approached from more perspectives. One of the most important aims and results of the dissertation, regarding the theoretical part, was a synthesis of the definitions of sustainable food consumption (Chapter II).

I used the ecological footprint indicators in the research to measure the environmental impact of food consumption; Chapter III confirms the suitability of using this methodology.

The antecedents in the scientific literature, which were presented in Chapter IV, served as a basis for my research. I then formulated my own research hypotheses. A summary and systematization of the scientific literature on the environmental load of food consumption (Chapter IV) is an important result of the theoretical part of the dissertation. This kind of categorization has not been done in the international literature before.

The research aims, hypotheses and the data sources were presented in Chapter V.

The empirical results of the dissertation were presented in Chapter VI. In my research I aimed to present a new perspective and to improve and develop existing scientific research. Based on the results from my empirical research, I now summarise

the conclusions of my research and the contribution of my results to the research topic analysed.

#### 7.1. Conclusions and review of the significance of results

The aim of my research was primarily to create a descriptive study of the ecological footprint of food consumption of the Hungarian population. Little research has presented an analysis so far of the environmental impacts of food consumption, using real survey-based data. I quantified the ecological footprint of Hungarian respondents which stems from direct food consumption using bottom-up methodology. The ecological footprint intensities were calculated from the latest database of the Global Footprint Network (2011), while the quantity of food consumption data came from a nationwide representative survey database. The reliability of my results is improved by the fact that my data are based on a large, representative nationwide survey-based sample. There has, until now, not been survey-based research undertaken in Hungary to evaluate the environmental impacts of food consumption.

Looking at the size of the ecological footprint it can be stated that Hungarians consume less food than Western Europeans. The relatively small Hungarian ecological footprint (compared to the European size of ecological footprint) does not entitle Hungarians to increase their consumption of food in the future. Results highlight that the real level of consumption of food of Hungarians (defined using surveys and statistics) does not correspond with perceptions that Hungarians are significant consumers of meat.

In the structure of an average respondent's footprint, animal-based products are dominant (61%). The size of the ecological footprint is mostly influenced by consumption of meat, dairy products and bread.

After analysing the ecological footprint of food consumption according to level of education it can be said that there is no significant difference. The *structure* of consumption is, however, different for differently educated groups of respondents. It is surprising, however, that in contrast to expectations there is no significant difference between the ecological footprints of meat, vegetables and fruit.

When making conclusions from my research results it is important to take into account the limitations of the research (see Chapter 6.2.). During the research I analysed the ecological footprint of directly consumed food.

In my research I revealed that there are significant differences in the structure and ecological footprints for food consumption according to gender. Men's ecological footprints are not only higher because of the greater quantities they consume, but because of the differing structure of food consumption (more food consumed with higher ecological footprint intensity).

When I analysed the ecological footprint of food consumption according to gender, age and type of occupation, results of the analysis showed that there are no significant differences within the same age group and gender regarding occupational activity, which is a surprising result. The hypothesis that there are significant differences between the ecological footprints of people with different occupational activities was not confirmed. Leisure time activities do not explain this result sufficiently. I think that more analysis is needed to reveal the cause for the greater consumption of food by people with a lower level of physical activity. This analysis has highlighted the significance of differentiating between genders and age groups when the food consumption of people with different physical occupational activities is analysed otherwise misleading conclusions could be drawn. This is proven by the result that if no distinction is made between genders and age groups and we analyse food consumption and its ecological footprint in combination according to occupation, then significant differences are be revealed in the ecological footprint (though this can be tracked back to the varying proportion of the genders within the occupational groups). The ecological footprint for food consumption for those who are inactive from an occupational point of view (pensioners, women on maternity leave, students) is significantly different, a result which fits prior expectations.

Examining the income status, the ecological footprint results showed that people with higher income consume more food. The ecological footprint increases according to this by income decile; however, the structure of consumption changes: the largest difference is with consumption of fruit, dairy and vegetables. It is an interesting result of the research that in case of the upper two income deciles the ecological footprint for food consumption does not increase notably - these groups use their higher incomes to consume more fruit and vegetables and their consumption of meat and bread does not increase. Here, a higher income does not mean more consumption per se but greater consumption of healthier food products. This appears in respondents' ecological footprints as well. Middle income level groups use their relatively high incomes (i.e. higher than the lower income groups) to consume more food and their consumption of

fruit and vegetables appears to be supplementary (i.e. it does not replace other food products).

One important result of the dissertation is that I identified significantly different consumer groups regarding the structure of food consumption using cluster analysis. Understanding this typology can help to reach consumers when there initiatives are undertaken to change the structure of food consumption. Those who consume more fruit, vegetables and dairy products do not have lower ecological footprints, regarding total food consumption. Those consumers whose consumption structure is dominated by meat consumption, which is of higher ecological footprint intensity, do not necessarily have higher ecological footprints. Consumers who do not directly consume milk or dairy products have lower ecological footprints. The clusters which result from the cluster analysis not only differ according to consumption structure but they are characterised by their distinct socio-demographic features and result from different lifestyles.

In my dissertation I analysed the possibility of decreasing the ecological footprint of Hungarian consumers through changing their diets. I succeeded in revealing that by modifying the consumption structure towards healthier options environmental impact can be reduced. With the example of reducing step by step the consumption of meat and processed meat and eggs towards an optimal level I showed the impact of dietary changes on the ecological footprint. The results indicate that if a reduced consumption of meat is substituted for by the consumption of other food (i.e. calorie intake is maintained), the largest reduction in the ecological footprint can be made by consuming those food products which have lower ecological footprints per calorie. Analysis revealed as well that in order to significantly decrease the ecological footprint of food consumption, radical changes are needed. However, it is necessary to highlight realizable changes to consumers, and even these changes can realistically reduce environmental impact. These results are in accordance with international findings; the reason for the smaller scale of results is that the quantity of food that Hungarians consume is lower than that of the average European (especially Western-European).

Measures for changing food consumption patterns should not separately treat environmental and health issues. The ecological footprint can be a great means for communicating about suitable levels and types of food consumption in the future. Closer cooperation of expert groups is needed in the future in order to develop alternatives which are adequate both from environmental and health perspectives. Changing the structure of food consumption is made more difficult by the lock-in effect which is why the support of the public policy is needed to change consumption patterns. Informing and motivating consumers is needed to ensure that they have the knowledge that changing their food consumption can lead to not only favourable health effects but also to lessening of environmental impact.

Creating sustainable food consumption clubs would support a change in the structure of food consumption and help moderate environmental impact. Consumers need an unambiguous message about the healthiness and environmental impacts of food products. Furthermore, if food offerings in public catering were modified this could contribute significantly to changing consumption patterns.

These recommendations and conclusions are more applicable to developed countries as the subject of the analysis was the ecological footprint of food consumption in developed countries (where the level of food consumed is higher than the world average and so is the environmental impact). The level of food consumption is lower in Hungary than in Western Europe. Harmonizing treatment of environmental and health issues would have greater impact in countries with greater food consumption per capita.

#### **7.2. Directions for future research**

Beyond answering the hypotheses it addressed, this research bought up issues which need further research and analysis. The aim of this research was not only to answer the specified research questions but to help pinpoint directions for further research. Of these I would like to specify the following:

With more detailed knowledge about types of food categories, further analysis would be possible. Having available data on the height and weight of respondents would allow the research findings to be expanded and could help in drawing deeper conclusions. Besides these data, knowing the total calorie intake of respondents would support quantification of the difference between actual and recommended consumption baskets and the precise ecological footprints of the individuals concerned. Based on these differences it could then be defined what kind of changes in the consumption of different food categories would be necessary to meet health recommendations. It is not enough that changes are made towards healthier food consumption structures but there is a need for the analysis of the *quantities* consumed as well (it may be possible that the consumption structure is adequate but overconsumption is a concern). Sustainable food consumption would be supported by knowing which foods consumers should consume to reduce their environmental impacts.

My research did not include an evaluation of the possible rebound effect arising from reducing the consumption of food and nor did it include consideration of the opportunities presented by alternative types of land use, therefore quantifying these effects could be useful as well.

It is necessary to take into account that the ecological footprint is only one indicator of sustainability and relates to resource consumption. The use of other indicators could supplement this instrument.

I think that fostering the international comparability of the results could be very useful and this would be supported though having a standardised, comparative database on a European level. This would allow research findings to be generalised more easily.

The emerging problems and questions that arose during the research efforts primarily concern individuals from developed countries, as they typically have high levels of consumption. At the same time, with developing countries it would be interesting to examine in what ways an adequate level of nutrition could be provided with a fairly low environmental load, especially for regions with a growing population. Food consumption and its sustainability in developing countries requires further analysis.

To sum up, the research highlighted the role of consumers in mitigating environmental impacts. Research using a consumption-based approach can help us to reassess previous research findings which examined resource use and environmental impact from a production-based approach. The diversity of research that is based on a responsibility-for-consumption approach can help highlight those pressing environmental issues which need intervention and attention. My empirical results extend and improve the findings of previous research in the academic literature.

### Appendix

#### **Appendix 1: Status of health in Hungary**

Environmental and health aspects are less important for Hungarians when they decide on food consumption (Hoffmann, 2006; Albert-Dávid, 2006). Results of OTÁP (2009) survey showed that the consumption of animal fats is higher than the recommended level. The status of health is developing in Hungary, but it is still far from the health status in the European Union. Life expectancy at birth is 74 years on average, 69.5 years for men and 78 years for women. Life expectancy at birth in Hungary is 5 years lower than in OECD countries, where the avegage life expectancy at birth is 79 years (OECD, 2009). Hungary has lower life expectancies than it would be predicted by the GDP per capita alone (WHO World Health Statistics, 2010).

The number of death due to circulatory system diseases is three times higher than in the EU-15 countries and situation is worse than in the EU-15 countries for other diseases as well. Circulatory system diseases and locomotor disorders are frequent. Higher alcohol consumption, inappropriate food consumption and lack of excercises contribute to the status of health in Hungary. Obesity presents a problem as well (OTÁP, 2009). 61.8% of Hungarian adults are obese according to the results of the OTÁP (2009) survey: every third adult is overweight and 28.5% is obese. The ratio of obesity was similar for men (63%) and women (61%). The ratio of obese adults has grown since the First National Representative Nutritional survey (1985-1988), the ratio has doubled for men, and has grown by 50% for women.

There were several surveys in Hungary from time to time that examine the status of health and food consumption patterns. The First Hungarian Representative Nutritional Survey was done between 1985 and 1988, with a sample size of 17 thousand people. The survey examined the nutritional patterns of Hungarian adults (Bíró, 1992). The Second Hungarian Nutritional Survey was done between 1992 and 1994. The survey examined food consumption patterns on a not representative sample of 2500 people. The Third National Nutritional Survey was done within the National Health Survey in 1992-1994, where the food consumption patterns of people above 19 years were analysed on a representative sample of 1179 people (Rodler et al., 2005; Bíró et al., 2007). The last national survey was undertaken in 2009, organsied by KSH and OÉTI together. This was the National Diet and Nutritional Status Survey 2009, where a

representative sample of 1165 people was examined. The appendix presented an overview of the health status in Hungary.

### **Appendix 2: Research questionnaire**

### Consumption habits in Hungary

The survey is part of the Omnibus survey of Tárki Social Research Institute April, 2010

To be asked from everybody



You can find some questions about consumption habits in the following section.

**1.** How many times a week do you eat for breakfast ...

IF YOU EAT AT LEAST ONCE A WEEK, then how many pieces or how many do you eat from the given food category?

			[		IF AT LEAST ONCE	
		How week	many times a do you eat for breakfast?		<b>a.</b> Quantity per one time?	
		never	times/week			
a.	Salami, cold cuts	0		X	piece	Χ
b.	Scrambled eggs	0		X	egg	Χ
c.	Bakery products	0		X	piece	Χ
d.	Muesli	0		X	dkg	Х
e.	Coffee, tea	0		X	cup	Х
f.	Fruits, vegetables, jam	0	•••	X	piece	Х
g.	Dairy products	0	•••	X	piece	X
h.	Others, namely:	0		X	piece	X

**2.** How many times a week do you eat for lunch ...?

		How do	many times a week you eat for lunch?	]
		never	times/week	
a.	Meat with garnish (rice, potato)	0		X
b.	Pasta	0		X
c.	Vegetable-based meals	0		X
d.	Vegetarian meals, without meat and dairy products	0		X
e.	Others, namely:	0		X

**3.** How many times a week do you eat for dinner ...?

		How do	How many times a week do you eat for dinner		
		never	times/week		
a.	Salami, cold cuts	0		X	
b.	Scrambled eggs	0		X	
c.	Fruits	0		X	
d.	Meat with garnish (rice, potato)	0		X	
e.	Vegetable-based meals	0		X	
f.	Others, namely:	0		X	

**4.** What percentage of your yearly vegetable and fruit consumption is local (national) and <u>fresh?</u>

- 7. How ofter do you eat in a restarurant or a canteen at the workplace in a week?

	occassion/week	
0 – never 99 – NT	<b>X</b>	Proceed to question 8

**8.** How typical is it to you to spend your leisure tiem with these activities? Please grade from 1 to 5: 5 means that you spend your leisure time with the activity very often and 1 means never! You can use the other grades as well! Do you spend your leisure time with ...

		Never	· ~		→ Very	v often	NT	
a.	gardening around the house, dealing with animals, DIY work, needlework or having a creative hobby?	1	2	3	4	5	9	x
b.	going to cinema, theatre, concert, museum in your settlement?	1	2	3	4	5	9	x
c.	doing some sports?	1	2	3	4	5	9	X
d.	window-shopping and shopping?	1	2	3	4	5	9	X
e.	travelling?	1	2	3	4	5	9	X
f.	spending time with family and friends?	1	2	3	4	5	9	X

**9.** All in all how happy are you? You can see a scale from 1 to 10, where 1 means very unhappy, 10 meand very happy. Where would you place yourself in the "happiness-scale"?

Very											Very
unhappy	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	08	09	10	happy

88 – REFUSES THE ANSWER

99 – NT

**10.** All in all how satisfied are you? You can see a scale from 1 to 10, where 1 means very unsatisfied, 10 meand very satisfied. Where would you place yourself in the "satisfaction-scale"?

Very unsatisfied	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	08	09	10	Very satisfied
88 – REFUSES 99 – NT	THE A	NSWE	R								

**11.** Tell us please how satisfied you are with the following things. If you are not satisfied at all, give 1, if you are completely satisfied give 10. How satisfied are you with ..

	Not s	atisfie	ed at al	<sup>11</sup>			Con	nplete!	ly sati	sfied	
a. Your present work?	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	08	09	10	x
b. Your present lifestyle?	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	08	09	10	X
c. Your health status?	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	08	09	10	X
d. Your familiy life, relationships in your family?	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	08	09	10	X
e. Your social life, relationships with friends?	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	08	09	10	X

### **Appendix 3: Characteristics of the sample**

The sample was chosen to be representative for habitat, gender, age and level of education and this is true for the sample of n=975 people that I analysed and used for calculating the ecological footprints of food consumption. The distribution of the sample by habitat can be seen first.

#### Distribution by habitat



#### **Distribution by region**



Distribution by genders is shown in the following chart. The distribution of genders in the total population was 48% men and 52% women according to the national statistics (KSH, 2010).



As for the educational level the distribution was representative as well.



### Distribution by level of eductaion

The distribution by age was the following:



The distribution by occupational activity was not completely representative for the sample.



The distribution of the size of households was the following:



Food category	Weight of one piece (kg/piece)
Bread	0.040
Bakery products	0.070
Cold cuts	0.005
Eggs	0.057
Milk	0.200
Dairy products	0.035
Meat	0.150
Garnish: potato and rice	0.200
Pasta	0.120
Vegetable-based meals	0.300
Vegetarian meals	0.250
Fruits and vegetables	0.120
Coffee, tea	0.006

### Appendix 4: Converting one piece of food to kilograms

Source: KSH (2012) and Rodler-OÉTI (2004)

### Appendix 5: Average food consumption in kilograms

Descriptive	Statistics
Descriptive	otatistics

	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation
bread_kg_t	975	68.2740	64.34145
muesli_kg_t	975	2.6717	8.58084
coldcuts_kg_t	975	12.5092	13.43136
egg_kg_t	975	13.4889	16.70035
milk_kg_t	975	68.3590	96.31146
dairyproduct_kg_t	975	6.9253	10.35591
meat_kg_t	975	47.9000	20.22427
potatorice_kg_t	975	44.5547	22.96754
pasta_kg_t	975	12.4544	7.49713
vegetablebased_kg_ t	975	43.1680	27.26004
vegetarian_kg_t	975	3.4933	9.76530
fruits_vegetables_kg _t	975	50.5215	84.11299
teacoffee_kg_t	975	2.4352	2.67749
Valid N (listwise)	975		

Food category	Ecological footprint intensity (gha/t)
Bread and bakery products	1.09
Muesli	1.21
Cold cuts	3.16
Eggs	1.43
Milk	0.92
Dairy products	4.77
Meat	3.27
Potato, rice	0.33
Pasta	1.33
Vegetable-based meals	1.21
Vegetarian meals	0.64
Fruits and vegetables	0.55
Coffee, tea	3.78

Appendix 6: Ecological Footprint intensities (gha/t) of food categories in Hungary

Source: Author's own calculations based on GFN (2011)

Annendix 7.	Energy	content	of food	categories	(kcal/100g	)
Appendix 7.	Energy	content	01 1000	categories	(KCal/100g	J

Food category	kcal/100g
Bread and bakery products	300
Muesli	385
Cold cuts	156
Eggs	165.2
Milk	69
Dairy products	350
Meat	207.3
Potato, rice	132
Pasta	392
Vegetable-based meals	129
Fruits and vegetables	43

Source: KSH (2012) and Rodler-OÉTI (2004)

#### Appendix 8: Sensitivity analysis of the ecological footprint intensities

I carried out a sensibility analysis for the ecological footprint intensity values. I examined how the change in the ecological footprint influences the ecological footprint of an average Hungarian consumer. The value of one of the ecological footprint intensities was increased by 20% while the values of the other ecological footprint intensities were kept constant and I analysed how the change in one ecological footprint intensity modifies the ecological footprint.

In the Figure below it can be seen that the ecological footprint intensity of meat products has the largest impact on the ecological footprint. 20% increase in the ecological footprint intensity of meat increases the ecological footprint by 6.1%. It is followed by bread and bakery products (the ecological footprint increases by 2.9% in case of a 20% increase in the intensity), then by milk (2.5%) and cold cuts (1.6%).

Fruits and vegetables despite their low ecological footprint intensity have a sensibility of 1.1%, as they contribute to a larger extent to the quantity of food consumed. The proportions of the food categories compared to each other in the sensibility analysis are same as their proportions in the structure of the average ecological footprint.

Knowing the sensibility of the ecological footprint intensities can show the impact of the calculation methodology, the impact of the starting value of the intensities on the final ecological footprint.



1,3%

1,1%

0,8%

0,7%

0,6%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

Changes in the total ecological footprint when the ecological footprint intensitity changes by 20%

### Appendix 9: The ecological footprint of an average consumer (gha)

1%

0,4%

**1** 0,1%

#### **Descriptive Statistics**

Dairy products

Eggs

Pasta

Potato, rice

Coffee, tea

Muesli

0%

Fruits and vegetables

	N	Mean	Std. Deviation
bread_EF	975	,0726	,06846
muesli_EF	975	,0032	,01035
coldcuts_EF	975	,0396	,04250
eggs_EF	975	,0193	,02384
milk_EF	975	,0629	,08862
dairyproducts_EF	975	,0331	,04944
meat_EF	975	,1562	,06594
potatorice_EF	975	,0147	,00756
pasta_EF	975	,0166	,01000
vegetablebased_EF	975	,0521	,03289
vegetarian_EF	975	,0022	,00621
fruit_vegetable_EF	975	,0278	,04631
teacoffee_EF	975	,0092	,01012
total_food_EF	975	,5095	,22021
Valid N (listwise)	975		

		Ecological footprint (gha)					
	Primary school or below	Vocational school	Secondary school	University or college degree	Total		
Bread and bakery products	0,067	0,080	0,076	0,062	0,073		
Muesli	0,001	0,002	0,004	0,007	0,003		
Cold cuts	0,037	0,051	0,039	0,026	0,040		
Eggs	0,023	0,021	0,018	0,014	0,019		
Milk	0,060	0,069	0,064	0,054	0,063		
Dairy products	0,029	0,031	0,036	0,037	0,033		
Meat	0,157	0,160	0,153	0,156	0,156		
Potato, rice	0,014	0,015	0,015	0,015	0,015		
Pasta	0,020	0,017	0,015	0,013	0,017		
Vegetable-based meals	0,059	0,051	0,048	0,052	0,052		
Vegetarian meals	0,002	0,001	0,003	0,004	0,002		
Fruits and vegetables	0,028	0,024	0,030	0,030	0,028		
Coffee, tea	0,009	0,010	0,009	0,009	0,009		
Total	0,507	0,531	0,508	0,479	0,509		

# Appendix 10: The impact of level of education on the ecological footprint of food consumption

		ANO	OVA			
		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
bread_EF	Between Groups	,041	3	,014	2,932	,033
	Within Groups	4,524	971	,005		
	Total	4,565	974			
muesli_EF	Between Groups	,004	3	,001	13,295	,000
	Within Groups	,100	971	,000		
	Total	,104	974			
coldcuts_EF	Between Groups	,061	3	,020	11,650	,000
	Within Groups	1,698	971	,002		
	Total	1,759	974			
eggs_EF	Between Groups	,010	3	,003	5,756	,001
	Within Groups	,544	971	,001		
	Total	,554	974			
milk_EF	Between Groups	,024	3	,008	1,033	,377
	Within Groups	7,625	971	,008		
	Total	7,650	974			
dairyproducts	Between Groups	,009	3	,003	1,288	,277
_EF	Within Groups	2,371	971	,002		
	Total	2,381	974			
meat_EF	Between Groups	,008	3	,003	,585	,625
	Within Groups	4,228	971	,004		
	Total	4,235	974			
potatorice_EF	Between Groups	,000	3	,000	,719	,541
	Within Groups	,056	971	,000		
	Total	,056	974			
pasta_EF	Between Groups	,004	3	,001	14,251	,000
	Within Groups	,093	971	,000		
	Total	,097	974			
vegetable_	Between Groups	,016	3	,005	4,934	,002
based_EF	Within Groups	1,038	971	,001		
	Total	1,054	974			
vegetarian_	Between Groups	,001	3	,000	11,831	,000
EF	Within Groups	,036	971	,000		
	Total	,038	974			
fruit_vegetab	Between Groups	,006	3	,002	,986	,399
le_EF	Within Groups	2,082	971	,002		
	Total	2,089	974			
teacoffee_EF	Between Groups	,000	3	,000	,317	,813
	Within Groups	,100	971	,000		
	Total	,100	974			
total_food_EF	Between Groups	,265	3	,088	1,825	,141
	Within Groups	46,968	971	,048		
	Total	47,233	974			

# Appendix 11: The ecological footprint of food consumption according to gender (gha/person)

	Man	Woman
Bread and bakery		
products	0,083	0,064
Muesli	0,002	0,004
Cold cuts	0,053	0,028
Eggs	0,026	0,014
Milk	0,069	0,058
Dairy products	0,035	0,031
Meat	0,166	0,148
Potato, rice	0,016	0,014
Pasta	0,017	0,016
Vegetable-based		
meals	0,050	0,054
Vegetarian meals	0,001	0,003
Fruits and vegetables	0,023	0,032
Coffee, tea	0,008	0,010
Total	0,551	0,475

ANOVA						
		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
bread_EF	Between Groups	,094	1	,094	20,483	,000
	Within Groups	4,471	973	,005		
	Total	4,565	974			
muesli_EF	Between Groups	,001	1	,001	11,820	,001
	Within Groups	,103	973	,000		
	Total	,104	974			
coldcuts_EF	Between Groups	,156	1	,156	94,635	,000
	Within Groups	1,603	973	,002		
	Total	1,759	974			
eggs_EF	Between Groups	,038	1	,038	72,213	,000
	Within Groups	,515	973	,001		
	Total	,554	974			
milk_EF	Between Groups	,027	1	,027	3,491	,062
	Within Groups	7,622	973	,008		
	Total	7,650	974			
dairyproducts	Between Groups	,005	1	,005	1,935	,165
	Within Groups	2,376	973	,002		
	Total	2,381	974			
meat_EF	Between Groups	,071	1	,071	16,605	,000
	Within Groups	4,164	973	,004		
	Total	4,235	974			
potatorice_EF	Between Groups	,001	1	,001	25,054	,000
	Within Groups	,054	973	,000		
	Total	,056	974			
pasta_EF	Between Groups	,000	1	,000	3,094	,079
	Within Groups	,097	973	,000		
	Total	,097	974			
vegetable_	Between Groups	,003	1	,003	2,669	,103
based_EF	Within Groups	1,051	973	,001		
	Total	1,054	974			
vegetarian_	Between Groups	,000	1	,000	11,575	,001
EF	Within Groups	,037	973	,000		
	Total	,038	974			
fruit_vegetab	Between Groups	,016	1	,016	7,648	,006
IE_EF	Within Groups	2,072	973	,002		
	Total	2,089	974			
teacoffee_EF	Between Groups	,001	1	,001	5,715	,017
	Within Groups	,099	973	,000		
	Total	,100	974			
total_food_EF	Between Groups	1,419	1	1,419	30,127	,000
	Within Groups	45,814	973	,047		
	Total	47,233	974			

### Appendix 12: The ecological footprint according to age groups (gha/person)

	19-30	30-60	Above
	years	years	60
Bread and bakery	,0778	,0747	,0588
products			
Muesli	,0043	,0031	,0022
Cold cuts	,0502	,0389	,0291
Eggs	,0196	,0194	,0184
Milk	,0677	,0601	,0674
Dairy products	,0329	,0338	,0304
Meat	,1597	,1561	,1522
Potato, rice	,0158	,0146	,0134
Pasta	,0176	,0162	,0168
Vegetable-based	,0446	,0522	,0609
meals			
Vegetarian meals	,0023	,0023	,0020
Fruits and vegetables	,0250	,0281	,0303
Coffee, tea	,0082	,0096	,0089
Total	,5257	,5091	,4908

		ANOV	VA			
		Sum of	df	Mean	F	5
bread EF	Between Groups	.039	2	.020	г 4,201	.015 oig.
_	Within Groups	4,526	972	,005	,	
	Total	4,565	974			
muesli_EF	Between Groups	,000	2	,000	1,926	,146
	Within Groups	,104	972	,000		
	Total	,104	974			
coldcuts_EF	Between Groups	,041	2	,020	11,597	,000
	Within Groups	1,718	972	,002		
	Total	1,759	974			
eggs_EF	Between Groups	,000	2	,000	,147	,863
	Within Groups	,553	972	,001		
	Total	,554	974			
milk_EF	Between Groups	,013	2	,006	,804	,448
	Within Groups	7,637	972	,008		
	Total	7,650	974			
dairyproducts_EF	Between Groups	,002	2	,001	,309	,734
	Within Groups	2,379	972	,002		
	Total	2,381	974			
meat_EF	Between Groups	,005	2	,003	,598	,550
	Within Groups	4,230	972	,004		
	Total	4,235	974			
potatorice_EF	Between Groups	,001	2	,000	4,517	,011
	Within Groups	,055	972	,000		
	Total	,056	974			
pasta_EF	Between Groups	,000	2	,000	1,483	,227
	Within Groups	,097	972	,000		
	Total	,097	974			
vegetable_	Between Groups	,024	2	,012	11,371	,000
Dased_EF	Within Groups	1,030	972	,001		
	Total	1,054	974			
vegetarian_ EF	Between Groups	,000	2	,000	,110	,896
	Within Groups	,038	972	,000		
	Total	,038	974			
fruit_vegetab	Between Groups	,003	2	,001	,608	,544
	Within Groups	2,086	972	,002		
	Total	2,089	974			
teacoffee_EF	Between Groups	,000	2	,000	1,534	,216
	Within Groups	,099	972	,000		
	Total	,100	974			
total_food_EF	Between Groups	,111	2	,055	1,143	,319
	Within Groups	47,122	972	,048		
	Total	47,233	974			

	19-30	30-60	
	years	years	Above 60
Bread and bakery products	0,087	0,088	0,062
Muesli	0,002	0,002	0,001
Cold cuts	0,066	0,052	0,044
Eggs	0,029	0,025	0,025
Milk	0,073	0,065	0,078
Dairy products	0,035	0,036	0,035
Meat	0,173	0,167	0,151
Potato, rice	0,017	0,016	0,014
Pasta	0,018	0,017	0,017
Vegetable-based meals	0,045	0,052	0,051
Vegetarian meals	0,002	0,001	0,002
Fruits and vegetables	0,020	0,023	0,029
Coffee, tea	0,007	0,009	0,008
Total	0,574	0,552	0,518

### Appendix 13: The ecological footprint of men according to age groups (gha/person)

SuraresSuraresMean SquaresMean SquaresMean SquaresNear SquaresNear SquaresNear SquaresNobread_EFBetween Groups0.03920.0193.1870.042muesil_EFBetween Groups0.00020.0002.6880.000Total0.04944380.0000.0000.0000.000coldcuts_EFBetween Groups0.00020.0004.2040.016Within Groups1.06644380.0020.0000.5170.597Within Groups1.06644380.0010.0000.5170.597Within Groups3.344444000.001 <th></th> <th colspan="7">ANOVA</th>		ANOVA						
Between Groups     0.93     2     0.91     3.187     0.42       Within Groups     2,649     438     .006			Sum of	16	Mean	_	0.	
Biological Control     Control <thcontro< th="">     Control     <thcontrol< th=""></thcontrol<></thcontro<>	bread FF	Between Groups	Squares 039	df 2	Square 019	F 3 187	Sig. 042	
Interference     Interference<	broad_Er	Within Groups	2 649	438	,010	0,107	,012	
Instal     Instal     Instal     Instal     Instal     Instal       muesli_EF     Between Groups     0.049     4.38     0.000     2     0.000     1.764       Coldcuts_EF     Between Groups     0.020     2     0.010     4.204     0.016       Within Groups     1.066     4.38     0.002     1.000     1.016       eggs_EF     Between Groups     0.011     2     0.000     .517     .597       Within Groups     .344     4.38     0.01     1.005     .552     .556     .552     .556     .552     .552     .552     .552     .556     .552     .556     .552     .556     .552     .556     .552     .556     .555 <td< td=""><td></td><td>Total</td><td>2,040</td><td>400</td><td>,000</td><td></td><td></td></td<>		Total	2,040	400	,000			
Indexis_LineDefinition of colupts1.0001.0001.0001.000Total0.049440Total0.049440Within Groups0.02020.0104.2040.016Within Groups1.066440eggs_EFBetween Groups0.00120.000.517.597Within Groups.34444380.001Total.34444380.010milk_EFBetween Groups0.0112.000.552.576Within Groups4.1944380.010Total.3444400Mithin Groups4.194438.001Within Groups1.3724400Total1.372438.003Total1.372440meat_EFBetween Groups.0002.0003.771.024Total1.963438.000Total.026443.000potatorice_EFBetween Groups.0002.0003.771.024past_EFBetween Groups.0002.000.357.425Within Groups.026438.000past_EFBetween Groups.003 <td>muesli FF</td> <td>Between Groups</td> <td>2,000</td> <td>2</td> <td>000</td> <td>269</td> <td>764</td>	muesli FF	Between Groups	2,000	2	000	269	764	
Hum Groups     1,040     440     1,050     1       Total     0,049     440         coldcuts_EF     Between Groups     0,020     2     0,010     4,204     0,016       Within Groups     1,066     438     0,002     .     .     .       eggs_EF     Between Groups     0,011     2     0,000     ,517     .597       Mithin Groups     3,344     438     0,001     .     .     .       milk_EF     Between Groups     0,011     2     0,005     .552     .576       Within Groups     4,194     438     0,010     .     .     .       dairyproducts_EF     Between Groups     0,000     2     0,000     .002     .998       Within Groups     1,372     440     .     .     .     .       meat_EF     Between Groups     0,000     2     0,000     .     .     .       potatorice_EF     Between Groups     0,000     2     0,000	Indesii_Ei	Within Groups	,000	/38	,000	,203	,704	
coldIntermIntermIntermcoldcuts_EFBetween Groups1,066438.0024.204.016Within Groups1,066438.002eggs_EFBetween Groups.0012.000.517.597Within Groups.344438.001milk_EFBetween Groups.0112.005.552.576Within Groups4,194438.010dairyproducts_EFBetween Groups.0002.000.002.998Within Groups1,372443dairyproducts_EFBetween Groups.0002.000.002.998Within Groups1,963438.004meat_EFBetween Groups.0012.0102.157.117Within Groups1,963438.000potatorice_EFBetween Groups.0002.000Within Groups.0062.000potatorice_EFBetween Groups.0002.000total.026440potatorice_EFBetween Groups.0002.000total_EFBetween Groups.0032.000total_C<		Total	,043	440	,000			
Deliver of outputs     0.00     2     0.00     4.205     0.00       Within Groups     1,066     438     .002	coldcute EE	Rotwoon Groups	,049	440	010	4 204	016	
Writin Groups     1,000     430     ,000     400       eggs_EF     Between Groups     ,001     2     ,000     ,517     ,597       Within Groups     ,344     438     ,001          milk_EF     Between Groups     ,011     2     ,005     ,552     ,576       Within Groups     4,194     438     ,010          dairyproducts_EF     Between Groups     ,000     2     ,000     ,002     ,998       Within Groups     1,372     438     ,003          meat_EF     Between Groups     ,019     2     ,010     2,157     ,117       Within Groups     1,963     438     ,004          potatorice_EF     Between Groups     ,000     2     ,000     3,771     ,024       Within Groups     ,026     438     ,000          potatorice_EF     Between Groups     ,003     2     ,	colucuts_L1	Within Groups	,020	429	,010	4,204	,010	
rota     rota     rota     rota     rota       eggs_EF     Between Groups     ,001     2     ,000     ,517     ,597       Within Groups     ,344     438     ,001     1     1       milk_EF     Between Groups     ,011     2     ,005     ,552     ,576       Within Groups     4,194     438     ,010     1 <td></td> <td>Total</td> <td>1,000</td> <td>430</td> <td>,002</td> <td></td> <td></td>		Total	1,000	430	,002			
eggs_EP     between Groups     ,,001     2     ,000     ,517     ,537       milk_EF     Between Groups     ,344     438     ,001        milk_EF     Between Groups     ,011     2     ,005     ,552     ,576       Within Groups     4,194     438     ,010          dairyproducts_EF     Between Groups     ,000     2     ,000     ,002     ,998       Within Groups     1,372     438     ,003          meat_EF     Between Groups     ,019     2     ,010     2,157     ,117       Within Groups     1,982     440           potatorice_EF     Between Groups     ,000     2     ,000     3,771     ,024       Within Groups     ,026     438     ,000          pasta_EF     Between Groups     ,0046     438     ,000         vithin Groups     ,046     438     ,00		Rotwoon Crowno	1,000	440	000	E17	507	
Within Groups     ,344     438     ,001       Total     ,344     440	eggs_EF	Mithin Crowns	,001	2 420	,000	,116,	,597	
Notal     ,344     440			,344	430	,001			
Hilk_EF     Between Groups     ,011     2     ,005     ,552     ,576       Within Groups     4,194     438     ,010          dairyproducts_EF     Between Groups     ,000     2     ,000     ,002     ,998       Within Groups     1,372     448     ,003          Total     1,372     440            meat_EF     Between Groups     ,019     2     ,010     2,157     ,117       Within Groups     1,963     438     ,004          potatorice_EF     Between Groups     ,000     2     ,000     3,771     ,024       Within Groups     ,026     4440           pasta_EF     Between Groups     ,000     2     ,000     ,857     ,425       Within Groups     ,450     438     ,001          vegetable		Total	,344	440	005	550	570	
Within Groups     4,194     438     ,010       Total     4,205     440        dairyproducts_EF     Between Groups     ,000     2     ,000     ,002     ,998       Within Groups     1,372     440           meat_EF     Between Groups     ,019     2     ,010     2,157     ,117       Within Groups     1,963     438     ,004          potatorice_EF     Between Groups     ,000     2     ,000     3,771     ,024       Within Groups     ,026     438     ,000           pasta_EF     Between Groups     ,000     2     ,000     ,857     ,425       Within Groups     ,046     438     ,000           vegetable	miik_EF	Between Groups	,011	2	,005	,552	,576	
Iotal     4,205     440     ····       dairyproducts_EF     Between Groups     .000     2     .000     .002     .998       Within Groups     1,372     438     .003     ····			4,194	438	,010			
dairyproducts_EF     Between Groups     1,000     2     1,000     1,002     1,398       Within Groups     1,372     438     .003		l otal	4,205	440	000	000	000	
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c } \hline Within Groups 1,372 438 ,003 \\ \hline Total 1,372 440 \\ \hline Total 1,372 440 \\ \hline Total 1,372 440 \\ \hline Within Groups 0,019 2,010 2,157 ,117 \\ \hline Within Groups 1,963 438 ,004 \\ \hline Total 1,982 440 \\ \hline Total 0,026 4438 ,000 \\ \hline Total 0,026 4438 ,000 \\ \hline Total 0,026 440 \\ \hline Total 0,046 440 \\ \hline Total 0,003 2 0,002 1,521 ,220 \\ \hline Within Groups 0,003 2 0,002 1,521 ,220 \\ \hline Within Groups 0,003 2 0,000 ,948 ,388 \\ \hline Within Groups 0,013 438 0,000 \\ \hline Total 0,013 440 $	dairyproducts_EF	Between Groups	,000	2	,000	,002	,998	
Initial     1,3/2     440     Image: Constraint of the state		Within Groups	1,372	438	,003			
meat_EF     Between Groups     ,019     2     ,010     2,157     ,117       Within Groups     1,963     438     ,004		Total	1,372	440				
Within Groups     1,963     438     ,004       Total     1,982     440	meat_EF	Between Groups	,019	2	,010	2,157	,117	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c } \hline Total & 1,982 & 440 & & & & & \\ \hline Total & 1,982 & 440 & & & & & \\ \hline potatorice_EF & Between Groups & ,000 & 2 & ,000 & 3,771 & ,024 \\ \hline Within Groups & ,026 & 438 & ,000 & & & \\ \hline Total & ,026 & 440 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,026 & 440 & & & & \\ \hline pasta_EF & Between Groups & ,000 & 2 & ,000 & ,857 & ,425 \\ \hline Within Groups & ,046 & 4438 & ,000 & & & \\ \hline Total & ,046 & 440 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,046 & 440 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,046 & 440 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,046 & 440 & & & & \\ \hline Vegetable_{Dased_EF} & Between Groups & ,003 & 2 & ,002 & 1,521 & ,220 \\ \hline Within Groups & ,450 & 438 & ,001 & & & \\ \hline Total & ,453 & 440 & & & \\ \hline Vegetarian_EF & Between Groups & ,000 & 2 & ,000 & ,948 & ,388 \\ \hline Within Groups & ,013 & 438 & ,000 & & \\ \hline Total & ,013 & 440 & & & \\ \hline Total & ,013 & 440 & & & \\ \hline Total & ,013 & 440 & & & \\ \hline Total & ,585 & 440 & & & \\ \hline Total & ,585 & 440 & & & \\ \hline Total & ,585 & 440 & & & \\ \hline teacoffee_EF & Between Groups & ,000 & 2 & ,000 & ,984 & ,374 \\ \hline Within Groups & ,035 & 438 & ,000 & & \\ \hline Total & ,035 & 440 & & & \\ \hline Total & ,040 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,040 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,040 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,040 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,040 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,040 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,040 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,040 & & & \\ \hline Total & ,040 & & & \\ \hline Total & $		Within Groups	1,963	438	,004			
potatorice_EF     Between Groups     ,000     2     ,000     3,771     ,024       Within Groups     ,026     438     ,000          pasta_EF     Between Groups     ,000     2     ,000     ,857     ,425       Within Groups     ,046     438     ,000          vegetable_     Between Groups     ,046     440          vegetable_     Between Groups     ,003     2     ,002     1,521     ,220       based_EF     Within Groups     ,450     438     ,001         vegetarian_EF     Between Groups     ,000     2     ,000     ,948     ,388       Within Groups     ,013     440           fruit_vegetab     Between Groups     ,003     2     ,001     1,074     ,343       le_EF     Within Groups     ,582     438     ,001         teacoffee_EF     Between Groups		Total	1,982	440				
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c } \hline Within Groups & ,026 & 438 & ,000 & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & $	potatorice_EF	Between Groups	,000	2	,000	3,771	,024	
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c } \hline Total & ,026 & 440 & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & &$		Within Groups	,026	438	,000			
pasta_EFBetween Groups,0002,000,857,425Within Groups,046438,000vegetable_ based_EFBetween Groups,0032,0021,521,220Within Groups,450438,001 </td <td></td> <td>Total</td> <td>,026</td> <td>440</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>		Total	,026	440				
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c } \hline Within Groups & ,046 & 438 & ,000 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,046 & 440 & & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,046 & 440 & & & & & \\ \hline Within Groups & ,003 & 2 & ,002 & 1,521 & ,220 & \\ \hline Within Groups & ,450 & 438 & ,001 & & & \\ \hline Total & ,453 & 440 & & & & \\ \hline Vegetarian_EF & Between Groups & ,000 & 2 & ,000 & ,948 & ,388 & \\ \hline Within Groups & ,013 & 438 & ,000 & & & \\ \hline Total & ,013 & 440 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,013 & 440 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,013 & 440 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,013 & 440 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,582 & 438 & ,001 & 1,074 & ,343 & \\ \hline Ie_EF & Between Groups & ,000 & 2 & ,000 & ,984 & ,374 & \\ \hline Within Groups & ,582 & 443 & ,001 & & \\ \hline Total & ,585 & 440 & & & \\ \hline Total & ,585 & 440 & & & \\ \hline Total & ,035 & 438 & ,000 & & \\ \hline Total & ,035 & 440 & & & \\ \hline Total & ,040 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,040 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,040 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,040 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,040 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,040 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,040 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,040 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,040 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,040 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,040 & & & & \\ \hline Total & ,040 & & & & \\ \hline Total &  & ,040 & & & \\ \hline Total &  & ,040 & & & \\ \hline Total &  & ,040 & & & \\ \hline Total &  & ,040 & & & \\ \hline Total &  &  & ,050 & & \\ \hline Total &  &  & ,050 & & \\ \hline Total &  &  & ,050 & & \\ \hline Total &  &  & ,050 & & \\ \hline Total &  &  & ,050 & & \\ \hline Total &  &  &  & ,050 & & \\ \hline Total &  & $	pasta_EF	Between Groups	,000	2	,000	,857	,425	
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c } \hline Total & ,046 & 440 & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & &$		Within Groups	,046	438	,000			
vegetable_ based_EFBetween Groups,0032,0021,521,220Within Groups,450438,001vegetarian_EF Petween GroupsBetween Groups,0002,000,948,388Within Groups,013438,000 </td <td></td> <td>Total</td> <td>,046</td> <td>440</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>		Total	,046	440				
based_EF     Within Groups     ,450     438     ,001     Image: constraint of the stress of the	vegetable_	Between Groups	,003	2	,002	1,521	,220	
Total,453440Image: constraint of the system	based_EF	Within Groups	,450	438	,001			
vegetarian_EF     Between Groups     ,000     2     ,000     ,948     ,388       Within Groups     ,013     438     ,000            ,388     ,388     ,388     ,388     ,388     ,388     ,388     ,388     ,388     ,000      ,438     ,000           ,388     ,000           ,388     ,000        ,343     ,000       ,343      ,343     ,440       ,343     ,374     ,343     ,374     ,343     ,353     440		Total	,453	440				
Within Groups     ,013     438     ,000     Image: constraint of the system       fruit_vegetab     Between Groups     ,003     2     ,001     1,074     ,343       le_EF     Within Groups     ,582     438     ,001     1     ,343       teacoffee_EF     Between Groups     ,000     2     ,000     ,984     ,374       Within Groups     ,035     438     ,000     1     .014     .015       teacoffee_EF     Between Groups     ,035     438     ,000     .001     .014     .014       total_food_EF     Between Groups     ,126     2     ,063     1,149     ,318       Within Groups     23,981     438     ,055     .014     .014     .014     .014	vegetarian_ EF	Between Groups	,000	2	,000	,948	,388	
Total     ,013     440     Image: marginal system       fruit_vegetab     Between Groups     ,003     2     ,001     1,074     ,343       le_EF     Within Groups     ,582     438     ,001     Image: marginal system     ,343       teacoffee_EF     Between Groups     ,000     2     ,000     ,984     ,374       Within Groups     ,035     438     ,000     Image: marginal system     ,374       Vithin Groups     ,035     438     ,000     Image: marginal system     ,374       total_food_EF     Between Groups     ,126     2     ,063     1,149     ,318       Within Groups     23,981     438     ,055     Image: marginal system     ,318       Total     24,107     440     Image: marginal system     Image: marginal system     Image: marginal system     Image: marginal system		Within Groups	,013	438	,000			
fruit_vegetab le_EF     Between Groups     ,003     2     ,001     1,074     ,343       Within Groups     ,582     438     ,001         ,343       teacoffee_EF     Between Groups     ,000     2     ,000     ,984     ,374       Within Groups     ,035     438     ,000          teacoffee_EF     Between Groups     ,035     438     ,000         total_food_EF     Between Groups     ,126     2     ,063     1,149     ,318       Within Groups     23,981     438     ,055		Total	,013	440				
Ie_EF     Within Groups     ,582     438     ,001        Total     ,585     440          teacoffee_EF     Between Groups     ,000     2     ,000     ,984     ,374       Within Groups     ,035     438     ,000          total_food_EF     Between Groups     ,126     2     ,063     1,149     ,318       Within Groups     23,981     438     ,055          Total     24,107     440	fruit_vegetab	Between Groups	,003	2	,001	1,074	,343	
Total     ,585     440     Image: colored state     Image: colored state <thimage: colored="" state<="" th="">     Image: colored state</thimage:>	le_EF	Within Groups	,582	438	,001			
teacoffee_EF     Between Groups     ,000     2     ,000     ,984     ,374       Within Groups     ,035     438     ,000             ,374      ,374      ,374      ,374      ,374      ,374      ,374              ,374   <		Total	,585	440				
Within Groups     ,035     438     ,000       Total     ,035     440        total_food_EF     Between Groups     ,126     2     ,063     1,149     ,318       Within Groups     23,981     438     ,055         Total     24,107     440	teacoffee_EF	Between Groups	,000	2	,000	,984	,374	
Total     ,035     440        total_food_EF     Between Groups     ,126     2     ,063     1,149     ,318       Within Groups     23,981     438     ,055		Within Groups	,035	438	,000			
total_food_EF     Between Groups     ,126     2     ,063     1,149     ,318       Within Groups     23,981     438     ,055		Total	,035	440				
Within Groups     23,981     438     ,055       Total     24,107     440	total_food_EF	Between Groups	,126	2	,063	1,149	,318	
Total 24,107 440		Within Groups	23,981	438	,055			
		Total	24,107	440				

	19-30	30-60	Above
	years	years	60
Bread and bakery			
products	0,070	0,063	0,057
Muesli	0,006	0,004	0,003
Cold cuts	0,037	0,028	0,018
Eggs	0,012	0,014	0,013
Milk	0,064	0,056	0,060
Dairy products	0,031	0,032	0,027
Meat	0,149	0,147	0,153
Potato, rice	0,014	0,014	0,013
Pasta	0,017	0,016	0,017
Vegetable-based meals	0,044	0,053	0,068
Vegetarian meals	0,003	0,003	0,002
Fruits and vegetables	0,029	0,032	0,031
Coffee, tea	0,009	0,010	0,010
Total	0,485	0,472	0,472

# Appendix 14: The ecological footprint of women according to age groups (gha/person)

		ANOVA				
		Sum of		Mean	_	0.
bread FF	Between Groups	Squares 010	df 2	Square 005	F 1 432	Sig. 240
broad_Er	Within Groups	1 774	531	,000	1,102	,210
	Total	1,774	533	,000		
muesli FF	Between Groups	001	2	000	2 776	063
Indean_Er	Within Groups	,001	531	,000	2,110	,000
	Total	,000	533	,000		
coldcuts EE	Between Groups	,004	200	000	9.612	000
	Within Groups	,010	531	,003	3,012	,000
	Total	,499	533	,001		
	Rotwoon Groups	,517	200	000	640	529
eggs_Lr	Within Croups	,000	۲ 521	,000	,040	,520
	Total	, 171	531	,000		
	Total	,171	233	002	420	651
MIK_EF	Between Groups	,006	2	,003	,429	100,
		3,412	531	,006		
		3,418	533	004		570
dairyproducts_EF	Between Groups	,002	2	,001	,557	,573
	Within Groups	1,002	531	,002		
	l otal	1,004	533			
meat_EF	Between Groups	,002	2	,001	,293	,746
	Within Groups	2,180	531	,004		
	Total	2,182	533			
potatorice_EF	Between Groups	,000	2	,000	1,087	,338
	Within Groups	,028	531	,000		
	Total	,028	533			
pasta_EF	Between Groups	,000	2	,000	1,210	,299
	Within Groups	,051	531	,000		
	Total	,051	533			
vegetable_	Between Groups	,029	2	,014	13,376	,000
based_EF	Within Groups	,569	531	,001		
	Total	,598	533			
vegetarian_ EF	Between Groups	,000	2	,000	1,244	,289
	Within Groups	,024	531	,000		
	Total	,024	533			
fruit_vegetab	Between Groups	,001	2	,001	,190	,827
le_EF	Within Groups	1,486	531	,003		
	Total	1,487	533			
teacoffee_EF	Between Groups	,000	2	,000	,704	,495
	Within Groups	,064	531	,000		
	Total	,064	533			
total_food_EF	Between Groups	,015	2	,007	,181	,835
	Within Groups	21,693	531	,041		
	Total	21,708	533			
	I					

# Appendix 15: The ecological footprint according to occupational activity (gha/person)

					Woman		
					on		
	Physical	Sedentary	Skilled		maternity		
	worker	worker	worker	Pensioner	leave	Student	Total
Bread and							
bakery							
products	0,082	0,065	0,089	0,061	0,072	0,080	0,073
Muesli	0,001	0,007	0,002	0,002	0,004	0,005	0,003
Cold cuts	0,047	0,028	0,053	0,031	0,045	0,046	0,040
Eggs	0,025	0,014	0,018	0,021	0,017	0,022	0,019
Milk	0,068	0,056	0,072	0,063	0,069	0,072	0,063
Dairy							
products	0,029	0,029	0,035	0,034	0,035	0,038	0,033
Meat	0,166	0,148	0,153	0,155	0,176	0,180	0,156
Potato, rice	0,016	0,014	0,015	0,014	0,017	0,018	0,015
Pasta	0,017	0,014	0,016	0,017	0,018	0,019	0,017
Vegetable-							
based meals	0,051	0,048	0,047	0,062	0,053	0,045	0,052
Vegetarian							
meals	0,002	0,004	0,002	0,002	0,003	0,003	0,002
Fruits and							
vegetables	0,020	0,031	0,024	0,031	0,020	0,030	0,028
Coffee, tea	0,011	0,009	0,009	0,009	0,008	0,007	0,009
Total	0,533	0,467	0,536	0,502	0,537	0,565	0,509

		ANOVA	1			
		Sum of	df	Mean	-	Sig
bread_EF	Between Groups	,156	10	.016	3,418	,000
	Within Groups	4,409	964	,005		
	Total	4,565	974			
muesli_EF	Between Groups	,005	10	,000	4,419	,000
	Within Groups	,100	964	,000		
	Total	,104	974			
coldcuts_EF	Between Groups	,109	10	,011	6,370	,000
	Within Groups	1,650	964	,002		
	Total	1,759	974			
eggs_EF	Between Groups	,015	10	,002	2,738	,003
	Within Groups	,538	964	,001		
	Total	,554	974			
milk_EF	Between Groups	,093	10	,009	1,183	,299
	Within Groups	7,557	964	,008		
	Total	7,650	974			
dairyproducts_EF	Between Groups	,020	10	,002	,806	,623
	Within Groups	2,361	964	,002		
	Total	2,381	974			
meat_EF	Between Groups	,085	10	,009	1,975	,033
	Within Groups	4,150	964	,004		
	Total	4,235	974			
potatorice_EF	Between Groups	,002	10	,000	2,745	,002
	Within Groups	,054	964	,000		
	Total	,056	974			
pasta_EF	Between Groups	,004	10	,000	3,833	,000
	Within Groups	,094	964	,000		
	Total	,097	974			
vegetable_	Between Groups	,039	10	,004	3,662	,000
Dased_EF	Within Groups	1,015	964	,001		
	Total	1,054	974			
vegetarian_ EF	Between Groups	,001	10	,000	2,530	,005
	Within Groups	,037	964	,000		
	Total	,038	974			
fruit_vegetab	Between Groups	,030	10	,003	1,387	,181
le_EF	Within Groups	2,059	964	,002		
	Total	2,089	974			
teacoffee_EF	Between Groups	,001	10	,000	,974	,464
	Within Groups	,099	964	,000		
	Total	,100	974			
total_food_EF	Between Groups	1,067	10	,107	2,228	,015
	Within Groups	46,166	964	,048		
	Total	47,233	974			





Source: Author's own compilation based on the Nutritional tables of Bíró and Lindner (1999)

## Appendix 17: The ecological footprint of people with active occupations (30-60 years, both genders) (gha/person)

ANOVA								
		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.		
total_food_EF	Between Groups	,407	2	,204	4,048	,018		
	Within Groups	19,913	396	,050				
	Total	20,320	398					

## Appendix 18: The ecological footprint of people with active occupations (30-60 years), men and women are analysed separately

	Physical worker	Sedentary worker	Skilled worker	Average
Bread and bakery products	0,098	0,080	0,105	0,099
Muesli	0,000	0,010	0,001	0,003
Cold cuts	0,046	0,038	0,065	0,057
Eggs	0,037	0,024	0,022	0,024
Milk	0,052	0,074	0,079	0,075
Dairy products	0,024	0,035	0,036	0,035
Meat	0,191	0,174	0,160	0,167
Potato, rice	0,019	0,018	0,015	0,016
Pasta	0,015	0,014	0,017	0,016
Vegetable-based meals	0,051	0,043	0,050	0,049
Vegetarian meals	0,000	0,004	0,001	0,001
Fruits and vegetables	0,012	0,027	0,020	0,021
Coffee, tea	0,012	0,009	0,009	0,009
Total	0,557	0,548	0,581	0,571

### The ecological footprint of men (gha/person)

### The ecological footprint of women (gha/person)

	Physical worker	Sedentary worker	Skilled worker	Average
Bread and bakery				Ŭ
products	0,073	0,061	0,070	0,065
Muesli	0,004	0,006	0,003	0,005
Cold cuts	0,037	0,023	0,032	0,028
Eggs	0,014	0,009	0,015	0,012
Milk	0,062	0,055	0,065	0,060
Dairy products	0,033	0,028	0,033	0,031
Meat	0,136	0,140	0,147	0,143
Potato, rice	0,013	0,013	0,014	0,013
Pasta	0,018	0,013	0,016	0,014
Vegetable-based meals	0,047	0,052	0,047	0,050
Vegetarian meals	0,004	0,004	0,003	0,004
Fruits and vegetables	0,031	0,031	0,032	0,032
Coffee, tea	0,010	0,010	0,010	0,010
Total	0,480893	0,446068	0,486988	0,465598

		ANOVA				
		Sum of	16	Mean	_	0.
bread FF	Between Groups	Squares 019	df 2	Square 010	F 1 153	Sig. 318
Sidda_Ei	Within Groups	1,518	- 181	,018	1,100	,010
	Total	1,510	183	,000		
muesli FF	Between Groups	002	2	001	5 463	005
	Within Groups	,002	181	,000	0,100	,000
	Total	,000	183	,000		
coldcuts FF	Retween Groups	,041	2	013	5 580	004
	Within Groups	427	- 181	,010	0,000	,001
	Total	453	183	,002		
eggs FF	Between Groups	, 100	2	002	3 066	049
09901	Within Groups	,001	- 181	,001	0,000	,010
	Total	.114	183	,		
milk EF	Between Groups	.013	2	.006	.505	.604
	Within Groups	2.252	181	.012	,	,
	Total	2.264	183	, -		
dairyproducts EF	Between Groups	,002	2	.001	,662	,517
	Within Groups	,335	181	,002	,	,
	Total	,338	183	,		
meat EF	Between Groups	,019	2	.010	2,571	,079
_	Within Groups	,676	181	,004	,	,
	Total	,696	183	,		
potatorice_EF	Between Groups	,000	2	,000	3,658	,028
	Within Groups	,008	181	,000		
	Total	,009	183			
pasta_EF	Between Groups	,000	2	,000	,951	,388
	Within Groups	,020	181	,000		
	Total	,020	183			
vegetable_	Between Groups	,002	2	,001	1,235	,293
based_EF	Within Groups	,139	181	,001		
	Total	,141	183			
vegetarian_EF	Between Groups	,000	2	,000	7,945	,000
	Within Groups	,004	181	,000		
	Total	,005	183			
fruit_vegetab	Between Groups	,003	2	,001	2,403	,093
le_EF	Within Groups	,111	181	,001		
	Total	,113	183			
teacoffee_EF	Between Groups	,000	2	,000	,587	,557
	Within Groups	,022	181	,000		
	Total	,022	183			
total_food_EF	Between Groups	,037	2	,018	,375	,688
	Within Groups	8,898	181	,049		
	Total	8,935	183			

### The ecological footprint of men, ANOVA table (30-60 years)

		ANOVA				
		Sum of		Mean	_	0.
bread FF	Between Groups	Squares	df 2	Square 002	F 572	Sig. 565
STOCK_ET	Within Groups	891	212	,002	,012	,000
	Total	896	212	,004		
muesli FF	Retween Groups	001	211	000	2 964	054
	Within Groups	025	212	,000	2,001	,001
	Total	,020	212	,000		
coldcuts FF	Retween Groups	,020	211	003	3 059	049
	Within Groups	199	212	,000	0,000	,010
	Total	.205	214	,001		
eggs FF	Between Groups	.002	2	.001	4,851	.009
-33	Within Groups	.039	212	.000	.,	,
	Total	.041	214	,		
milk EF	Between Groups	,005	2	,002	,258	,773
_	Within Groups	1,969	212	,009	,	, -
	Total	1,974	214			
dairyproducts_EF	Between Groups	,002	2	,001	,306	,737
	Within Groups	,540	212	,003		
	Total	,542	214			
meat_EF	Between Groups	,003	2	,001	,378	,686
	Within Groups	,810	212	,004		
	Total	,813	214			
potatorice_EF	Between Groups	,000	2	,000	,843	,432
	Within Groups	,010	212	,000		
	Total	,010	214			
pasta_EF	Between Groups	,001	2	,000	4,169	,017
	Within Groups	,015	212	,000		
	Total	,016	214			
vegetable_	Between Groups	,001	2	,001	,754	,472
based_EF	Within Groups	,206	212	,001		
	Total	,208	214			
vegetarian_ EF	Between Groups	,000	2	,000	,887	,413
	Within Groups	,011	212	,000		
	Total	,011	214			
fruit_vegetab	Between Groups	,000	2	,000	,006	,994
le_EF	Within Groups	,570	212	,003		
	Total	,570	214			
teacoffee_EF	Between Groups	,000	2	,000	,047	,954
	Within Groups	,023	212	,000		
	Total	,023	214			
total_food_EF	Between Groups	,086	2	,043	,899	,409
	Within Groups	10,194	212	,048		
	Total	10,280	214			

### The ecological footprint of women, ANOVA table (30-60 years)



# **Appendix 19: Leisure time activities of men (30-60 years), according to occupational activities**

ANOV	A				
	Sum of		Mean		
	Squares	df	Square	F	Sig.
Between	25,725	2	12,863	6,617	,002
Groups					
Within Groups	351,835	181	1,944		
Total	377,560	183			
Between	11,136	2	5,568	6,306	,002
Groups					
Within Groups	159,815	181	,883		
Total	170,951	183			
Between	33,022	2	16,511	14,278	,000
Groups					
Within Groups	209,304	181	1,156		
Total	242,326	183			
Between	4,563	2	2,281	2,137	,121
Groups					
Within Groups	193,263	181	1,068		
Total	197,826	183			
Between	12,875	2	6,437	6,841	,001
Groups					
Within Groups	168,428	179	,941		
Total	181,302	181			
Between	,371	2	,186	,227	,797
Groups					
Within Groups	147,377	180	,819		
Total	147,749	182			
	ANOV Between Groups Within Groups Total Between Groups Within Groups Within Groups Within Groups Within Groups Within Groups Total Between Groups Within Groups Total Between Groups Within Groups Total Between Groups Within Groups Total	ANOVA Sum of Squares Between 25,725 Groups 351,835 Total 377,560 Between 11,136 Groups 159,815 Total 170,951 Between 33,022 Groups 2 Within Groups 209,304 Total 242,326 Between 4,563 Groups 193,263 Total 197,826 Between 12,875 Groups 103,263 Total 197,826 Between 3,571 Groups 168,428 Total 181,302 Between 3,371 Groups 147,377 Total 147,749	ANOVA       Sum of Squares     df       Between     25,725     2       Groups     351,835     181       Total     377,560     183       Between     11,136     2       Groups     159,815     181       Total     170,951     183       Between     13,022     2       Groups     159,815     181       Total     170,951     183       Between     33,022     2       Groups     209,304     181       Total     242,326     183       Between     4,563     2       Groups     193,263     181       Total     197,826     183       Between     12,875     2       Groups     183     181       Total     197,826     183       Between     3,371     2       Groups     181     379       Total     181,302     181       Between     ,371     2	ANOVA     Sum of Squares     Mean Square       Between Groups     25,725     2     12,863       Within Groups     351,835     181     1,944       Total     377,560     183     1       Between Groups     11,136     2     5,568       Groups     159,815     181     ,883       Total     170,951     183     183       Between Groups     159,815     181     ,883       Total     170,951     183     16,511       Between Groups     209,304     181     1,156       Total     242,326     183     145       Between Groups     193,263     181     1,068       Total     197,826     183     14068       Within Groups     168,428     179     ,941       Total     181,302     181     1,866       Groups     168,428     179     ,941       Total     181,302     181     186       Between Groups     ,371     2     ,186 <t< td=""><td>ANOVA     Sum of Squares     Mean Square     Mean Square     F       Between     25,725     2     12,863     6,617       Groups     351,835     181     1,944        Total     377,560     183         Between     11,136     2     5,568     6,306       Groups     159,815     181     ,883        Within Groups     159,815     181     ,883        Total     170,951     183         Between     33,022     2     16,511     14,278       Groups     209,304     181     1,156        Within Groups     209,304     181     1,156        Total     242,326     183          Between     4,563     2     2,281     2,137       Groups     193,263     181     1,068        Total     197,826     183         Between     ,371</td></t<>	ANOVA     Sum of Squares     Mean Square     Mean Square     F       Between     25,725     2     12,863     6,617       Groups     351,835     181     1,944        Total     377,560     183         Between     11,136     2     5,568     6,306       Groups     159,815     181     ,883        Within Groups     159,815     181     ,883        Total     170,951     183         Between     33,022     2     16,511     14,278       Groups     209,304     181     1,156        Within Groups     209,304     181     1,156        Total     242,326     183          Between     4,563     2     2,281     2,137       Groups     193,263     181     1,068        Total     197,826     183         Between     ,371



### Leisure time activities of women (30-60 years), according to occupational activities

		ANOVA										
		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.						
Gardening, DIY, creative hobbies	Between Groups	60,979	2	30,489	13,973	,000						
	Within Groups	462,603	212	2,182								
	Total	523,581	214									
Going to cinema, theatre, concert,	Between Groups	18,062	2	9,031	10,852	,000						
museum	Within Groups	176,431	212	,832								
	Total	194,493	214									
Doing sports	Between Groups	27,275	2	13,637	12,646	,000						
	Within Groups	228,614	212	1,078								
	Total	255,888	214									
Window-shopping and shopping	Between Groups	3,486	2	1,743	1,590	,206						
	Within Groups	231,266	211	1,096								
	Total	234,752	213									
Travelling	Between Groups	11,032	2	5,516	6,374	,002						
	Within Groups	182,599	211	,865								
	Total	193,631	213									
Spending time with family and friends	Between Groups	,788	2	,394	,524	,593						
	Within Groups	159,370	212	,752								
	Total	160,158	214									
Ecological footprint (gha)												
----------------------------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	--	--
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10		
Cereals	0.091	0.088	0.088	0.089	0.097	0.102	0.102	0.101	0.093	0.090		
Cold cuts,												
ham	0.036	0.039	0.039	0.042	0.045	0.050	0.053	0.056	0.058	0.059		
Meat	0.085	0.101	0.110	0.114	0.128	0.137	0.145	0.156	0.145	0.147		
Milk	0.034	0.036	0.042	0.045	0.050	0.055	0.056	0.055	0.057	0.058		
Dairy products	0.042	0.050	0.063	0.065	0.076	0.088	0.097	0.105	0.113	0.133		
Egg	0.008	0.010	0.011	0.011	0.013	0.014	0.014	0.014	0.013	0.012		
Fruits	0.006	0.007	0.010	0.011	0.013	0.016	0.018	0.018	0.020	0.022		
Potato	0.006	0.006	0.006	0.006	0.007	0.007	0.008	0.008	0.007	0.007		
Vegetables	0.018	0.021	0.025	0.026	0.030	0.035	0.036	0.037	0.039	0.038		
Total	0.326	0.359	0.393	0.410	0.459	0.504	0.529	0.549	0.546	0.565		

# Appendix 20: The ecological footprint of food consumption according to income deciles (gha/person)

#### Appendix 21: Fat and sugar consumption of income deciles (kg/person)

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Fats	11.8	14.3	15.3	15.3	17.5	19.1	19	19.9	19.1	18
Sugar	9.5	11.2	12	13.3	13.9	15.9	15.4	16.4	13.6	13.7

Source: KSH (2012e)

Appendix 22: Expenditures on one kilogram of food for the lowest and highest income deciles



Source: Author's own calculations based on KSH (2012e-f)

#### Appendix 23: Cluster analysis

#### Initial ten clusters

Final Cluster Centers											
		Cluster									
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
bread_kcal_pc	,23	,12	,39	,24	,30	,46	,23	,56	,09	,17	
coldcuts_kcal_pc	,04	,01	,03	,04	,04	,03	,03	,03	,02	,04	
egg_kcal_pc	,04	,03	,03	,04	,04	,03	,03	,03	,07	,06	
milk_kcal_pc	,03	,21	,03	,25	,13	,12	,10	,03	,05	,06	
dairyproducts_kcal_ pc	,04	,04	,04	,08	,04	,04	,11	,03	,02	,02	
meat_kcal_pc	,23	,19	,17	,10	,15	,11	,13	,11	,27	,18	
pasta_kcal_ pc	,08	,09	,08	,09	,08	,05	,07	,05	,10	,19	
veget_based_kcal_pc	,12	,14	,09	,06	,09	,05	,09	,06	,18	,10	
fruits_vegetables_kcal_ pc	,03	,04	,02	,03	,03	,03	,09	,02	,03	,04	

#### Plotting the ten clusters in multidimensional space, the result of the Alscal method



#### **Final five clusters**

Final Cluster Centers									
	Cluster								
	1	2	3	4	5				
bread_kcal_pc	0,18	0,11	0,33	0,27	0,50				
coldcuts_kcal_pc	0,03	0,01	0,04	0,03	0,03				
egg_kcal_pc	0,05	0,04	0,03	0,03	0,03				
milk_kcal_ pc	0,04	0,19	0,05	0,17	0,07				
dairyproducts_kcal_ pc	0,04	0,04	0,04	0,07	0,04				
meat_kcal_pc	0,24	0,19	0,17	0,14	0,12				
pasta_kcal_ pc	0,11	0,12	0,08	0,07	0,06				
veget_based_kcal_ pc	0,13	0,13	0,10	0,08	0,06				
fruits_vegetables_kcal_ pc	0,03	0,04	0,03	0,04	0,02				

ANOVA												
	Cluster		Error		F	Sig.						
	Mean Square	df	Mean Square	df								
bread_kcal_pc	3,103	4	,003	757	949,186	,000						
coldcuts_kcal_pc	,008	4	,001	757	9,864	,000						
egg_kcal_pc	,010	4	,001	757	7,245	,000						
milk_kcal_ pc	,643	4	,003	757	242,500	,000						
dairyproducts_kcal_ pc	,027	4	,002	757	17,912	,000						
meat_kcal_ pc	,353	4	,002	757	184,586	,000						
pasta_kcal_ pc	,086	4	,002	757	34,517	,000						
veget_based_kcal_ pc	,152	4	,003	757	58,102	,000						
fruits_vegetables_kcal_ pc	,010	4	,001	757	8,411	,000						

The F tests should be used only for descriptive purposes because the clusters have been chosen to maximize the differences among cases in different clusters. The observed significance levels are not corrected for this and thus cannot be interpreted as tests of the hypothesis that the cluster means are equal.

# Plotting the final clusters in multidimensional space, the result of the Alscal method



**Appendix 24: The ecological footprint of the clusters (gha)** 

				Erwit		
Mean	Meat and vegetable- based dish consumers	Meat and milk consumers	Average consumers	vegetable and dairy product consumers	Bread and bakery product consumers	Consuming no milk and dairy products
Bread and						
bakery						
products	0,032	0,020	0,074	0,064	0,151	0,057
Muesli	0,002	0,005	0,005	0,004	0,002	0,002
Cold cuts	0,034	0,014	0,046	0,047	0,055	0,029
Eggs	0,021	0,019	0,018	0,021	0,023	0,015
Milk	0,027	0,126	0,042	0,153	0,078	0,000
Dairy products	0,024	0,029	0,035	0,065	0,041	0,000
Meat	0,187	0,146	0,164	0,142	0,151	0,148
Potato, rice	0,018	0,012	0,015	0,013	0,015	0,014
Pasta	0,017	0,020	0,016	0,016	0,015	0,017
Vegetable- based meals	0,059	0,063	0,057	0,048	0,042	0,050
Vegetarian meals	0,002	0,001	0,002	0,003	0,002	0,002
Fruits and vegetables	0,019	0,023	0,026	0,040	0,025	0,022
Coffee, tea	0,008	0,009	0,009	0,011	0,009	0,008
Total	0,450	0,486	0,510	0,625	0,607	0,364



#### The ecological footprint of the clusters

## Appendix 25: Scenarios for changing the structure of food consumption

## A. Decreasing meat consumption once per week

EF =ecological footprint in global hectares

	M consun reduce occas wee replac	eat nption is d by one ion per k, no æment	Meat cons reduced occasion replacemer and veg	sumption is d by one per week, nt with fruits getables	Meat consumption is reduced by one occasion per week, replacement with dairy products EE			
	kg	EF	kg	EF	kg	EF	kg	EF
Bread and bakery								
products	68.27	0.073	68.27	0.073	68.27	0.073	68.27	0.073
Muesli	2.67	0.003	2.67	0.003	2.67	0.003	2.67	0.003
Cold cuts	12.51	0.040	12.51	0.040	12.51	0.040	12.51	0.040
Eggs	13.49	0.019	13.49	0.019	13.49	0.019	13.49	0.019
Milk	68.36	0.063	68.36	0.063	68.36	0.063	68.36	0.063
Dairy products	6.93	0.033	6.93	0.033	11.58	0.055	6.93	0.033
Meat	40.10	0.131	40.10	0.131	40.10	0.131	40.10	0.131
Potato, rice	44.55	0.015	44.55	0.015	44.55	0.015	44.55	0.015
Pasta	12.45	0.017	12.45	0.017	12.45	0.017	16.61	0.022
Vegetable-based meals	43.17	0.052	43.17	0.052	43.17	0.052	43.17	0.052
Vegetarian meals	3.49	0.002	3.49	0.002	3.49	0.002	3.49	0.002
Fruits and vegetables Coffee, tea	50.52 2.44	0.028	88.43 2.44	0.049	50.52 2.44	0.028	50.52 2.44	0.028
Total	369	0.485	407	0.506	374	0.507	373	0.490
Change in the ecological footprint		-5.0%		-0.9%		-0.6%		-3.9%

# B. Reducing meat and egg consumption according to the guidelines of OÉTI (National Institute for Food and Nutrition)

	Meat con recomm OÉT replac	sumption ended by 1, no eement	Meat a consu recomm OÉT replac	Meat and egg consumption recommended by OÉTI, no replacement		Meat and egg consumptionMeat Meatrecommended byconsOÉTI, replacementrecommentwith fruits andOÉTI, rvegetableswith da		eat and egg onsumption ommended by I, replacement dairy products		at and egg nsumption nmended by replacement rith pasta	Meat and egg consumption recommended by OÉTI, replacement with fruits, vegetables and pasta	
	kg	EF	kg	EF	kg	EF	kg	EF	kg	EF	kg	EF
Bread and bakery products	68.27	0.073	68.27	0.073	68.27	0.073	68.27	0.073	68.27	0.073	68.274	0.073
Muesli	2.67	0.003	2.67	0.003	2.67	0.003	2.67	0.003	2.67	0.003	2.672	0.003
Cold cuts	0.00	0.000	0.00	0.000	0.00	0.000	0.00	0.000	0.00	0.000	0.000	0.000
Eggs	13.49	0.019	6.00	0.009	6.00	0.009	6.00	0.009	6.00	0.009	6.000	0.009
Milk	68.36	0.063	68.36	0.063	68.36	0.063	68.36	0.063	68.36	0.063	68.359	0.063
Dairy products	6.93	0.033	6.93	0.033	6.93	0.033	20.38	0.097	6.93	0.033	6.925	0.033
Meat	40.80	0.133	40.80	0.133	40.80	0.133	40.80	0.133	40.80	0.133	40.800	0.133
Potato, rice	44.55	0.015	44.55	0.015	44.55	0.015	44.55	0.015	44.55	0.015	44.555	0.015
Pasta	12.45	0.017	12.45	0.017	12.45	0.017	12.45	0.017	24.47	0.033	24.466	0.033
Vegetable-based meals	43.17	0.052	43.17	0.052	43.17	0.052	43.17	0.052	43.17	0.052	43.168	0.052
Vegetarian meals	3.49	0.002	3.49	0.002	3.49	0.002	3.49	0.002	3.49	0.002	3.493	0.002
Fruits and vegetables	50.52	0.028	50.52	0.028	160.02	0.088	50.52	0.028	50.52	0.028	105.271	0.058
Coffee, tea	2.44	0.009	2.44	0.009	2.44	0.009	2.44	0.009	2.44	0.009	2.435	0.009
Total	357.14	0.44	349.65	0.436	459.15	0.497	363.11	0.50	361.67	0.453	416.42	0.483
Change in the ecological footprint		-12.3%		-14.4%		-2.6%		-1.8%		-11.3%		-5.4%

EF= ecological footprint in global hectares

# C. Reducing meat consumption according to McMichael et al. (2007)

## EF= ecological footprint in global hectares

	Meat consumpt per day, no rep	tion 90g lacement	Meat consumption per day, replace with fruits and w	tion 90g ement vegetables	Meat consumpt per day, replace with dairy produ	ion 90g ement ucts	Meat consum per day, repla with pasta	ption 90g acement
	kg	EF	kg	EF	kg	EF	kg	EF
Bread and bakery products	68.274	0.073	68.274	0.073	68.274	0.073	68.274	0.073
Muesli	2.672	0.003	2.672	0.003	2.672	0.003	2.672	0.003
Cold cuts	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Eggs	13.489	0.019	13.489	0.019	13.489	0.019	13.489	0.019
Milk	68.359	0.063	68.359	0.063	68.359	0.063	68.359	0.063
Dairy products	6.925	0.033	6.925	0.033	21.542	0.103	6.925	0.033
Meat	32.760	0.107	32.760	0.107	32.760	0.107	32.760	0.107
Potato, rice	44.555	0.015	44.555	0.015	44.555	0.015	44.555	0.015
Pasta	12.454	0.017	12.454	0.017	12.454	0.017	29.507	0.039
Vegetable-based meals	43.168	0.052	43.168	0.052	43.168	0.052	43.168	0.052
Vegetarian meals	3.493	0.002	3.493	0.002	3.493	0.002	3.493	0.002
Fruits and vegetables	50.521	0.028	169.491	0.093	50.521	0.028	50.521	0.028
Coffee, tea	2.435	0.009	2.435	0.009	2.435	0.009	2.435	0.009
Total	349.106	0.421138	468.0759	0.486635	363.7223	0.490918	366.1584	0.443883
Change in the ecological footprint		-17.5%		-4.6%		-3.8%		-13.0%

#### References

- Ádám, D., Vági, Zs., Lelovics, Zs. 2010. Húsfogyasztás sajátos kérdése a gazdaságosság szempontjából. (The question of meat consumption from economic aspect) 52. Georgikon Napok, Keszthely, 2010.09.30-2010.10.01. http://sandbox.georgikon.hu/napok-old/?p=temak&q=%C1d%E1m&ev=ANY&szekcio=ANY Accessed 12.03. 2012
- Ádám, D., Vági, Zs., Lelovics, Zs. 2011. Ki tartja fenn a fenntarthatóságot? Bioélelmiszert rendszeresen fogyasztók ökológiai lábnyomának mérete. (Who sustains sutainability? The ecological footprint of organic food consumers) 53. Georgikon Napok, Keszthely, 2011.09.29-2011.09.30. http://sandbox.georgikon.hu/napokold/?p=temak&page=2&q=%C1d%E1m&ev=ANY&szekcio=ANY Accessed 12.03.2012
- Agenda 21, The United Nations Programme of Action From Rio, report on UN Conference on Environment and Development. 1992. Rio de Janiero, Brazil, 3-14 June, http://www.un.org/esa/dsd/agenda21/ Accessed 20.10.2011
- Aiking, H. 2011. Future protein supply. Trends in Food Science and Technology, 22, 112-120.
- Albert, F., Dávid, B. 2006. Fenntarthatóság és egészség (Sustainability and helath)In: Bulla, M., Tamás, P. (szerk.) Fenntartható fejlődés Magyarországon. Jövőképek és forgatókönyvek. Új Mandátum Kiadó, Budapest. 476-492.
- Alfredsson, E. C. 2002. Green Consumption- No solution for climate change. Energy 29, 513–524.
- Ángyán, J. 2001. Az európai agrármodell, a magyar útkeresés és a környezetgazdálkodás. (The European agrarian model, Hungarian way of environmental economics) Agroinform kiadóház, Budapest, pp. 308.
- Ángyán, J., Balázs, K., Podmaniczky, L., Skutai, J. 2003. Integrated land use zonation system in Hungary as a territorial base for agri-environmental programs (In: Helming K., Wiggering H. (ed.): Sustainable development, Springer-Verlag Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1-10.
- Ángyán, J., Menyhért, Z. 1999. Az EU-konform mezőgazdasági stratégiaváltás legfontosabb területei és feladatai a növénytermesztésben. (The main areas and tasks of EU- conform agricultural strategy change for crop production) In: Kerekes, S. (szerk.): Környezetbarát mezőgazdálkodás. Magyar Tudományos Akadémia, Budapest, 9-36.
- Antal, M. 2000. Tévhitek és szélsőségek a lakosság táplálkozásában. (Misbeliefs and extremities of food consumption) Táplálkozás Allergia Diéta, 5(4), 2-6.
- Argyle, M. 1987. The Psychology of Happiness. Methuen & Co., London.
- Arrow, K., Dasgupta, P., Goulder, L., Daily, G, Ehrlich, P., Heal, G., Levin, S., et al. 2004. Are we consuming too much? Journal of Economic Perspectives, 18 (3), 147–172.
- Arthington, A.H., Bunn, S.E., Poff, N.L., Naiman, R.J., 2006. The challenge of providing environmental flow rules to sustain river ecosystems. Ecological Applications, 16 (4), 1311–1318.
- Ayres, R. U., Ayres, L. W. et al. 1996. Industrial ecology: towards closing the materials cycle. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham.

- Ayres, R. U., van den Bergy, J. C. J. M., Gowdy, J. M. 2001. Strong versus Weak sustainability: economics, natural sciences, and 'conscilience'. Environmental Ethics 23, 155-168.
- Ayres, R.U., 2000. Commentary on the utility of the ecological footprint concept. Ecological Economics 32, 347-349.
- Ayres, R.U., Kneese, A.V. 1969. Production, consumption, and externalities. The American Economic Review, 59, 282-297.
- Baas, L., Hofman, H., Huisingh, D.V., Huisingh, J., Koppert, P., Neumann. F. 1990. Protection of the North Sea: Time for Clean Production, Rotterdam: Erasmus Centre for Environmental Studies, Erasmus University.
- Babbie, E. 2003. A társadalomtudományi kutatás gyakorlata. (The practice of social research) Balassi Kiadó, Budapest.
- Barrett, J., Welch, A., Minx, J., Wiedmann, T. 2006. Counting consumption. CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, material flows and Ecological Footprint of the UK by region and devolved country. Stockholm Environment Institute, York.
- Beckmann, S. C. 1998. Ecology and consumption. In: Earl, P., Kemp, S. (Eds.), The Elgar Companion to Consumer Research and Economic Psychology. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, UK, 170-175.
- Beddoe, R., Costanza, R., Farley, J. et al. 2009. Overcoming systemic roadblocks to sustainability: The evolutionary redesign of worldviews, institutions, and technologies. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 106(8), 2483-2489.
- Belk, R.W. 1996. Studies in the New Consumer Behaviour. In Miller, D. (ed): Acknowledging consumption. Routledge, New York, 58-95.
- Belz, F.M., Pobisch, J. 2005. Marketing und Management in der Lebensmittelbranche Diskussionsbeitrag Nr. 4. Shared Responsibility for Sustainable Consumption The Case of German Food Companies. ISBN 3-38236-03-5 http://www.food.wi.tum.de/fileadmin/w00bge/www/Artikel/db4.pdf Accessed 12.01.2012
- Bennett, A. J. 2000. Environmental consequences of increasing production: some current perspectives. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 82, 89-95.
- Berg, A., 2011. Not roadmaps but toolboxes: analysing pioneering national programmes for sustainable consumption and production. Journal of Consumer Policy 34, 9–23.
- Besenyei, M. 2010. Társadalmi igények és az Ökológiai lábnyom. (Social wants and ecological footprint) Mérhető-e a fenntarthatóság? c. konferencia. 2010. március 31. Budapest
- Best, A., Giljum, S., Simmons, C. et al. 2008. Potential of the Ecological Footprint for monitoring environmental impacts from natural resource use. Report to the European Commission, DG Environment.
- Bhalli, J. A., Ali, T., Asi, M. R. et al. 2009. DNA damage in Pakistani agricultural workers exposed to mixture of pesticides. Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis, 50(1), 37-45.
- Bicknell, K.B., Ball, R.J., Cullen, R., Bigsby, H.R. 1998. New methodology for the Ecological Footprint with an application to the New Zealand economy. Ecological Economics 27, 149–160.
- Bíró, Gy. (szerk.) 1992. Az első magyarországi reprezentatív táplálkozási vizsgálat (The first Hungarian representative nutritional survey) (1985–1988). Budapest, OÉTI; 1992.

- Bíró, Gy., Lindner, K. (szerk.) 1999. Tápanyagtáblázat. Táplálkozástan és tápanyagösszetétel. (Nutritional table) Budapest, Medicina Könyvkiadó Rt.
- Bíró, Gy., Lindner, K. 1988. Tápanyagtáblázat. (Nutritional table) Medicina Könyvkiadó, Budapest, II. átdolgozott, bővített kiadás
- Bíró, L., Zajkás, G., Greiner, E., Szórád, I. et al. 2007. Táplálkozási Vizsgálat Magyarországon, 2003-2004, Mikro-tápanyagok: ásványi sók. (Nutritional survey in Hungary, 2003-2004, Micro-nutrients: mineal salts) Orvosi Hetilap 148(15), 703-708.
- Blanke, M.M., Burdick, B. 2005. Food (miles) for thought: energy balance for locallygrown versus imported apple fruit. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 12, 125–127.
- Boer, J.de, Helms, M., Aiking, H. 2005. Protein consumption and sustainability. Diet diversity in EU-15. Ecological Economics, 59, 267-274.
- Bojnec, S., Fertő, I. 2009. Agro-food trade competitiveness of Central European and Balkan countries, Food Policy, 34(5), 417-425.
- Borgström Hansson, C., Wackernagel, M. 1999. Rediscovering place and accounting space: how to re-embed the human economy. Ecological Economics 29(2), 203-213.
- Borgström, G. 1972. The Hungry Planet: The Modern World at the Edge of Famine. Macmillan: New York.
- Borgström, G. 1974. The food-population dilema. Ambio, 3(3/4), 109-113.
- Boulding, K.E. 1993. The economics of the coming spaceshipearth In: H.E. Daly, K.N. Townsend (Eds.), Valuing the Earth: Economics, Ecology, Ethics, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, 297–309.
- Bouma, J., Batjes, N.H., Groot, J.J.R. 1998. Exploring land quality effects on world food supply. Geoderma, 86(1), 43-59.
- Bourdieu, P. 1979. La Distinction. Paris, Minuit.
- Bousted, I. 1974. Resource Implications with Particular Reference to Energy Requirements for Glass and Plastic Milk Bottles. Journal of the Society of Dairy Technology, 27, 159-165.
- Bringezu, S., Schütz, H., Steger, S., Baudisch, J. 2004. International comparison of resource use and its relation to economic growth: The developemnt of total material requirements, direct material inputs and hidden flows and the structure of TMR. Ecological Economics, 51, 97-124.
- Bringezu, S., H. Schütz, Moll, S. 2003. Rationale for and Interpretion of Economy–Wide Material Flow Analysis and Derived Indicators, Journal of Industrial Ecology 7(2), 43–64.
- British Sustainable Development Commission. 2005. Sustainability implications of the little red tractor scheme. Report for the Sustainable Development Commission. London. http://www.sd-ommission.org.uk/publications/downloads/050119%20Sustainability%20implic atio ns%20of%20the%20Little%20Red%20Tractor%20scheme.pdf Accessed 07.03.2012
- Brom, F.W.A. 2000. Food, consumer concerns, and trust: food ethics for a globalizing market. Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics, 12(2), 127–139.
- Brown, P., Cameron, L. 2000. What can be done to reduce oversconsumption? Ecological Economics, 32, 27-41.
- Bruinsma, J. 2003. World Agriculture: Towards 2015/2030. An FAO Perspective. Earthscan and FAO, London and Rome, 432 pp.

- Bruinsma, J. 2009. The resource outlook to 2050: By how much do land, water and crop yields need to increase by 2050? Rome, Italy: FAO. Expert Meeting on How to feed the World in 2050 (12-13 October 2009). http://www.fao.org/wsfs/forum2050/ wsfs-background-documents/wsfs-expert-papers/en/. Accessed 07.03.2012
- Buday-Sántha, A. 2002. Környezetgazdálkodás. (Environmental economics) Dialóg Campus kiadó, Budapest-Pécs
- Butler, S.J., Vickery, J.A., Norris, K. 2007. Farmland biodiversity and the footprint of agriculture. Science, 315 (5810), 381–384.
- Campbell, C. 1987. The Romantic Ethic and the Spirit of Modern Consumerism, Oxford, Basil Blackwell.
- Campbell, C. 1991. Consumption: The new wave of research in the humanities and social sciences. Journal of Social behaviour and Personality, 6, 57-74.
- Campbell, C. 1996. The Sociology of Consumption. In Miller, D. (ed): Acknowledging consumption. Routledge, New York, 96-126.
- Carlsson-Kanyama, A, Ekström, M.P., Shanahan, H. 2003. Food and life cycle energy inputs: consequences of diet and ways to increase efficiency. Ecological Economics, 44, 293-307.
- Carlsson-Kanyama, A. 1998. Climate change and dietary choices—how can emissions of greenhouse gases from food consumption be reduced?. Food Policy. 23. 277–93.
- Carlsson-Kanyama, A., Engström, R., Kok, R., 2005. Indirect and direct energy requirements of city households in Sweden options for reduction, lessons from modeling. Journal of Industrial Ecology 9 (1–2), 221–235.
- Carlsson-Kanyama, A., González, A. D. 2009. Potential contributions of food consumption patterns to climate change. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 89(5), 1704S-1709S.
- Carson, R., 1962. Silent Spring. Houghton Mifflin, Boston.
- Catton, W. Jr. 1980. Overshoot: The Ecological Basis of Revolutionary Change. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.
- Chambers, N., Simmons, C., Wackernagel, M. 2000. Sharing Nature's Interest, Earthscan Publications Ltd, UK
- Chapman, P.F. 1975. Energy Analysis of Nuclear Power Stations. Energy Policy, 3(4), 285-298.
- Chen, D., Gao, W., Chen, Y. 2010. Ecological footprint analysis of food consumption of rural residents in China in the latest 30 years. Agriculture and Agricultural Science Procedia, 1, 106–115.
- Clark, G. 2007. Evolution of the global sustainable consumption and production policy and the United Nations Environment Programme's (UNEP) supporting activities. Journal of Cleaner Production, 15, 492-498.
- Coley, D.A., Goodlife, E., Macdiarmid, J., 1998. The embodied energy of food; the role of diet. Energy Policy, 26 (6), 455-459.
- Collins, A. Fairchild, R. 2007. Sustainable Food Consumption at a Sub-national Level: An Ecological Footprint, Nutritional and Economic Analysis. Journal of Environmental Policy and Planning, 9(1), 5-30.
- Colombo, U. 2001. The Club of Rome and sustainable development. Futures, 33, 7–11.
- Cook, E. 1971. The flow of energy in an industrial society. Scientific American, 224(3), 135–144.
- Correll, D.L. 1998. The role of phosphorus in the eutrophication of receiving waters: a review. Journal of Environmental Quality, 27 (2), 261–266.

- Costanza, R. 2000. The Dynamics of the Ecological Footprint Concept. Ecological Economics, 32(3), 341-345.
- Costanza, R., Daly, H.E., Bartholomew, J.A. 1991. Goals, agenda, and policy recommendations for ecological economics. In: Costanza, R. (Ed.), Ecological Economics: The Science and Management of Sustainability. Columbia University, New York.
- Cowell, S.J., Parkinson, S. 2003. Localisation of UK food production: an analysis using land area and energy as indicators. Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment, 94(2), 221-236.
- Csete, M. 2006. A fenntarthatóság helyi megvalósítása. (Local realisation of sustainability) Gazdálkodás, Agrárökonómiai Tudományos Folyóirat, 50, 62-70.
- Csutora, M. (szerk.) 2011. Az ökológiai lábnyom ökonómiája. (The economics of the ecological footprint) Tematikus kötet. Budapest, Aula
- Csutora, M. 2012. One More Awareness Gap? The Behaviour–Impact Gap Problem. Journal of Consumer Policy, 35(1), 145-163.
- Csutora, M., Hofmeister-Tóth, Á., eds. 2011. Fenntartható fogyasztás? (Sustainable consumption) Budapesti Corvinus Egyetem, Budapest. ISBN 9789635034659
- Csutora, M., Kerekes, S. 2004. A környezetbarát vállalatirányítás eszközei, KJK-Kerszöv, Budapest.
- Csutora, M., Zsóka, Á. 2011. Maximizing the efficiency of GHG-related consumer policy. Journal of Consumer Policy, 34(1), 67-90.
- Daly, H.E. 1968. On economics as life science. Journal of Political Economy, 76, 392-406
- Daly, H.E. 1990. Toward some operational principles of sustainable development. Ecological Economics, 2, 1-6.
- Daly, H.E. 1991. Steady-state economics, Second Edition with New Essays, Washington DC: Island Press.
- Daly, H.E. 1992. Allocation, distribution, and scale: towards an economics that is efficient, just, and sustainable. Ecological Economics, 6, 185-193.
- Daly, H.E. 1993. Steady-state economy In: H.E. Daly and K.N. Townsed (eds.) Valuing the Earth: Economics, Ecology, Ethics, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA
- Daly, H.E., Cobb, J. 1989. For the Common Good. Beacon Press, Boston.
- Daly. H.E. 1977. Steady-State Economics. W.H. Freeman, San Francisco, CA
- de Boer, J., Helms, M., Aiking, H. 2006. Protein consumption and sustainability: diet diversity in EU-15. Ecological Economics, 59, 267–274.
- de Leeuw, B. 2005. The world behind the product. Journal of Industrial Ecology 9(1–2): 7–10.
- Department of Health. 1991. Report on Health and Social Subjects 41 Dietary Reference Values (DRVs) for Food Energy and Nutrients for the UK, Report of the Panel on DRVs of the Committee on Medical Aspects of Food Policy (COMA) 1991. The Stationary Office. London
- Deutsch, L. 2004. Global Trade, Food Production and Ecosystem Support: Making the interactions visible. Department of Systems Ecology. Stockholm, Stockholm University.
- Deutsch, L., Folke, C. 2005. Ecosystem subsidies to Swedish food consumption from 1962 to 1994, Ecosystem, 8, 512-528.
- Dietz, T., Frisch, A. S., Kalof, L., Stern, P. C., Guagnano, G. A. 1995. Values and vegetarianism: An exploratory analysis. Rural Sociology, 60, 533-542.
- Dietz, T., Kalof, L., Frisch, A. S. 1996. The human ecology of the vegetarian diet: A bibliography. Human Ecology Review, 2, 181-186.

- Douglas, M., Isherwood, B. 1978. The World of Goods towards an anthropology of consumption. Penguin Books, London.
- Dowler, E. 2001. Inequalities in diet and physical activity in Europe. Public Health Nutrition, 4, 701–709.
- Druckman, A., Jackson, T. 2010. The bare necessities: How much household carbon do we really need? Ecological Economics, 69, 1794–1804.
- DTI. 2003. Changing Patterns- UK Government Framwrok for Sustainable Consumption and Production, Department of Trade and Industry, London
- Duchin, F. 2005. A Framework for Analyzing Scenarios about Changes in Diets. Journal of Industrial Ecology, 9 (1-2), 99-114.
- Duffy, R., Fearne, A., Healing, V. 2005. Reconnection in the UK food chain: bridging the communication gap between food producers and consumers. British Food Journal, 107, 17–33.
- Durning, A. T., Brough, H. B. 1991. Taking Stock: Animal Farming and the Environment. Worldwatch Paper 103, Worldwatch Institute.
- Durning, A.T. 1992. How much is enough? The consumer society and the future of the earth. Worldwatch Institute, Earthscan Publications, London.
- Easterlin, R. 1974. Does Economic Growth Improve the Human Lot? In: Paul A. David, Melvin W. Reder (eds.) Nations and Households in Economic Growth: Essays in Honor of Moses Abramovitz, New York: Academic Press, Inc.
- Edwards-Jones, G., Milài Canals, L., Hounsome, N. et al. 2008. Testing the assertion that 'local food is best': the challenges of an evidence-based approach. Trends in Food Science and Technology, 19, 265-274.
- EEA. 2005. Household consumption and the environment. EEA Report No 11/2005. European Environment Agency. www.eea.europa.eu/publications/eea\_report\_2005\_11/at\_download/file Accessed 06.03.2012
- EEA. 2010. The European environment state and outlook 2010: synthesis. European Environment Agency, Copenhagen. Accessed 06.03.2012
- Ehrlich, P. R., Ehrlich, A. H., Daily, G. C. 1995. The Stork and the Plow: The Equity Answer to the Human Dilemma. New York: G. P. Putnam's Sons.
- Ehrlich, P., Holdren, J. 1971. Impact of population growth. Science, 171, 1212–1217.
- Ekins, P. 1989. Beyond growth: the real priorities of sustainable development. Environmnetal Conservation, 16 (1), 5-6, 12.
- Ekins, P. 1993. Limits to growth and sustainable development. Ecological Economics, 8, 269-289.
- Ekins, P. 2004. A növekedés határai és a fenntartható fejlődés: megbirkózni az ökológiai valósággal. In: Pataki, Gy., Takács-Sánta, A. (szerk.): Természet és gazdaság. Ökológiai közgazdaságtan szöveggyőjtemény. Typotex, Budapest.
- Ekins, P., Folke, C., De Groot, R. 2003. Identifying critical natural capital. Ecological Economics, 44, 159–163.
- ELEF. 2009. Egészségfelmérés 2009. (Health survey 2009) http://www.ksh.hu/elef/pdf/elef\_1004\_sajtoanyag.pdf Accessed 06.03.2012
- Elferink, E.V., Nonhebel, S. 2007. Variations in requirements for meat production. Journal of Cleaner Production. 15, 1778–1786.
- Erb, K.-H. 2004. Actual Land Demand of Austria 1926 2000: A Variation on Ecological Footprint Assessments. Land Use Policy, 21, 247-259.
- Erdmann, L., Sohr, S., Behrendt, S., Kreibich, R. 1999. Nachhaltigkeit und Ernährung. Werkstattbericht Nr. 57. Institut für Zukunftsstudien und Technologiebewertung, Berlin.

- Erkman, S. 1997. Industrial ecology: an historical view. Journal of Cleaner Production 5(1-2), 1-10.
- Eshel, G., Martin, P. 2006. Diet, energy and global warming. Earth Interaction, 10, 1-16
- ETC/SCP. 2009. Environmental Pressures from European Consumption and Production. ETC/SCP Working Paper 1/2009, European Topic Centre for Sustainable Consumption and Production, Copenhagen. http://scp.eionet.europa.eu/publications/working%20paper%20namea2009/wp/w orking%20paper%20namea2009 Accessed 06.03.2012
- Európai Közösségek Bizottsága. 2007. Fehér Könyv: A táplálkozással, túlsúllyal és elhízással kapcsolatos egészségügyi kérdésekre vonatkozó európai stratégiáról. (White Paper on A Strategy for Europe on Nutrition, Overweight and Obesity related health)

issues.http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=COM:2007:0279: FIN:HU:PDF Accessed 09.09.2012

- European Commission. 2008a. Action Plan on Sustainable Consumption and Production and Sustainable Industrial Policy, Brussels.
- European Commission. 2008b. Sustainable Consumption and Production and Sustainable Industrial Policy Action Plan. Brussels, COM(2008) 397/3.
- Eurostat 2009. Consumers in Europe. 2009 Edition. Luxemburg. http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/cache/ITY\_OFFPUB/KS-DY-09-001/EN/KS-DY-09-001-EN.PDF Accessed 06.03.2012
- Ewing, B., Moore, D., Goldfinger, S., Oursler, A., Reed, A., Wackernagel, M. 2010. The Ecological Footprint Atlas 2010. Global Footprint Network, Oakland, CA, USA http://www.footprintnetwork.org Accessed 11.01.2010
- Faist, M., Kytzia, S., Baccini, P. 2001. The impact of household food consumption on resource and energy management. International Journal of Environment and Pollution, 15 (2), 183–199.
- FAO and International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis Global Agro-Ecological Zones. 2000a. http://www.fao.org/ag/agl/agll/gaez/index.htm Accessed 01.02. 2010
- FAO ResourceSTAT Statistical Database. 2007. http://faostat.fao.org/site/377/default.aspx#ancor
- FAO. 2000b. Technical Conversion Factors for Agricultural Commodities. http://www.fao.org/es/ess/tcf.asp.
- FAO. 2001. Human energy requirements- Report of a Joint FAO/WHO/UNU Expert Consultation, Rome, Italy, 17-24 October 2001 ftp://ftp.fao.org/docrep/fao/007/y5686e/y5686e00.pdf Accessed 20.10.2011
- FAO. 2009. How to feed the world in 2050, Issue brief for the High-level Expert Forum, Rome 12–13 October 2009, http://www.fao.org/wsfs/forum2050/wsfsforum/en Accessed 20.10.2011
- FAO. 2010. Fats and fatty acids in human nutrition Report of an expert consultation. FAO FOOD AND NUTRITION PAPER 91 http://www.fao.org/docrep/013/i1953e/i1953e00.pdf ISBN 978-92-5-106733-8, Rome, 2010. Accessed 02.03.2012
- FAOStat Database- Food Balance Sheets. 2012. http://faostat.fao.org/site/368/default.aspx#ancor Accessed 02.03.2012
- Fazeni, K., Steinmüller, H. 2011. Impact of changes in diet on the availability of land, energy demand, and greenhouse gas emissions of agriculture. Energy, Sustainability and Society 2011. 1(1), 1-6.

- Ferng, J. 2005. Local sustainable yield and embodied resources in ecological footprint analysis—a case study on the required paddy field in Taiwan. Ecological Economics, 53(3), 415-430.
- Fertő, I. 2005. Vertically differentiated trade and differences in factor endowment: The case of agri-food products between Hungary and the EU. Journal of Agricultural Economics 56(1), 117-134
- Fiala, N. 2008a. Meeting the demand: an estimation of potential future greenhouse gas emissions from meat production. Ecological Economics 67(3), 412-419.
- Fiala, N. 2008b. Measuring sustainability: Why the ecological footprint is bad economics and bad environmental science. Ecological Economics 67(4), 519–525.
- Fine, B., Leopold, E. 1993. The World of Consumption. London: Routledge
- Fischer-Kowalski, M. 1998. Society's Metabolism: The Intellectual History of Material Flow Analysis. - Journal of Industrial Ecology, 2, 61-78.
- Fleischer, T. 2006. Innováció, növekedés, kockázat. In: Bulla Miklós –Tamás Pál (szerk.): Fenntartható fejlődés Magyarországon – Jövőképek és forgatókönyvek. ÚMK, Budapest, 275–285.
- Folke, C., Jansson, Å., Larsson, J., Costanza, R. 1997. Ecosystem appropriation by cities. Ambio, 26(3), 167-172.
- Fox, J.E., Gulledge, J., Engelhaupt, E., Burow, M.E., McLachlan, J.A. 2007. Pesticides reduce symbiotic efficiency of nitrogen-fixing rhizobia and host plants. PNAS 104 (24), 10282–10287.
- Frey, S., Barrett, J. 2006. The Footprint of Scotland's Diet. The environmental burden of what we eat. A report for Scotland's Global Footprint Project. September 2006.
- Frey, S., Barrett, J. 2007.Our health, our environment: The Ecological Footprint of what we eat. http:// www.brass.cf.ac.uk/uploads/Frey\_A33.pdf. Paper prepared for the International Ecological Footprint Conference, Cardiff, 8-10 May 2007
- Friel, S., Dangour, A.D., Garnett, T. et al. 2009. Public health benefits of strategies to reduce greenhouse-gas emissions: food and agriculture. Lancet, 374, 2016–2025.
- Fuchs, D. A., Lorek, S. 2000. An inquiry into the impact of globalization on the potential for sustainable consumption in households. Paper presented at Workshop on Sustainable Household Consumption, 17–19 November, Enschede, the Netherlands
- Fuchs, D., Lorek, S. 2005. Sustainable consumption governance e a history of promises and failures. Journal of Consumer Policy, 28(3), 261-288.
- Füstös, L. 2009. A sokváltozós adatelemzés módszerei. (Methods for multivariate data analysis) Módszertani Füzetek (szerk. Füstös, L., Szalma, I.) MTA MTA Szociológiai Kutatóintézete Társadalomtudományi Elemzések Akadémiai Műhelye (TEAM).
- Füstös, L., Kovács, E., Meszéna, Gy., Simonné Mosolygó, N. 2004. Alakfelismerés (Sokváltozós statisztikai módszerek). (Multivariate statistical methods) Új Mandátum Kiadó, Budapest.
- Gaál, B. 1998. A magyar háztartások élelmiszer-fogyasztási szokásai (Food consumption patterns of Hungarian households) Marketing & Menedzsment, 3, 22-36.
- Galli, A., Kitzes, J., Wermer, P., Wackernagel, M., Niccolucci, V., Tiezzi, E. 2007. An Exploration of the Mathematics behind the Ecological Footprint. International Journal of Ecodynamics, 2(4), 250-257.

- Galloway, J. N., Cowling, E.B. 2002. Reactive nitrogen and the world: 200 years of change. Ambio, 31,64–71.
- Garner, R. 2000. Environmental politics: Britain, Europe and the global environment, Macmillan, New York.
- Garnett, T. 2009. Livestock-related greenhouse gas emissions: impacts and options for policy makers. Environmental Science and Technology, 12, 491–503.
- Garnett, T. 2011. Where are the best opportunities for reducing greenhouse gas emissions in the food system (including the food chain)? Food Policy, 36, 23-32.
- Georgescu-Roegen, N. 1993. Energy and economic myths. In. H.E. Daly and K.N. Townsed (eds.) Valuing the Earth: Economics, Ecology, Ethics, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA
- Georgescu-Roegen, N. 1971. The Entropy Law and the Economic Process. Harvard University Press, Cambridge MA.
- Gerbens-Leenes, P. W., Nonhebel, S. 2002a. Consumption patterns and their effect on land required for food. Ecological Economics, 42(1–2), 185–199.
- Gerbens-Leenes, P. W., Nonhebel, S., Ivens, W. P. 2002b. A method to determine and requirements relating to food consumption patterns. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 90, 47-58.
- Gerbens-Leenes, P. W., Nonhebel, S., Krol, M. S. 2010. Food consumption patterns and economic growth. Increasing affluence and the use of natural resources. Appetite, 55, 597–608.
- Gerbens-Leenes, P.W., Moll, H.C. 2006. Pathways towards Sustainable Food Consumption Patterns. In proceedings of the start conference of the SCORE! network. 221-229. http://www.score-network.org/files//1222\_SCORE-Launch-Conf\_Proceedings-Refereed-Papers-Icorr.pdf Accessed 08.03.2012
- Gerbens-Leenes, P.W., Moll, H.C., Schoot Uiterkamp, A.J.M. 2003. Design and development of a measuring method for environmental sustainability in food production systems. Ecological Economics, 46 (2), 231–248.
- Gerbens-Leenes, P.W., Nonhebel, S. 2005. Food and land use. The influence of consumption patterns on the use of agricultural resources. Appetite, 45, 21-31.
- Geyer, R., Jackson, T. 2004. Supply loops and their constraints. California Management Review, 46(2), 55–73.
- GFK. 2009. Sajtószolgálat: Étkezési szokások: kevesebbet járunk étterembe, inkább otthon étkezünk. (Food consumption habits: we eat out less frequently, we arther eat at home) http://www.elelmiszer.hu/cikk/gfk\_hungaria\_etkezesi\_szokasok Accessed 04.03.2012
- GFN. 2011. National Footprint Accounts: Hungary. 2011 Edition for Year 2008., Global Footprint Network, Oakland, CA, USA
- Giljum S., Eisenmenger, N. 2004. North-South Trade and the Distribution of Environmental Goods and Burdens: a Biophysical Perspective. Journal of Environment and Development, 13, 73-100.
- Giljum, S., Hammer, M., Stocker, A., Lackner, M. et al. 2007. Scientific assessment and evaluation of the indicator "Ecological Footprint". Final report, Project Z 6 FKZ: 363 01 135, commissioned by the German Federal Environmental Agency (UBA). Sustainable Europe Research Institute (SERI) / Ecologic / Best Foot Forward. Vienna, 24.1.2007.
- Giljum, S., Hinterberger, F., Lutter, S. 2008. Measuring natural resource use. Context, indicators and EU policy processed. SERI Background Paper Np14. Vienna, 1-17.

- Gilland, B. 2002. World population and food supply. Can food production keep pace with population growth in the next half-century? Food Policy, 27, 47-63.
- González, A. D., Frostell, B., Carlsson-Kanyama, A. 2011. Protein efficiency per unit energy and per unit greenhouse gas emissions: Potential contribution of diet choices to climate change mitigation. Food Policy, 36(5), 562-570.
- Goodland, R. 1997. Environmental sustainability in agriculture: Diet matters. Ecological Economics, 23, 189-200.
- Goodland, R., Daly, H. 1996. Environmental Sustainability: Universal and Nonnegotiable. Ecological Applications, 4(6), 1002–1017.
- Goodland, R., Daly, H.E. 1992. Ten reasons why Northern income growth is not the solution to Southern poverty. Environment Department, World Bank, Washington, DC.
- Gossard, M. H., York, R. 2003. Social Structural Influences on Meat Consumption. Human Ecology Review, 10(1), 1-9.
- Gowdy, J., Erickson, J. D. 2005. The approach of ecological economics. Cambridge Journal of Economics, 29, 207–222.
- Graedel, T., Allenby, B. 1995. Industrial ecology. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Grazi, F., Van den Bergh. 2010. On The Policy Relevance of Ecological Footprints. Environmental Science&Technology, 44, 4843-4844.
- Green, R.E., Cornell, S.J., Scharlemann, J.P.W., Balmford, A. 2005. Farming and the fate of wild nature. Science, 307 (5709), 550–555.
- Grigg, D., 1994. Income, industrialization and food consumption. Tijdschrift voor economische en sociale geografie 85, 3–14.
- Guide, D., van Wassenhove, L. 2004. Special issue on supply chain management. California Management Review 46(2), 1–141.
- Gulyás, E., Farsang, A., Ujhelyi, K. 2007. A fenntartható fogyasztás kihívásai és lehetőségei Magyarországon: közlekedés, élelmiszer-fogyasztás, háztartás. (Challenges and possibilities of sustainable consumption in Hungary: transportation, food consumption and housing) In: Fenntartható fogyasztás Magyarországon 2007. szerk.: Gulyás-Vadovics. Konferenciakötet. 2007. dec.17.
- Gussow, J. D., Clancy, K. 1986. Dietary guidelines for sustainability. Journal of Nutrition Education, 18(1), 1–5.
- Gussow, J.D. 1994. Ecology and vegetarian consideration: does environmental responsibility demand the elimination of livestock? Americal Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 59, 1110–1116.
- Gussow, J.D. 1999. Dietary guidelines for sustainability: Twelve years later. Journal of Nutrition Education, 31(4), 194-200.
- Gussow, J.D. 2005. Mediterranean diets: are they environmentally responsible? Americal Journal of Clinical Nutrition 61(suppl), 1383–1389.
- Gutés, M. C. 1996. The Concept of Weak Sustainability. Ecological Economics, 17(3), 147–156.
- Haberl, H., Erb, K.-H., Krausmann, F., Loibl, W. et al. 2001. Changes in ecosystem processes induced by land use: human appropriation of net primary production and its influence on standing crop in Austria. Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 15(4), 929–942.
- Haberl, H., Wackernagel, M., Krausmann, F., Erb, K.-H., Schulz, N. B., Monfreda, C. 2004. Ecological footprints and human appropriation of net primary production: A Comparison. Land Use Policy, 21, 279–288.

- Hajdú, O. 2004. Statisztika III. (Statistics III.) Egyetemi jegyzet. BKAE Statisztika Tanszék, Budapest.
- Hammond, G. P. 2006. 'People, planet and prosperity': The determinants of humanity's ecological footprint. Natural Resources Forum, 30(1), 27-36.
- Hammond, G. P. 2007. Energy and sustainability in a complex world: Reflections on the ideas of Howard T. Odum. International Journal of Energy Research, 31(12), 1105-1130.
- Hanley, N., McGregor, P.G., Swales, J.K., Turner, K. 2009. Do increases in energy efficiency improve environmental quality and sustainability? Ecological Economics, 68, 692-709.
- Harris, J.M., 1996. World agricultural future: regional sustainability and ecological limits. Ecological Economics, 17, 95–115.
- Harris, J.M., Kennedy, S. 1999. Carrying capacity in agriculture: global and regional issues. Ecological Economics, 29, 443–461.
- Hayn, D., Empacher, C., Halbes, S. 2005. Trend und Entwicklung von Ernährung im Alltag. Ergebnisse einer Literaturrecherche. Thesis: Institut für sozialökologische Forschung (ISOE). Frankfurt am Main
- Health Council of the Netherlands. 2011. Guidelines for a healthy diet: the ecological perspective. The Hague: Health Council of the Netherlands, 2011; publication no. 2011/08E. ISBN 978-90-5549-845-1 http://www.fcrn.org.uk/research-library/consumption/food/health-council-netherlands-guidelines-healthy-diet-ecological-perspective Accessed 04.03.2012
- Herendeen, R., Hirst, E. 1972. Total Energy Demand for Automobiles. SAE Journal of Automotive Engineering, 80, 7-36.
- Herendeen, R.A. 2000. Ecological Footprint as a Vivid Indicator of Indirect Effects. Ecological Economics, 32, 357-358.
- Herrin, M., Gussow, J.D. 1989. Designing a Sustainable Regional Diet. Journal of Nutrition Education, 21(6), 270-275.
- Hertwich, E. 2005a. Consumption and the rebound effect: An industrial ecology perspective. Journal of Industrial Ecology 9(1–2), 85–98.
- Hertwich, E. G. 2005b. Consumption and industrial ecology. Journal of Industrial Ecology 9, 1–6.
- Herva, M., Franco, A., Ferreiro, S., Álvarez, A., Roca, E. 2008. An approach for the application of the ecological footprint as environmental indicator in the textile sector. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 156, 478-487.
- Hinterberger, F., Luks, F., Schmidt-Bleek, F. 1997. Material flows vs. 'natural capital'. What makes an economy sustainable? Ecological Economics, 23, 1–14.
- Hirsch, F. 1976. The Social Limits to Growth, Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press
- Hoekstra, A.Y., Chapagain. A.K. 2007. Globalization of water: Sharing the planet's freshwater resources, Blackwell Publishing, Oxford, UK.
- Hoffmann, I. 2005. Sustainable nutrition: feasibility and consequences. In: Oltersdorf, U., Claupein, E., Pfau, C. and Stiebel, J. (eds.) (2005). Consumer and Nutrition. Bericht der Bundesforschungsanstalt für Ernährung und Lebensmittel, Band 2. Bundesforschungsanstalt für Ernährung und Landwirtschaft, Karlsruhe, 84-94.
- Hoffmann, I. 2006. A fenntartható fogyasztás társadalmi elfogadottsága (Social acceptance of sustainable consumption) In: Bulla, M., Tamás, P. (szerk.) Fenntartható fejlődés Magyarországon. Jövőképek és forgatókönyvek. Új Mandátum Kiadó, Budapest. 311-322.

- Hofmeister Tóth, Á., Kelemen, K., Piskóti, M. 2011. A fenntartható fogyasztás jellemzői és trendjei Magyarországon és a régióban. (Characteristics and trends of sustainable consumption in Hungary and in its regions) In: Csutora, M., Hofmeister-Tóth, Á. (eds). 2011. Fenntartható fogyasztás? Budapesti Corvinus Egyetem, Budapest. 29-52.
- Holló, M., Bálint, J.,Gál-Berey, T., Juhász, M. 2009. Környezeti és társadalmi felelősségvállalás az agráriumban. (Social and environmental responsibility in agriculture) Gazdálkodás, 53(1), 46-56.
- Horrigan, L., Lawrence, Robert S., Walker, P. 2002. How sustainable agriculture can address the environmental and human health harms of industrial agriculture. Environmental Health Perspectives, 110, 445–456.
- Hubacek, K., Giljum, S. 2003. Applying physical input–output analysis to estimate land appropriation (ecological footprints) of international trade activities, Ecological Economics, 44, 137–151.
- Huber, A., Girard, S., Thomas, Y. 2011. On the Way to a Post-carbon Society: Assessing the Personal Carbon Footprint of French Social Milieux to Develop Targeted Intervention Strategies. Paper presented at the Sustainable Consumption-Towards Action and Impacts. International Scientific Conference November 6-8, 2011, Hamburg.
- Hulshof, K.F., Lowik, M.R., Kok, F.J. et al. 1991. Diet and other life-style factors in high and low socio-economic groups (Dutch Nutrition Surveillance System). European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 45, 441–450.
- IFIIAS-International Federation of Institutes for Advanced Study. 1974. Energy Analysis Workshop on Methodology and Conventions. Report No.6. IFIAS, Stockholm.
- IIED. 1998. Consumption in a Sustainable World. Report of the Workshop held in Kabelvag, Norway, 2-4 June, 1998, Ministry of the Environment, Olso and International Institute of Environment and Development, London
- Imhoff, M. L., Bounoua, L., Ricketts, T., Loucks, C., Harriss, R., Lawrence, W.T. 2004. Global patterns in human consumption of net primary production. Nature, 429, 870–873.
- Irala-Estevez, D. J., Groth, M., Johansson, L., Oltersdorf, U. et al. 2000. Systematic review of socio-economic differences in food habits in Europe: consumption of fruits and vegetables. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 54(9), 706-714.
- Jackson, T. (ed.) 2006. The earthscan reader in sustainable consumption. London: Earthscan.
- Jackson, T. 1996. Material concerns: Pollution, profit and quality of life. London: Routledge.
- Jackson, T. 2005. Live better by consuming less? Is there a "double dividend" in sustainable consumption? Journal of Industrial Ecology, 9, 19–36.
- Jackson, T. 2009. Prosperity Without Growth, Earthscan, London.
- Jackson, T., Clift, R. 1998. Where's the profit in industrial ecology? Journal of Industrial Ecology, 2(1), 3–5.
- Jackson, T., Papathanasopoulou, E. 2008. Luxury or 'lock-in'? an explanation of unsustainable consumption in the UK: 1968 to 2000. Ecological Economics, 68(1–2), 80–95.
- Jacobs, M., Røpke, I. 1999. Special section: Consumption and environment Perspectives from ecological economics – Introduction, Ecological Economics, 28(3), 363-364.

- James, P.T., Nelson, M., Ralph, A., Leather, S. 1997. Socioeconomic determinants of health. The impact of nutrition to inequalities in health. British Medical Journal, 314, 1545–1549.
- James, W. P.T., Schofield, E.C. 1990. Human Energy Requirements: a Manual for Planners and Nutritionists. New York: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations/Oxford University Press.
- Joerges B. (Ed.) 1982. Verbraucherverhalten und Umweltbelastung. Materialien zu einer verbraucherorientierten Umweltpolitik, Campus, Frankfurt / New York.
- Johansson, L., Thelle, D.S., Solvoll, K., Bjørneboe, G.E.A., Drevon, C.A. 1999. Healthy dietary habits in relation to social determinants and lifestyle factors. British Journal of Nutrition, 81, 211–220.
- Johansson, S. 2005. The Swedish Foodprint. An agroecological study of food consumption. Doctoral thesis. The Swedish university of Agrucultural Sciences. Uppsala: SLU. 96.p.
- Jungbluth, N., Büsser, S., Frischknecht, R., Flury, K., Stucki, M. 2011. Feasibility of environmental product information based on life cycle thinking and recommendations for Switzerland. Journal of Cleaner Production, 28, 187-197.
- Kendall, H.W., Pimentel, D. 1994. Constraints on the expansion of the global food supply. Ambio, 23 (3), 198–205.
- Kerekes, S. 2006. A fenntartható fejlődés közgazdasági értelmezése. (Economic interpretation of sustainable development) In: Bulla Miklós– Tamás Pál (szerk.): Fenntartható fejlődés Magyarországon – Jövőképek és forgatókönyvek. ÚMK, Budapest, 196–211.
- Kerekes, S. 2007. A környezetgazdaságtan alapjai. (Basics of environmental economics) Aula Kiadó, Budapest.
- Kerekes, S. 2011. Happiness, environmental protection and market economy. Society and Economy, 33(1), 5-13.
- Kerekes, S., Luda, Sz. 2011. Climate or rural development policy. Society and Economy, 33(1), 145-159.
- Keyzer, M.A., Merbis, M.D., Pawel, I.F.P.W., van Wesenbeeck, C.F.A. 2005. Diet shifts towards meat and the effects on cereal use: can we feed the animals in 2030? Ecological Economics, 55,187–202.
- Khan, S., Hanjra, M.A. 2009. Footprints of water and energy inputs in food production Global perspectives. Food Policy, 34, 2009, 130–140.
- Kish, L. 1949. A Procedure for Objective Respondent Selection within the Household, Journal of the American Statistical Association, 44, 380-387.
- Kish, L. 1965. Survey sampling. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York
- Kiss, K. 2005a. A fenntartható fejlődés dimenziói és útvesztői. (Dimensions and traps of sustainable development) In.: Kiss Károly (szerk.): A fenntartható fejlődés fogalmának értelmezése és ágazati koncepciói. Budapest. http://kisskaroly.freeweb.hu/korny/ff-kotet.pdf Accessed 14.03.2012
- Kiss, K. 2005b. Zöld gazdaságpolitika. (Green economic policy) 2005. Budapest, BKÁE
- Kiss, K. 2011. Mennyire terheli a környezetet a hazai háztartások fogyasztása? (a fogyasztási szerkezet vizsgálata ÁKM-együtthatókkal). (The environmental impact of consumption of Hungarian households) Budapesti Corvinus Egyetem, Környezetgazdaságtani és Technológiai Tanszék. Műhelytanulmány, 2011. július, Budapest

- Kissinger, M., Gottlieb, D. 2011. From global to place oriented hectares The case of Israel's wheat ecological footprint and its implications for sustainable resource supply. Ecological Indicators, 16, 51–57.
- Kitzes, J., Moran, D., Galli, A., Wada, Y., Wackernagel, M. 2009b. Interpretation and application of the ecological footprint: A reply to Fiala 2008. Ecological Economics, 68, 929–930.
- Kitzes, J., Peller, A., Goldfinger, S., Wackernagel, M. 2007. Current methods for calculating national ecological footprint accounts. Science for Environment & Sustainable Society, 4(1), 1–9.
- Kitzes, J., Wackernagel, M. 2009a. Answers to common questions in Ecological Footprint accounting. Ecological Indicators, 9(4), 812-817.
- Kitzes, J., Wackernagel, M., Loh, J., Peller, A. et al. 2008. Shrink and share: humanity's present and future Ecological Footprint. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B, 363, 467–475.
- Kloppenburg, J. Jr., Hendrickson, J., Stevenson, G.W. 1996. Coming into the foodshed. Agriculture and Human Values, 13, 33-42.
- Kocsis, T. 2001. Gyökereink: örömről és gazdagságról egy világméretű fogyasztói társadalomban. (Roots: Pleasure and wealth in a globalizing consumer society) Kairosz Kiadó.
- Kocsis, T. 2010a. Hajózni muszáj! A GDP, az ökológiai lábnyom és a szubjektív jóllét stratégiai összefüggései (Navigare necesse est. The connections between GDP, ecological footprint and subjective welfare), Közgazdasági szemle, 62(6), 536-554.
- Kocsis, T., 2010b. Létkérdések Önkényuralom és népesedés a bioszférában. (Questions of existence- tyranny and population growth in the biosphere) Kovász, 14(1). 3-52.
- Koerber, K., Kretschmer, J. 2001. "Zukunftsfähige Ernährungskultur" Ökologie und Landbau, 120, 4/2001
- Kósi, K., Valkó, L. 2006. Környezetmenedzsment. (Environmental mangement) BME, Typotex, Budapest.
- Kökény, T. 2009. A magyarországi vegetárizmus története. (History of vegetarism in Hungary) Társadalomkutatás, 27(2), 203-225.
- Kramer, K. J., Moll, H. C., Nonhebel, S., Wilting, H. C. 1999. Greenhouse gas emissions related to Dutch food consumption. Energy Policy, 27(4), 203-216.
- Krausmann, F. 2004. Milk, manure and muscular power. Livestock and the transformation of preindustrial agriculture in Central Europe. Human Ecology: An Interdisciplinary Journal, 32(6), 735–772.
- Kremen, C., Williams, N.M., Thorp, R.W. 2002. Crop pollination from native bees at risk from agricultural intensification. PNAS, 99(26), 16812–16816.
- Kronenberg, J. 2007. Making consumption "reasonable". Journal of Cleaner Production. Sustainable Production and Consumption: Making the Connection. Special Issue, 15(6), 557-566
- KSH. 2010. Létminimum 2010. (Minimum of subsistence 2010) http://www.ksh.hu/docs/hun/xftp/idoszaki/letmin/letmin10.pdf Accessed 22.11.2012
- KSH. 2011. Statisztikai Tükör: Az élelmiszer-fogyasztás alakulása, (Statistical mirror: Food consumption) 2009. V. évf. 37.szám http://www.ksh.hu/docs/hun/xftp/stattukor/elelmfogy/elelmfogy09.pdf Accessed 04.05.2011

- KSH. 2012a. STADAT. 3.6.3. Egyes termékek és szolgáltatások éves fogyasztói átlagára (1996–) (Consumer prices of some products and services) http://www.ksh.hu/docs/hun/xstadat/xstadat\_eves/i\_qsf003b.html Accessed 14.03.2012
- KSH. 2012b. Élelmiszermérleg táblázatok (Food balance tables) KSH. Élelmiszerfogyasztás. http://www.ksh.hu/eelelmfogy\_tables Accessed 10.03.2012
- KSH. 2012c. 2.2.5. Egy főre jutó élelmiszer-fogyasztás (Annual per capita quantity of food consumption) http://www.ksh.hu/docs/hun/xstadat/xstadat\_eves/i\_zhc005.html Accessed 10.03.2012
- KSH. 2012d. 2.2.4. Az egy főre jutó kiadások részletezése COICOP-csoportosítás szerint (2000–) (Annual per capita expenditure by COICOP) http://www.ksh.hu/docs/hun/xstadat/xstadat\_eves/i\_zhc004.html Accessed 10.03.2012
- KSH. 2012e. 1.6. Az egy főre jutó éves élelmiszer-fogyasztás mennyisége (Annual per capita qunatity of food consumption) http://www.ksh.hu/docs/hun/xtabla/haztfogy/tablhf10\_01\_06a.html Accessed 10.02.2012
- KSH. 2012f. 1.4. Az egy főre jutó éves kiadások részletezése COICOP-csoportosítás szerint, 2010 (Annual per capita expenditure by COICOP) http://www.ksh.hu/docs/hun/xtabla/haztfogy/tablhf10\_01\_04a.html Accessed 10.02.2012
- Lambin, E., Meyfroidt, P. 2011. Global land use change, economic globalization, and the looming land scarcity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 108(9), 3465–3472.
- Lang, T. 2010. Crisis? What crisis? The normality of the current food crisis. Journal of Agrarian Change, 10, 87–97.
- Larsson, J., Folke, C., Kautsky, N. 1994. Ecological Limitations and Appropriation of Ecosystem Support by Shrimp Farming in Colombia. Environmental Management, 18(5), 663–676
- Leach, G. 1976. Energy and Food Production. IPC Science and Technology Press, Guildford, Surrey.
- Lefin, A. L. 2009. Food consumption and sustainable development: an introduction. Working Paper for the CONSENTSUS Project, IDD, Ottginies, Work Package 4
- Lehota, J. 2004. Az élelmiszerfogyasztói magatartás hazai és nemzetközi trendjei. (National and international trends of food consumption behaviours) Élelmiszer, Táplálkozás és Marketing, I(1-2), 7-14.
- Leip, A., Weiss, F., Wassenaar, T., Perez, I. et al. 2011. Evaluation of the livestock sector's contribution to the EU greenhouse gas emissions (GGELS) final report. Brussel: European Commission, Joint Research Centre; 2011.
- Leitzmann, C. 2003. Nutrition ecology: the contribution of vegetarian diets. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 78 (suppl), 657–659.
- Lélé, S. M. 1991. Sustainable Development: A Critical Review. World Development 19(6), 607-621.
- Lenzen, M. 2008. Errors in Conventional and Input Output based Lifecycle Inventories. Journal of Industrial Ecology, 4(4), 127-148.
- Lenzen, M., Borgström Hansson, C., Bond, S. 2006. On the bioproductivity and landdisturbance metrics of the Ecological Footprint. ISA Research Paper 03/06, in collaboration with WWF. The University of Sydney.

http://www.isa.org.usyd.edu.au/publications/documents/ISA&WWF\_Bioproduct ivity&LandDisturbance.pdf. Accessed 20.11.2011

- Lenzen, M., Lundie, S., Bransgrove, G., Charet, L., Sack, F. 2003. Assessing the ecological footprint of a large metropolitan water supplier: Lessons for water management and planning towards sustainability. Journal of Environmental Planning and Management, 46, 113–141.
- Lenzen, M., Murray, S. A. 2001. A Modified Ecological Footprint Method and Its Application to Australia. Ecological Economics, 37(2), 229–55.
- Lenzen, M., Murray, S. A. 2003. The Ecological Footprint Issue and Trends. ISA Research Paper 01-03. The University of Sydney. http://www.isa.org.usyd.edu.au/publications/documents/Ecological\_Footprint\_Is sues\_ and\_Trends.pdf. Accessed 20.11.2011
- Leontief, W.W. 1936. Quantitative input and output relations in the economic system of the United States. The review of economic statistics, 18(3), 105-125.
- Leontief, W.W. 1970. Environmental repercussions and the economic structure: an input–output approach. Review of Economics and Statistics, 52 (3), 261–271
- Liberatos, P., Link, B.G., Kelsey, J.L. 1988. The measurement of social class in epidemiology. Epidemiology Review, 10, 87–121.
- Lieblein, G., Francis, C.A., Torjusen, H. 2001. Future interconnections among ecological farmers, processors, marketers, and consumers in Hedmark County, Norway: creating shared vision. Human Ecology Review, 8, 60–71.
- Lintott, J. 1998. Beyond the economics of more: the place of consumption in ecological economics. Ecological Economics, 25, 239-248.
- Lock, K., Smith, R.D., Dangour, A.D. et al. 2010. Health, agricultural, and economic effects of adoption of healthy diet recommendations. Lancet, 376, 1699-1709.
- Lombardini, C., Lankoski, L. 2013. Forced Choice Restriction in Promoting Sustainable Food Consumption: Intended and Unintended Effects of the Mandatory Vegetarian Day in Helsinki Schools. Journal of Consumer Policy, 1-20.
- Lorek, S. 2009. Debunking Weak Sustainable Consumption: Towards Strong Sustainable Consumption Governance. Doctoral Dissertation. Helsinki University Print, Helsinki.. https://helda.helsinki.fi/handle/10138/20918 Accessed 05.02.2012
- Lorek, S., Fuchs, D. 2011. Strong sustainable consumption governance e precondition for a degrowth path?, Journal of Cleaner Production, doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2011.08.008
- Lorek, S., Spangenberg, J. H. 2001a. Indicators for environmentally sustainable household consumption. International Journal of Sustainable Development, 4, 101-120.
- Lorek, S., Spangenberg, J. H. 2001b. Environmentally Sustainable Household Consumption. Wuppertal Paper 117, Wuppertal Institute, Wuppertal.
- Lucas, H., M. Brooks, et al. 2008. Promoting pro-environmental behaviour: existing evidence and policy implications. Environmental Science and Policy, 11, 456-466.
- Luck, M. A., Jenerette, G.D., Wu, J., Grimm, N.B. 2001. The urban funnel model and the spatially heterogeneous Ecological Footprint. Ecosystems, 4, 782–796.
- Lugasi, A., Blázovics, S. A. 2001. Az egészséges táplálkozás tudományos alapjai. Útmutató az egészség megőrzéséhez. (Scientific basis of healthy food consumption. Guidelines for preserving health)Budapest, 2001.

- Macdiarmid, J. et al. Livewell. 2011. A balance of healthy and sustainable food choices. http:// assets.wwf.org.uk/downloads/livewell\_report\_jan11.pdf. Accessed 20.03.2012
- Málovics, Gy., Bajmóczy, Z. 2009. A fenntarthatóság közgazdaságtani értelmezései. (Economic interpretations of sustainability) Közgazdasági Szemle, 5, 464–483.
- Martinez-Alier, J. 1987. Ecological Economics. Energy, Environment and Society. Basil Blackwell, Oxford, UK.
- Martinez-Alier, J. 1991. Ecological Economics: Energy. Environment and Society. Blackwell Publishers, Oxford. ISBN 0-631-17146-0
- Martinez-Alier, J., Munda, G., O'Neill, J., 2001. Theories and methods in ecological economics: a tentative classification. In: Cleveland, C., Stern, D.I., Costanza, R. (Eds.), The Economics of Nature and the Nature of Economics. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, UK.
- Martos, É., Kovács, V. A., Bakacs, M., Kaposvári, C., Lugasi, A. 2012. Országos Táplálkozás-és Tápláltsági Állapot Vizsgálat–OTÁP2009. I. A magyar lakosság tápláltsági állapota. (Hungarian Diet and Nutritional Status Survey – The OTAP2009 study, I. Nutritional status of the Hungarian population) Orvosi Hetilap, 153(26), 1023-1030.
- Matson, P. A., Parton, W. J., Power, A. G., Swift, M. J. 1997. Agricultural Intensification and Ecosystem Properties. Science, 277, 504-642.
- Matthews, E., et al., 2000. The Weight of Nations. Material Outflows from Industrial Economies. World Resources Institute, Washington, DC.
- Max-Neef, M. 1992. Development and human needs, in Paul Ekins and Manfred Max-Neef (eds), Real-life Economics. Understanding Wealth Creation, London: Routledge, 197-214.
- Max-Neef, M. 1995. Economic growth and quality of life: a threshold hypothesis. Ecological Economics, 15(2), 115-118.
- Mazur. A., Rosa, E. 1974. Energy and lifestyle: Cross-national comparison of energy consumption and quality of life indicators. Science, 186, 607-610.
- McMichael, A. J., Powles, J. W., Butler, C. D., Uauy, R. 2007. Food, livestock production, energy, climate change and health. Lancet, 370(9594), 1253–1263.
- Meadows, D. H., Meawdows, D. L., Randers, J., Behrends III, W.W. 1972. The Limits to Growth: A Report to the Club of Rome, Signet, New York
- Meadows, D.H., Meadows, D.L., Randers, J. 1992. Beyond the Limits: Global Collapse or a Sustainable Future. Earthscan, London.
- Michaelis, L. 2003. The Oxford Commission on Sustainable Consumption. Journal of Cleaner Production, 11, 931-933.
- Michaelowa, A., Dransfeld, B. 2008. Greenhouse gas benefits of fighting obesity. Ecological Economics, 66(2–3), 298–308.
- Miller, D. 1987. Material Culture and Mass Consumption, Oxford: Basil Blackwell
- Moffatt, I. 2000. Ecological footprints and sustainable development. Ecological Economics, 32, 359–362.
- Monfreda, C., Wackernagel, M., Deumling, D. 2004. Establishing national natural capital accounts based on detailed ecological footprint and biological capacity accounts. Land Use Policy, 21(3), 231–246.
- Mont, O., Bleischwitz, R. 2007. Sustainable consumption and resource management in the light of life cycle thinking. European Environment, 17, 59-76.
- Mont, O., Plepys, A. 2008. Sustainable consumption progress: should we be proud or alarmed? Journal of Cleaner Production, 16, 531-537.

- Montgomery, D.R. 2007. Soil erosion and agricultural sustainability. PNAS, 104 (33), 13268–13272.
- Morris, W. 1891. News form Nowhere, or and Epoch of Rest: Being Some Chapters from a Utopian Romace (reprinted 1970), Routledge, London
- Mózner Vetőné, Z. 2011. Applying consumer responsibility principle in evaluating environmental load of carbon emissions, Society and Economy, 33 (1), 131-144.
- Mózner, Z., Tabi, A., Csutora, M. 2012. In the quest for the sustainable agricultural yield, Comparing the environmental impacts of intensive and extensive agricultural practices, Ecological Indicators, 16, 58-66.
- Mummey, D., Smith, J., Bluhm, G. 1998. Assessment of alternative soil management practices on N2O emissions from US agriculture. Agriculture, Ecosystem and Environment, 70, 79–87.
- Murray, P. 2010. Is There More in Common Than We Think? Convergence of Ecological Footprinting, Emergy Analysis, Lifecycle Assessment and Other Methods of Sustainability Assessment. Paper presented at the ISEE 2010 Conference, Oldenburg, Germany
- Myers, N., Kent, J. 2003. New consumers: the influence of affluence on the environment. PNAS, 100 (8), 4963–4968.
- Myers, R.A., Worm, B. 2003. Rapid worldwide depletion of predatory fish communities. Nature, 423, 280–283.
- National Food Administration. 2009. The National Food Administration's environmentally effective food choices. Proposal notified to the EU. Uppsala: The National Food Administration; 2009.
- National Geographic, Globescan 2008. Greendex 2008: Consumer Choice and the Environment - A Worldwide Tacking Survey. http://www.nationalgeographic.com/greendex/assets/GS\_NGS\_Full\_Report\_Ma y08.pdf Accessed 04.03.2012
- NCC. 2003. Green Choice: What Choice? Summary of NCC research into consumer attitudes to sustainable consumption. National Consumer Council, London
- Neulinger, Á., Simon, J. 2011. Food consumption patterns and healthy eating across the household life cycle in Hungary. International Journal of Consumer Studies, 35, 538–544
- Neumayer, E. 2003. Weak versus strong sustainability: exploring the limits of two opposing paradigms (second edition). Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Neumayer, E. 2004. Indicators of sustainability. In: Tietenberg, T. Folmer, H. (eds.), International Yearbook of Environmental and Resource Economics 2004/05. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, UK, 139–188.
- Niccolucci, V., Galli, A., Kitzes, J., Pulselli, R.M., Borsa, S., Marchettini, N. 2008. Ecological Footprint analysis applied to the production of two Italian wines. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 128, 162–166.
- Norgard, J.S., Christensen, B.L. 1982. Energihusholding, Copenhagen: Faellesforeningen for Danmarks Brugsforeninger
- O'Rourke, D., Connelly, L., Koshland, C.P. 1996. Industrial ecology: a critical review. International Journal of Environment and Pollution, 6(2-3), 89-112.
- OCSC. 2000. Report on the Second Session of the Oxford Comission on Sustainable Consumption, OCSC 2.8, Oxford Centre For the Environment, Ethics and Society, Oxford
- Odum, H. T. 1971. Environment, power, and society. New York: Wiley-Interscience.
- OECD. 1997. Sustainable Consumption and Production. Clarifying the Concepts. OECD Proceedings. OECD Publications, Paris

- OECD. 2001a. OECD Gross nitrogen balances. Handbook. The 2<sup>nd</sup> draft. 20 September 2002. Organisation for Co-operation and Development. Environment Directoriate. Paris
- OECD. 2001b. Sustainable Consumption. Sector Case Study Series. Household Food Consumption: Trends, Environmental Impacts and Policy Responses. OECD, Paris.
- OECD. 2002. Towards Sustainable Household Consumption? Trends and Policies in OECD Countries, July 2002.
- OECD. 2007a. Measuring the material flows and resource productivity. The accounting framework. ENV/EPOC/SE(2006)4/REV1. Organisation for Co-operation and Development. Environment Directoriate. Paris
- OECD. 2007b. Measuring the material flows and resource productivity. The OECD guide. ENV/EPOC/SE(2006)1/REV3. Organisation for Co-operation and Development. Environment Directoriate. Paris
- OECD. 2008. Measuring the material flows and productivity: Synthesis report. Paris OECD, 57.p. http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/55/12/40464014.pdf Accessed 20.11.2011
- OECD. 2009. Health at Glance. http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/55/2/44117530.pdf
- OÉTI. 2009. Országos Táplálkozás és Tápláltsági Állapot Vizsgálat 2009. http://www.oeti.hu/?m1id=16&m2id=169 Accessed 21.02.2012
- Ofstad, S. (ed.) 1994. Symposium: Sustainable Consumption, Ministry of Environment, Olso
- Omann, I., Friedl, B., Hammer, M., Pack, A. 2007. The Environmental Effects of Food Consumption for Different Household Categories. Sustainable Europe Research Institute, Vienna. http://seri.at/wp-content/uploads/2009/09/ESEE-2007sufotrop-Presentation1.pdf Accessed 04.03.2012
- Omernik, J.M. 2004. Perspectives ont he nature and definiton of ecological regions. Environmental Management, 34, 27-28.
- Opschoor, H. 2000. The ecological footprint: measuring rod or metaphor? Ecological Economics, 32(3), 363–365.
- Orbánné Nagy, M.(szerk.) 2006. Az élelmiszeripar strukturális átalakulása (1997-2005) (Structural changes in food processing industry, 1997-2005) Agrárgazdasági Tanulmányok, 3, 1-35.
- OTÁP. 2009 http://www.oeti.hu/?m1id=16&m2id=169 illetve http://www.ksh.hu/elef/pdf/sajtoanyag\_elef\_otap.pdf Accessed 21.02. 2012
- Ölander, F., Thøgersen, J. 1995. Understanding of consumer behaviour as a prerequisite for environmental protection. Journal of Consumer Policy, 18, 345–385.
- Pack, A. Friedl, B., Lorek, S., Jäger, J., Omann, I. and Stocker, A. 2006a. SUFO:TROP. Sustainable Food Consumption: Trends and Opportunities. Final Report, Year 1. Graz andVienna. http://www.seri.de/index.php?option=com\_content&task=view&id=200&Itemid =267 Accessed 04.03.2012
- Pack, A., Friedl, B., Lorek, S. et al. 2006b. Sustainable Food Consumption: Trends and Opportunities. Sufo.trop. Interim Report. Graz and Vienna
- Pack, A., Friedl, B., Lorek, S., Jäger, J., Omann, I., Stocker, A. 2005. SUFO:TROP Sustainable Food Consumption: Trends and Opportunities. Interim Report. SERI.
- Pál, L., Tóth, G. 2009. Bionómia: A gazdálkodó közösség megújításának biológiai alapjai. (Bionomy: Biological basis of renewing rural communities) 51. Georgikon napok. 2009. október 1-2. Keszthely

- Palmer, A. R. 1998. Evaluating ecological footprints. Electronic Green Journal, 9, Special Issue, 1-11.
- Pálvölgyi, T. 2000. Az új évezred környezeti kihívása: az éghajlatváltozás. (Environmental challenge of the new millennium: climate change) L'Harmattan Kiadó, Budapest.
- Pataki, G. 2002. Biofizikai közgazdaságtan és entrópia Bevezetés Nicholas Georgescu-Roegen közgazdasági munkásságába. (Biophysical economics and entrophy: introduction to the economic work of Nicholas Georgescu-Roegen) Kovász 4(1-4), 33-39.
- Payer, H., Burger, P, Lorek, S. 2000. Food Consumption in Austria: Driving Forces and Environmental Impacts. National case study for the OECD Programme on Sustainable Consumption. Vienna: Federal Ministry of Agriculure, Forestry, Environment and Water Management.
- Pearce, D., Markandya, A. and Barbier, E. 1989. Blueprint for a Green Economy. Earthscan, London.
- Pearce, D., Turner, R.K. 1990. The Economics of Natural Resources and the Environment. Harvester Wheatsheaf, Hemel Hempstead, UK.
- Peters, C.J., Wilkins, J.L., Fick, G.W. 2007. Testing a complete diet for estimating the land resource requirements of food consumption and agricultural carrying capacity: The New York State example. Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems. 22(2):145-153. Published Online by Cambridge University Press 04 Jul 2007
- Pimentel, D., Bailey, O., Kim, P., Mullaney, E., Calabrese, J., Walman, L. et al. 1999. Will limits of the earth's resources control human numbers? Environment, Development and Sustainability, 1, 19–39.
- Pimentel, D., Berger, B., Filiberto, D., Newton, M., et al. 2004. Water resources: agricultural and environmental issues. BioScience, 54 (10), 909–918.
- Pimentel, D., Giampetro, M. 1994. Global population, food and the environment. Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 9(6), 239.
- Pimentel, D., Houser, J., Preiss. E., White. O., Fang, H., Mesnick, L. et al. 1997. Water resources: agriculture, the environment, and society. BioScience, 47(2), 97–106.
- Pimentel, D., Pimentel, M. 1993. World population, food, natural resources and survival. World Futures, 59, 145–167.
- Pimentel, D., Pimentel, M. 1999. Population growth, environmental resources and global food. Journal of Sustainable Forests, 9, 35–44.
- Pimentel, D., Pimentel, M. 2000. To improve nutrition for the world's population. Science, 288, 1966–1967.
- Pimentel, D., Pimentel, M. 2003. Sustainability of meat-based and plantbased diets and the environment. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 78, 660–663.
- Podmanicky, L., Balázs, K., Belényesi, M., Centeri, Cs. et al. 2011. Modelling soil quality changes in Europe. An impact assessment of landuse change on soil quality in Europe, Special Issue of Ecological Indicators Impact Assessment of Land Use Changes in Europe, 1-10.
- Poff, N. L., Olden, J.D., Merritt, D.M., Pepin, D.M. 2007. Homogenization of regional river dynamics by dams and global biodiversity implications. PNAS, 104 (14), 5732–5737.
- Popkin, B.M. 2004. The Nutrition Transition in the Developing World. Development Policy Review, 21(5-6), 581–597.

- Pretty, J.N., Ball, A.S., Lang, T., Morison, J.I.L. 2005. Farm costs and food miles: an assessment of the full cost of the UK weekly food basket. Food Policy, 30(1), 1–19.
- Princen, T. 1997. The shading and distancing of commerce: when internalization is not enough. Ecological Economics, 20, 235–253.
- Princen, T. 1999. Consumption and environment: some conceptual issues. Ecological Economics, 31, 347-363.
- Prónay, S., Málovics, G. 2008. Lokalitás és fenntartható fogyasztás in: Lengyel, I. Lukovics, M. (eds.) 2008. Kérdőjelek a régiók gazdasági fejlődésében. Szeged: JATEPress, 184-203
- Pulselli, F.M., Bastianoni,S., Marchettini, N., Tiezzi, E. 2008. The Road to Sustainability, GDP and Future Generations. WIT Press: Southampton, 2008. 197 pp. ISBN 978-1-84564-140-5.
- Rappaport, R. A. 1971. The flow of energy in an agricultural society. Scientific American, 224(3), 117–133.
- Redclift, M. 1996. Wasted: Counting the Costs of Global Consumption. Earthscan Publications, London.
- Reddy, S., Lang, T., Dibb, S. 2009. Setting the table. Advice to Government on priority elements of sustainable diets. London: Sustainable Development Commission; 2009.
- Rees, W.E. 2006. Ecological Footprints and Bio-Capacity: Essential Elements in Sustainability Assessment. Chapter 9 in Jo Dewulf and Herman Van Langenhove, Eds., Renewables-Based Technology: Sustainability Assessment. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK, 43-158.
- Rehfeld, K. M., Rennings, K. et al. 2007. Integrated product policy and environmental product innovations: An empirical analysis. Ecological Economics, 61(1), 91-100.
- Reijnders, L., Soret, S. 2003. Quantification of the environmental impact of different dietary protein choices. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 78(3), 664-668.
- Reisch, L.A., Røpke, I. (eds). 2004. Consumption— Perspectives from ecological economics. Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar.
- Reisch, L.A., Scherhorn, G. 1999. Sustainable consumption. In: Bhagwan Dahiya (ed.), The current state of economic science. Vol.2. Rohtaki India: Spellbound Publications, 657-690.
- Risku-Norja, H. 1999. The total material requirement-concept applied to agriculture: a acse study from Finland. Agricultural and Food Science in Finland, 8(4-5), 393-410.
- Risku-Norja, H. 2011. From environmental concerns towards sustainable food provisioning. Material flow and food consumption scenario studies on sustainability of agri-food systems. Doctoral Dissertation. 2011. MTT Agrifood Research Finland. Tampereen Yliopistopaino Juvenes Print Oy
- Risku-Norja, H., Hietala, R., Virtanen, H., Ketomaki, H., Helenius, J. 2008. Localisation of primary food production in Finland: production potential and environmental impacts of food consumption patterns. Agricultutal and Food Science in Finland, 17(2), 127-145.
- Risku-Norja, H., Kurppa, S., Helentius, J. 2009. Diet choices and greenhouse gas emissions- assessement of impact of vegetarian and organic options at national scale. Industrial Ecology, 6(4), 340-354.

- Risku-Norja, H., Maenpaa, I. 2007. MFA model to assess economi and environmental consequences of food production and consumption. Ecological Economics, 60(4), 700-711.
- Rodler, I. (szerk.) 2004. Táplálkozási ajánlások, adatok a tápanyagtáblázatból. (Nutritional recommendations, data from the nutritional table) OKK-OÉTI. Budapest http://www.oeti.hu/download/tapanyagtablazatok.pdf Accessed 21.02.2012
- Rodler, I. (szerk.) 2008. Kalória- és tápanyagtáblázat, (Calorie and nutritional table) Bp.: Medicina, ISBN: 9789632261553
- Rodler, I. (szerk.). 2005. Új tápanyagtáblázat, (New nutritional table) Bp.: Medicina, 2005. 765 p. ISBN 963-226-009-0
- Rodler, I. 2004. Táplálkozási Ajánlás a magyar felnőtt lakosság számára. (Nutritional recommendations for adult population in Hungary) Orvosi Hetilap, 145, 2383-96.
- Rodler, I., Bíró, L., Greiner, E., Zajkás, G. et al. 2005. Táplálkozási Vizsgálat Magyarországon, 2003-2004. (Nutritional survey in Hungary, 2003-2004) Orvosi Hetilap 146(34), 1781-1789.
- Roos, E., Prättälä, R., Lahelma, E., Kleemola, P., Pietinen, P.1996. Modern and healthy? Socio-economic differences in the quality of diet. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 50, 753–760.
- Roos, G., Johansson, L., Kasmel, A., Klumbienä, J. and Prättaälä, R. 2001. Disparities in vegetable and fruit consumption: European cases from the north to the south. Public Health Nutrition, 4(1), 35-43.
- Røpke, I. 1999. The dynamics of willingness to consume. Ecological Economics, 28(3), 399–420.
- Røpke, I. 2001. The environmental impact of changing consumption patterns: a survey. International Journal of Environmental Pollution, 15, 127–145.
- Røpke, I. 2004. The early history of modern ecological economics. Ecological Economics, 50, 293-314.
- Røpke, I. 2005. Consumption in ecological economics. Entry prepared for the Internet Encyclopaedia of Ecological Economics. http://www.ecoeco.org/pdf/consumption\_in\_ee.pdf Accessed 26.06.2011
- Røpke, I. 2009. Theories of practice—New inspiration for ecological economic studies on consumption. Ecological Economics, 68, 2490-2497.
- Rothman, D. 1998. Environmental Kuznets curves— Real progress or passing the buck? A case for consumption-based approaches. Ecological Economics, 25(2), 177– 194.
- Rubik, F., Scholl, G. 2002. Integrated Product Policy (IPP) in Europe—a development model and some impressions. Journal of Cleaner Production, 10(5), 507-515.
- Sanne, C. 2002. Willing consumers- or locked-in? Policies for sustainable consumption. Ecological Economics, 42(1-2), 273-287.
- Sarkadi Nagy, E., Bakacs, M., Illés, É., Zentai, A., Lugasi, A., Martos, É. 2012. Országos Táplálkozás és Tápláltsági Állapot Vizsgálat–OTÁP2009. II. A magyar lakosság energia-és makrotápanyag-bevitele. (Hungarian Diet and Nutritional Status Survey - The OTAP2009 study. II. Energy and macronutrient intake of the Hungarian population) Orvosi Hetilap, 153(27), 1057-1067.
- Schaefer, F., Luksch, U., Steinbach, N., Cabeça, J., Hanauer, J. 2006. Ecological Footprint and Biocapacity: The world's ability to regenerate resources and absorb waste in a limited time period. Eurostat.

http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/cache/ITY\_OFFPUB/KS-AU- 06-001/EN/KS-AU-06-001-EN.PDF. Accessed 04.03.2012

- Schäfer, M., Jaeger-Erben, M., Bamberg, S. 2012. Life Events as Windows of Opportunity for Changing Towards Sustainable Consumption Patterns?. Journal of Consumer Policy, 1-20.
- Schaffnit-Chatterjee, C. 2009. The global food equation: food security in an environment of increase scarcity. Frankfurt: Deutsche Bank Research.
- Schlösler, H., de Boer, J., Boersema, J.J. 2012. Can we cut out the meat of the dish? Constructing consumer-oriented pathways towards meat substitution. Appetite, 58, 39-47.
- Schmid Neset, T-S., Lohm, U. 2005. Spatial Imprint of Food Consumption: A Historical Analysis for Sweden 1870–2000. Human Ecology, 33(4), 565-580.
- Schmidt-Bleek, F. 1994. Wie viel Umwelt braucht der Mensch? MIPS das Maß für ökologisches Wirtschaften. Birkhauser, Berlin, Basel.
- Schmidt-Bleek, F. 1993. MIPS—A Universal Ecological Measure? Fresenius Environmental Bulletin 2, 306–311.
- Schor, J. B. 1991. The Overworked Americal. The Unexpected Decline of Leisure, New York: Basic Books
- Schor, J. B. 1995. Can the North Stop Consumption Growth? Escaping the Cycle of Work and Spend. In: Bhaskar, V., Glyn, A., (Eds.), The North, the South and the Environment. Earthscan, London.
- Schor, J. B. 1998. The Overspent American: Upscaling, Downshifting and the New Consumer. Basic Books, New York.
- Schor, J. B. 2005a. Sustainable consumption and worktime reduction. Journal of Industrial Ecology, 9(1–2), 37–50.
- Schor, J. B. 2005b. Prices and quantities: unsustainable consumption and the global economy. Ecological Economics, 55, 309–320.
- Schumacher, E.F. 1973. Small Is Beautiful. Abacus, London.
- Schütz, H., Moll, S., Steger, S. 2003. Economy-wide material flow accounts, foreign trade analysis, and derived indicators for the EU, Resource use and material flow accounts, Draft final Report for the Commission of the European Communities, DG Eurostat.
- Seidl, A. 2000. Economic issues and the diet and the distribution of environmental impact. Ecological Economics, 34, 5-8.
- Seyfang, G. 2006. Ecological citizenship and sustainable consumption: examining local organic food networks. Journal of Rural Studies, 22, 383–395.
- Shove, E. 2003. Comfort, Cleanliness and Convenience: the Social Organisation of Normality, Berg, Oxford
- Shove, E., Walker, G. 2010. Governing transitions in the sustainability of everyday life. Research Policy, 39(4), 471-476.
- Simmons, C., Lewis, K., Barrett, J. 2000. Two feet—two approaches: a componentbased model of ecological footprinting. Ecological Economics, 32, 375–380.
- Sinclair, P., Papathanasopoulou, E., Mellor, W., Jackson, T. 2005. Towards an integrated regional materials flow accounting model. Journal of Industrial Ecology, 9(1–2), 69–84.
- Sirieix, L., Grolleau, G., Schaer, B. 2008. Do consumers care about food miles? An empirical analysis in France. International Journal of Consumer Studies, 32, 508–515.
- Slesser, M. 1997. Management of greed: Bio-physical appraisal of economic and environment potential. Edinburgh: Resource Use Institute.

- Smil, V. 1999. Nitrogen in crop production: an account of global fluxes. Global Biogeochem Cycles, 13, 647–662.
- Smil, V. 2000. Feeding the world: A challenge for the twenty-first century. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press
- Smil, V. 2002a. Nitrogen and food production: proteins for human diets. Ambio, 31, 126-131.
- Smil, V. 2002b. Worldwide transformation of diets, burdens of meat production and opportunities for novel food proteins. Enzyme and Microbial Technology, 30, 305-311.
- Smith, A., Watkiss, P., Tweddle, G. et al. 2005. The validity of food miles as an indicator of sustainable development. Final report produced for DEFRA. http://www.defra.gov.uk/evidence/economics/foodfarm/reports/documents/ Foodmile.pdf Accessed 04.05.2011
- Smith, A.M., Baghurst, K.I. 1992. Public health implications of dietary differences between social status and occupational category groups. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health, 46, 409–416.
- Smith, O. WWF. 2012. Food matters: Setting the table for a greener future Published on EurActiv http://www.euractiv.com/ttp://www.euractiv.com/cap/food-matterssetting-table-greener-future-analysis-511157 Accessed 02.03.2012
- Smith, P., Martino, D., Cai, Z., Gwary, D., Janzen, H., Kumar, P., et al. 2009. Agriculture. In B. Metz, O. R. Davidson, P. R. Bosch, R. Dave, & L. A. Meyer (Eds.), Climate change 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the fourth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Smith, P., Martino, D., Cai, Z., Gwary, D., Janzen, H., Kumar, P., et al. 2007. Policy and technological constraints to implementation of greenhouse gas mitigation options in agriculture. Agriculture, Ecosystem and Environment, 118, 6–28.
- Sorrell, S. 2009. The Evidence for Direct Rebound Effects. In Energy efficiency and sustainable consumption: the rebound effect. Basingstoke [England]; New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Spangenberg, J. H., Fuad-Luke, A. 2009. Design for Sustainability (DfS): the interface of sustainable production and consumption. Sustainable Development, 18(15), 1485-1493.
- Spangenberg, J., Lorek, S. 2002. Environmentally sustainable household consumption: from aggregate environmental pressures to priority fields of action. Ecological Economics, 43(2-3), 127-140.
- Spangenberg, J.H. 2004. The society, its products and the environmental role of consumption. In: Reisch, L. and I. Røpke, eds. 2004. Consumption— Perspectives from ecological economics. Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar. 32-59.
- Spangenberg, J.H. 2010. The growth discourse, growth policy and sustainable development: two thought experiments. Journal of Cleaner Production, 18(6), 561-566.
- Steger, S. 2004. 'Der "Flächenrucksack" des europäischen Außenhandels mit Agrargütern, in Welche Globalisierung ist zukunftsfähig? Wuppertal Institute.
- Stehfest, E., Bouwman, L., van Vuuren, D., et al. 2009. Climate benefits of changing diet. Climatic Change, 95, 83–102.
- Steinfeld, H., Gerber, P., Wassenaar, T., Castel, V., Rosales, M., de Haan, C. 2006. Livestock's Long Shadow: Environmental Issues and Options. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.

- Steinhart, J.S., Steinhart, C.E. 1974. Energy Use in the United States Food System. Science, 183, 307-316.
- Stern, P. C. 1997. Toward a working definition of consumption. In: P. C. Stern, T. Dietz, V. W. Ruttan, R.H. Socolow and J. L. Sweeney (eds.). Environmentally Significant Consumption: Research Directions, 12- 25. Washington, D.C: National Academy Press.
- Stern, R., Dietz, T., Rutan, V., Socolow, R., Sweeney, J. (Eds.). 1997. Environmentally Significant Consumption. National Academy Press, Washington, DC.
- Stoeglehner, G., Narodoslawsky, M. 2008. Implementing ecological footprinting in decision-making processes. Land Use Policy, 25, 421–431.
- Subak, S. 1999. Global environmental costs of beef production. Ecological Economics, 30, 79-91.
- Szabó, M. (szerk.) 1998. A hazai élelmiszer-fogyasztás szerkezeti változásai és tendenciái. (Trends and structural changes in Hungarian food consumption) Agrárgazdasági Tanulmányok, 12, 1-74.
- Szabó, S.A., Tolnay, P., Zsinka, Á. 2000. Egyes hazai felnőtt lakossági csoportok táplálkozási szokásainak vizsgálata. (Food consumption patterns of some adult population groups in Hungary) Táplálkozás Allergia Diéta, 5(6), 19-24.
- Székelyi, M.; Barna, I. 2003. Túlélőkészlet az SPSS-hez. (Survival kit to SPSS) Typotex Kiadó, Budapest.
- Szigeti, C. 2010. Győr ökológiai lábnyoma. (Ecological footprint of Győr) Fenntarthatósági Füzetek Különszám.1-28. ISBN 978-963-88804-3-7
- Szigeti, C., Borzán, A. 2012. Az ökológiai lábnyom számolása. (Calculations of the ecological footprint) Kézirat. http://cgpartners.hu/aas\_szoveg/file/75\_okologiai\_labnyom\_mutato\_szamolasa.p df Accessed 12.03.2012
- Szlávik, J. 1998. A fenntartható fejlődés új mutatói.(New indicators of sustainable development) Társadalmi Szemle, 3, 84-94.
- Szlávik, J., Csete, M. 2005. Sustainable countryside and competitiveness. Gazdálkodás Scientific Journal on Agricultural Economics, English Special Edition. Gazdálkodás, 49(12), 19-27
- Szlávik, J., Csete, M. 2012. Climate and Energy Policy in Hungary. Energies, 5(2), 494-517.
- Takács-Sánta, A. 2004. The major transitions in the history of human transformation of the biosphere. Human Ecology Review, 11, 51-66.
- Takács-Sánta, A., Pataki, Gy. 2007. Bolygónk boldogtalan elfogyasztása. (The unhappy consumption of our planet) In: Takács-Sánta András: Paradigmaváltás?! Szöveggyűjtemény, L'Harmattan, 45-55.
- Tanner, C., Kast, S. W. 2003. Promoting Sustainable Consumption: Determinants of Green Purchases by Swiss Consumers. Psychology and Marketing, 20(10), 883-902
- Tansey, G., Worsley, T. 1995. The food system: A guide. London, UK: Earthscan.
- Temesi, Á., Biacs, P., Szente, V. 2008. Innovációs lehetőségek a konzerviparban kulcsszerepben az egészség. (Innovation possibilities in canning industry- the key role of health) Élelmiszer, Táplálkozás és Marketing, 2-3, 67-72.
- The 2010 Dietary Guidelines Advisory Committee. Report of the Dietary Guidelines Advisory Committee on the Dietary Guidelines for Americans, 2010. Washington, DC: United States Department of Agriculture; 2010.
- Thøgersen, J. 2005. How may consumer policy empower consumers for sustainable lifestyles? Journal of Consumer Policy, 28(2), 143-177.

- Thøgersen, J. 2010. Country differences in sustainable consumption: The case of organic food. Journal of Macromarketing, 30(2), 171-185.
- Thøgersen, J., Ölander, F. 2003. Spillover of environment-friendly consumer behaviour. Journal of Environmental Psychology, 23(3), 225-236.
- Thøgersen, J., Zhou, Y. 2012. Chinese consumers' adoption of a 'green'innovation–The case of organic food. Journal of Marketing Management, 28(3-4), 313-333.
- Thoreau, H. 1854. Walden (and Resistance to Civil Goverment) (reprinted 1992), W.W. Norton, New York
- Tilman, D. 1999. Global environmental impacts of agricultural expansion: The need for sustainable and efficient practices. PNAS, 96, 5995–6000.
- Tilman, D., Cassman, K.G., Matson, P.A., Naylor, R., Polasky, S. 2002. Agricultural sustainability and intensive production practices. Nature, 418, 671-677.
- Tilman, D., Fargione, J., Wolff, B. et al. 2001. Forecasting agriculturally driven global environmental change. Science, 292(5515), 281–284.
- Tinbergen, J., Hueting, R. 1991. GNP and market prices: wrong signals for sustainable economic success that mask environmental destruction. In: R. Goodland, H.E. Daly and S. El Serafy (editors), Environmentally Sustainable Economic Development: Building on Brundtland. Environment Working Paper No. 46, World Bank, Washington, DC, 36-42.
- Tischner, U., Kjaernes, U. 2007. Sustainable consumption and production in the agriculture and food domain, in Lahlou, S., Emmert, S. eds., Proceedings: SCP cases in the field of food, mobility and housing. Paris, France: Proceedings of the Sustainable Consumption Research Exchange (SCORE!) Network, 201- 237. http://www.score-network.org/files//9594\_Proceedings\_worshop.07.pdf Accessed 25.02.2011
- Tolnay, P., Szabó, S.A., Zsinka, Á. 2001. Felnőtt lakossági csoportok táplálkozási szokásainak vizsgálata Magyarországon. (Analysing the food consumption patterns of adult groups in Hungary) I-II-III-IV-V-VI. (Élelmezési Ipar cikksorozata, 55.
- Tóth, G. 2010. Társadalmi felelősségvállalás. Bionómia- az élet törvényeit követő gazdaságtan esélyei. (Social responsibility. Bionomy) Előadás az Országos Környezetvédelmi Konferencián. 2010. október 19-20. Balatonfüred
- Trainer, T. 1996. Towards a sustainable economy—The need for fundamental change. Oxford, UK: Jon Carpenter Publishing.
- Trichopoulou, A., Naska, A. and Costacou, T. 2002. Disparities in food habits across Europe. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 61, 553–558.
- Tukker, A., Bausch-Goldbohm, S., Verhejden, M. et al. 2009. Environmental impacts of diet changes in the EU. EC, Joint Research Centre http://ftp.jrc.es/EURdoc/JRC50544\_Annex1.pdf Accessed 11.08.2011
- Tukker, A., Goldbohm, A., de Koning, A. et al. 2011. Environmental impacts of changes to healthier diets in Europe. Ecological Economics, 70, 1776–1788.
- Tukker, A., Huppes, G., Guniee, J., Heijungs, R. et al. 2006. Environmental Impact of Products (EIPRO). EUR22284EN. EC Joint Research Centre—IPTS, Seville http://ipts.jrc.ec.europa.eu/publications/pub.cfm?id=1429. Accessed 11.08.2011
- Tukker, A., Jansen, B. 2006. Environmental impacts of products: A detailed review of studies. Journal of Industrial Ecology, 10(3), 159-182.
- Tukker, A., Tischner, U. 2006. New business for old Europe. Journal of Cleaner Prodcution, 2(2), 132-148.

- Turner, R. K. 1988. Sustainability, Resource Conservation and Pollution Control: An Overview. In: Turner, R. K. (Eds.): Sustainable Environmental Management: Principles and Practise. Belhaven Press, London, 1–25.
- UNDP. 1998. Human Development Report 1998. Oxford University Press, Oxford and New York.
- UNEP. 1999. Changing consumption patterns, Industry and Environment 22(4), Special issue, October-December 1999
- UNEP. 2001. Consumption Opportunities Strategies for change. A report for decisionmakers, Geneva: UNEP.
- UNEP. 2003. Evaluation of Environmental Impacts in Life Cycle Assessment. Meeting report Brussels, 29-30 November 1998, and Brighton, 25-26 May 2000. United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), Division of Technology, Industry and Economics (DTIE), Production and Consumption Branch.
- UNEP. 2005a. Marrakech Task Forces. Paris. www.uneptie.org/pc/sustain/10year/taskforce.htm Accessed 20.01.2012
- UNEP. 2005b. Homepage of the UNEP forum on sustainable agri-food production and consumption, http://www.agrifood-forum.net/issues/index.asp. Accessed 20.01.2012
- United Nations. 1992. Agenda 21; Results of the World Conference on Environment and Development. New York., United Nations. UN Doc.A/CONF.151/4.
- Uusitalo, L. (ed.). 1983. Consumer Bahviour and Environmental Quality, Aldershot: Gower
- Valkó, L. 2003. Fenntartható/környezetbarát fogyasztás és a magyar lakosság környezeti tudata. (Sustainable/environmental-friendly consumption and the environmental-consciousness of Hungarian people) In: Kerekes, S. (szerk.) A Budapesti Közgazdaságtudományi és Államigazgatási Egyetem Környezettudományi Intézetének tanulmányai. 18.szám ISBN 963 503 295 1, ISSN 1587-6586, Aula, Budapest http://unipub.lib.uni-corvinus.hu/139/1/18\_szam.pdf
- Valkó, L., Csete, M. 2008. Sustainable Consumption. In: Periodica Oeconomica. Regional Development and Competitiveness (Eds: Carmona, M., Szlávik, J., Zám, É.). Eger, EKC Líceum Publishing Company, 2008. ISBN 978-963-9417-92-2, 93-103.
- Van den Bergh, J.C.J.M., Verbruggen, H. 1999. Spatial sustainability, trade and indicators: and evaluation of the 'ecological footprint'. Ecological Economics, 29, 62-72.
- van Kooten, G.C., Bulte, E.H. 2000. The ecological footprint: useful science or politics? Ecological Economics, 32, 385-389.
- van Vuuren, D.P., Bouwman, L.F. 2005. Exploring past and future changes in the ecological footprint for world regions. Ecological Economics, 52, 43-62.
- Veblen, T. 1899. The theory of the leisure class: An economic study of institutions. New York: MacMillan.
- Veenhoven, R. 2004. States of Nations, World Database of Happiness http://www1.eur.nl/fsw/happiness/ Accessed 20.01.2012
- Venetoulis, J., Talberth, J. 2008. Refining the ecological footprint. Environment, Development and Sustainability, 10, 441-469.
- Vermeir, I., Verbeke, W. 2004. Sustainable food consumption: Exploring the consumers attitudebehaviour gap. Thesis. Gent University, Faculty of Economics and Applied Economics, p. 14.

- Victor, P.A. 1994. Natural capital, substitution and indicators of sustainable development. Presentation at the 3rd Meet. ISEE, Costa Rica.
- Vitousek, P. M., Ehrlich, P. R., Ehrlich, A. H., Mateson, P. A. 1986. Human appropriation of the products of photosynthesis. BioScience, 34, 368-373.
- Vitousek, P. M., Mooney, H. A., Lubchenco, J., Melillo, J. M. 1997a. Human Domination of Earth's Ecosystems. Science, 277, 494-499.
- Vitousek, P.M., Aber, J.D., Howarth, R.W., Likens, G.E. et al. 1997b. Human alteration of the global nitrogen cycle: sources and consequences. Ecological Applications, 7 (3), 737–750.
- Wackernagel, M., Lewan, L., Borgström Hansson, C. 1999a. Evaluating the Use of Natural Capital with the Ecological Footprint: Applications in Sweden and Subregions. Ambio, 28(7), 604-612.
- Wackernagel, M., Monfreda, C., Erb, K.-H., Haberl, H., Schulz, N. B. 2004a. Ecological footprint time series of Austria, the Philippines, and South Korea for 1961-1999: comparing the conventional approach to an 'actual land area' approach. Land use policy, 21, 261-269.
- Wackernagel, M., Monfreda, C., Schulz, N. B., Erb, K.-H., Haberl, H., Krausmann, F. 2004b. Calculating national and global ecological footprint time series: resolving conceptual challenges. Land use policy, 21, 271-278.
- Wackernagel, M., Onisto, L., Bello, P. et al. 1999b. National natural capital accounting with the ecological footprint concept. Ecological Economics, 29, 375-390.
- Wackernagel, M., Rees, W.E., 1996. Our Ecological Footprint- Reducing Human Impact on the Earth. New Society Publishers, Gabriola Island, B.C
- Wackernagel, M., Schulz, N.B., Deumling, D. et al. 2002. Tracking the ecological overshoot of the human economy, PNAS, 99(14), 9266-9271.
- Wackernagel, M., Silverstein, J. 2000. Big things first: focusing on the scale imperative with the ecological footprint. Ecological Economics, 32(3), 391–394.
- Wackernagel, M., Yount, J.D. 2000. Footprints for sustainability: the next steps. Environment, Development and Sustainability, 2, 21–42.
- Wahlen, S., Heiskanen, E., Aalto, K. 2012. Endorsing sustainable food consumption: Prospects from public catering. Journal of Consumer Policy, 1-15.
- Walker, P., Rhubart-Berg, P., McKenzie1, S., Kelling, K., S Lawrence, R. 2005. Public health implications of meat production and consumption. Public Health Nutrition, 8(4), 348–356.
- Wallén, A., Brandt, N., Wennersten, R. 2004. Does the Swedish consumer's choice of food influence greenhouse gas emissions? Environmental Science and Policy, 7, 525-535.
- WCED (World Commission on Environment and Development). 1987. Our Common Future (The Brundtland Report). Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Weber, C.L., Matthews, H. S. 2008. Food-Miles and the Relative Climate Impacts of Food Choices in the United States. Environmental Science and Technology. 42(10), 3508-3513.
- Weisz, H., Krausmann, F., Amann, C., Eisenmenger, N., Hubacek, K. 2005. Development of material use int he Eu-15. 1970-2001. Material compsition, cross-coutry comparison, and material flow indicators. Eurostat. Luxembourg.
- Wernick, I. K., Irwin, F. 2005. Material Flow Accounts: A Tool For Making Environmental Policy. Washington D.C. World Resources Institute 49.p. http://www.wri.org/publication/material-flow-accounts Accessed 20.10.2011
- Westhoek, H., Rood, T., van den Berg, M., Janse, J., Nijdam, D., Reudink, M., Stehfest, E. The protein puzzle the consumption and production of meat, dairy and fish in
the European Union. PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency. The Hague, 2011

- White, T. 2000. Diet and the distribution of environmental impact. Ecological Economics, 34, (234), 145-153.
- WHO Europe. 2008. Obesity- Interim first report on social determinants of health and the health divide in the WHO European Region www.euro.who.int/obesity Accessed 04.03.2012
- WHO. 2006. Highlights on Health in Hungary. http://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0016/103219/E88736.pdf Accessed 04.03.2012
- WHO. 2011. World Health Statistics. 2011. http://www.who.int/whosis/whostat/EN\_WHS2011\_Full.pdf Accessed 04.03.2012
- Wiedmann, T., Lenzen, M. 2007. On the Conversion between local and global hectares in Ecological Footprint analysis. Ecological Economics, 60, 673-677.
- Wiedmann, T., Minx, J., Barrett, J., Wackernagel, M. 2006. Allocating ecological footprints to final consumption categories with input-output analysis. Ecological Economics, 56(1), 28-48.
- Wilkins, J.L., Peters, C.J., Hamm, M., Reinhardt, E. 2008. Increasing Acres to Decrease Inches: The Land Requirements of Low-Carbohydrate Diets. Journal of Hunger & Environmental Nutrition 2008; 3(1):3-16.
- Wilkinson, B.H., Mcelroy, B.J. 2007. The impact of humans on continental erosion and sedimentation. GSA Bulletin, 119 (12), 140–156.
- Wood, R., Lenzen, M., Dey, C., Lundie, S. 2006. A comparative study of some environmental impacts of conventional and organic farming in Australia. Agricultural Systems, 89, 324–348.
- World Bank. 2009. Global Economic Prospects 2009: Commodities at the Crossroads http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/EXTDEC/EXTDECPROSPE CTS/GEPEXT/EXTGEP2009/0,,contentMDK:22002695~pagePK:64167689~pi PK:64167673~theSitePK:5530498,00.html Accessed 20.10.2011
- World Resources Institute. 2007. State of the World 2007: Our Urban Future. World Resources Institute
- WWF. 2006. WWF International, Global Footprint Network, ZSL. Living Planet Report 2006. http://assets.panda.org/downloads/living\_planet\_report.pdf Accessed 15.05.2010
- York, R., Gossard, M. 2004. Cross-National Meat and Fish Consumption: Exploring the Effects of Modernization and Ecological Context. Ecological Economics, 48, 293–302.
- Zhu, X., van Wesenbeeck, L., Van Ierland, E. 2006. Impacts of novel protein foods on sustainable food production and consumption: lifestyle change and environmental policy. Environmental and Resource Economics, 35, 59–87.
- Zsóka, Á. 2007: A fenntartható fogyasztás egyik alapfeltétele: a környezettudatos egyéni magatartás.(A condition of sustainable consumption: environmentalconscious behaviour) In: Fenntartható fogyasztás Magyarországon 2007.(szerk.: Gulyás-Vadovics). Konferenciakötet.

## The author's relevant publications

## Journal articles in English

Mózner Vetőné, Z., Csutora, M. (2013): Designing Lifestyle-specific Food Policies Based on Nutritional Requirements and Ecological Footprints. Sustainability: Science, Practice and Policy-Special Issue on Sustainable Food Consumption (Eds.: Reisch-Scholl-Sedlacko) accepted, forthcoming in Spring 2013

Mózner, Z., Tabi, A., Csutora, M. (2012): In the quest for the sustainable agricultural yield, - Comparing the environmental impacts of intensive and extensive agricultural practices, Ecological Indicators (16) (The State of the Art in Ecological Footprint: Theory and Applications-Speical Issue) 58-66.

Mózner Vetőné, Z. (2011): Applying consumer responsibility principle in evaluating environmental load of carbon emissions, Society and Economy 33 (1), 131-144.

## **Conference proceedings in English**

Vetőné Mózner, Z., Csutora, M. (2011): Towards sustainable lifestyles: Exploring the ecological footprint of food consumption In: Sustainable Consumption-Towards Action and Impacts (2011): Abstract Volume. International Scientific Conference (Eds.: Balmer-Defila-Di Giulio-Kaufmann-Hayoz-Kobel), November 6-8 2011, Hamburg, pp.106.

Mózner, Z., Csutora, M. (2011): Eating adequately yet sustainably? Examining the ecological footprint of food consumption, poster presented at the Fifth International Consumer Sciences Research Conference, 18-20, July, 2011, Bonn

Mózner, Z., Tabi, A. (2010): Comparing the environmental impacts of intensive and extensive agricultural practices. In: Footprint Forum 2010, Academic Conference Short Communications, (Editor: Simone Bastianoni) pp.109-111.

Csutora, M., Mózner, Z., Tabi, A. (2009): Sustainable Consumption: From escape strategies towards real alternatives, Sustainable Consumption 2009 Conference Proceedings (Eds.: Mária Csutora-Sándor Kerekes-Mózes Székely) pp.63-74.

## **Book chapters in Hungarian**

Vetőné Mózner, Z. (2012): Fenntartható életmódok felé: lehet-e az élelmiszerfogyasztás fenntartható? (Towards sustainable lifestyles: can food consumption be sustainable?) In: Trendek és lehetőségek a fenntartható fogyasztásban (szerk.: Kerekes Sándor-Csutora Mária), 2012, Aula kiadó, Budapest, 110-138. Vetőné Mózner, Z. (2012): Fogyasztási szokások és trendek vizsgálata Európában és az USA-ban (Examining consumption patterns and trends in Europe and in the USA) In: Trendek és lehetőségek a fenntartható fogyasztásban (szerk.: Kerekes Sándor-Csutora Mária), 2012, Aula kiadó, Budapest, 23-39.

Vetőné Mózner, Z. (2012): Az élelmiszer-fogyasztás környezeti hatásai és szerkezeti változásai. (Environmental impacts and structural changes of food consumption) In: Fenntartható fejlődés, Élhető régió, Élhető település táj, II. kötet (szerk.: Marjainé Szerényi Zsuzsanna-Podruzsik Szilárd), Budapesti Corvinus Egyetem, Budapest, 29-43.

Vetőné Mózner, Z. (2011): Az élelmiszer-fogyasztás ökológiai lábnyomának vizsgálata a magyar lakosság körében (Analysing the ecological footprint of food consumption in Hungary) In: Az ökológiai lábnyom ökonómiája (szerk.: Csutora Mária), Budapest, 2011, Aula kiadó, 39-53.

Csutora, M., Tabi, A., Vetőné Mózner, Z. (2011): A magyar háztartások ökológiai lábnyomának vizsgálata (Examining the ecological footprint of Hungarian households) In: Fenntartható fogyasztás? (szerk.: Csutora Mária és Hofmeister Tóth Ágnes), Budapesti Corvinus Egyetem, Budapest, 77-89.